Oton Henrique Marcori

# Theoretical methods in spatially anisotropic cosmologies

Universidade Estadual de Londrina, Londrina, PR

May 24, 2019

Oton Henrique Marcori

## Theoretical methods in spatially anisotropic cosmologies

PhD thesis presented as partial requirement for granting the title of Doctor in Physics by the Physics Department of Universidade Estadual de Londrina

Supervisor: Thiago Pereira dos Santos

Universidade Estadual de Londrina, Londrina, PR May 24, 2019

Ficha de identificação da obra elaborada pelo autor, através do Programa de Geração Automática do Sistema de Bibliotecas da UEL

Marcori, Oton Henrique.

Theoretical methods in spatially anisotropic cosmologies / Oton Henrique Marcori. -Londrina, 2019. 110 f. : il.

Orientador: Thiago dos Santos Pereira. Tese (Doutorado em Física) - Universidade Estadual de Londrina, Centro de Ciências Exatas, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Física, 2019. Inclui bibliografia.

1. Cosmologia - Tese. 2. Modelos de Bianchi - Tese. 3. Cosmologia em tempo real -Tese. 4. Aberração e paralaxe estelar - Tese. I. Pereira, Thiago dos Santos. II. Universidade Estadual de Londrina. Centro de Ciências Exatas. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Física. III. Título.

#### Oton Henrique Marcori

Theoretical methods in spatially anisotropic cosmologies

PhD thesis presented as partial requirement for granting the title of Doctor in Physics by the Physics Department of Universidade Estadual de Londrina

Thesis approved in Universidade Estadual de Londrina, Londrina, PR, April 25, 2019.

Thiago Pereira dos Santos Universidade Estadual de Londrina

Luís Raul Weber Abramo Universidade Estadual de São Paulo

Miguel Quartin Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro

Pedro Rogerio Sergi Gomes Universidade Estadual de Londrina

Mario Cesar Baldiotti Universidade Estadual de Londrina

Universidade Estadual de Londrina, Londrina, PR April 25, 2019

#### Acknowledgements

I want to give my dearest thanks to:

my supervisor Thiago, who has guided me through the PhD with immense patience and understanding, to whom I will be forever in debt for all the knowledge he has given me, both academic and personal;

my two other supervisors from abroad, Cyril, also gifted with copious amounts of patience, and Jean-Philippe, one of the best and most humble scientists I know;

my wife Camila, who has always been supportive of my choice to purse an academic career, even when this meant moving overseas alongside me, and without whom I would not have made it to where I am;

my family, parents Oton and Rosa, and brother Alexandre, who have also been supportive both emotionally and financially whenever needed;

my friends, Felipe, Camila, Victor, Bianca, Celso, Renan, Guilherme, Clarissa, Fernanda, Thais and many others who provided me with many moments of relaxation, a shoulder to lean on when needed, and an ear to my occasional ramblings about physics;

the many teachers who have helped shape my knowledge through my academic career;

the many department colleagues with whom I had several discussions about physics, academia, music and ENDS;

the many authors of seminal books and articles I had the pleasure of learning from (though sometimes they gave me nauseating headaches);

my psychologist, Samanta, and psychiatrist, Luís Gustavo, for the emotional (and sometimes chemical) support needed to maintain a healthy mindset to keep going;

the financial support of CAPES throughout both the PhD in Universidade Estadual de Londrina and the Doctoral Sandwich Program in Institut d'Astrophysique de Paris.

All the clouds turn to words All the words float in sequence No one knows what they mean Everyone just ignores them (Brian Eno)

#### Abstract

A cornerstone of the standard cosmological model is the Copernican Principle, i.e., the assumption that the universe is, on average, homogeneous and isotropic. CMB measurements show that deviations from isotropy are minuscule, and a scenario where homogeneity is broken is highly unlikely. Nonetheless, the CMB alone can only assert that the early universe was highly isotropic, hence not excluding the possibility of late time anisotropies. Also, an isotropic temperature distribution could arise from non-isotropic spacetimes. This motivates investigations into the hypothesis of isotropy. Relaxing this assumption leads to a class of spacetimes: the Bianchi models. They are spatially homogeneous but anisotropic, and one of the simplest generalizations of FLRW spacetimes, thus possessing strong cosmological appeal. This thesis presents two novel theoretical methods to be applied in the context of spatially anisotropic cosmological models. The first is related to the study of correlation functions and how they are connected to spacetime symmetries. We show that requiring correlators to be invariant under symmetry transformations fix their functional dependence. A general solution is found for Bianchi spaces, which allows us to analyze the impact of primordial anisotropies on the CMB covariance matrix in the large angle limit. We also show how our results apply to both Gaussian and non-Gaussian correlators. The second method deals with the drift of cosmological observables in the context of real time cosmology. Highly precise astrometric measurements, allowed by recent technological advancements, can in principle detect time variations of the redshift and direction of observation of distant stars in a relatively short time span. This can be used to assess cosmological observables like the Earth's peculiar velocity with respect to the CMB rest frame and, especially, late time anisotropies of Bianchi I models. The original method developed to evaluate the drifts is applied to various cosmological scenarios and can, in principle, be extended to other spacetimes.

**Keywords**: Cosmology; Killing vectors; Bianchi models; two-point correlation functions; CMB anisotropies; real time cosmology; redshift drift; peculiar velocity; cosmological aberration drift.

#### Resumo

O princípio Copernicano (a hipótese de que o universo é, em média, homogêneo e isotrópico) é a base do modelo padrão da cosmologia. Medidas da RCF mostram que desvios da isotropia são minúsculos, e um cenário onde homogeneidade é quebrada é altamente improvável. Entretanto, a RCF permite somente afirmar que o universo primordial era muito isotrópico, de forma a não excluir a possibilidade de anisotropias tardias. Ademais, uma distribuição de temperatura isotrópica pode surgir de espaços-tempo não isotrópicos. Isso motiva investigações sobre a hipótese de isotropia. Relaxar esse requerimento leva a uma classe de espaços-tempo: os modelos de Bianchi. Eles são espacialmente homogêneos mas anisotrópicos, e uma das generalizações mais simples de espaços-tempo FLRW, possuindo portanto forte apelo cosmológico. Essa tese apresenta dois novos métodos teóricos para serem aplicados no contexto de modelos cosmológicos espacialmente anisotrópicos. O primeiro é relacionado ao estudo de funções de correlação e como elas estão conectadas com as simetrias do espaço-tempo. Nós mostramos que exigir que as correlações sejam invariantes por transformações de simetrias fixa sua dependência funcional. Uma solução geral foi encontrada para espaços de Bianchi, o que permitiu analisar o impacto de anisotropias primordiais na matriz de covariância da RCF no limite de grandes ângulos. Também mostramos como os resultados se aplicam para tanto correlações Gaussianas como não-Gaussianas. O segundo método lida com o drift dos observáveis cosmológicos no contexto de cosmologia em tempo real. Medidas astrométricas altamente precisas, permitidas por avanços tecnológicos recentes, podem em princípio detectar variações temporais no *redshift* e direção de observação de estrelas distantes em um intervalo de tempo relativamente curto. Isso pode ser usado para inferir outros observáveis cosmológicos, como a velocidade peculiar da Terra com relação ao referencial da RCF, e, especialmente, anisotropias tardias de modelos tipo Bianchi I. Esse método originial desenvolvido para avaliar os *drfits* é aplicado a diversos cenários cosmológicos e pode, em princípio, ser estendido para outros espaços-tempo.

**Palavras-chave**: Cosmologia; vetores de Killing; modelos de Bianchi; funções de correlação de dois pontos; anisotropias da RCF; cosmologia em tempo real; drift do redshift; velocidade peculiar; drift da aberração cósmica.

## Contents

	Contents
	Overview
	List of publications
I.	TWO POINT CORRELATION FUNCTIONS IN COS- MOLOGY 7
1	INTRODUCTION
2 2.1 2.2 2.3	AN INTRODUCTION TO BIANCHI COSMOLOGY11Isometries, the Lie derivative and Killing vectors11Lie groups and Lie algebra for Bianchi spaces14Bianchi spacetimes and their classification18
3	TWO POINT CORRELATION FUNCTIONS IN BIANCHI SPACES 25
2.2	Examples: spatially flat ELPW and Minkowski spacetimes
3.2	Conoral solution 31
3.4	Applications 33
3.4.1	Universe with a special point
3.4.2	$Bianchi I and VII_0 \dots \dots$
3.4.3	CMB covariance matrix
3.5	Non-Gaussian correlations
3.6	Comments on extending the method to other Bianchi spaces 46
4	CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES
п	REDSHIFT AND DIRECTION DRIFTS IN COSMOL- OGY 53
5	INTRODUCTION
6	AN INTRODUCTION TO ASTROMETRY
6.1	An historical overview
6.2	The rising field of real time cosmology

6.3	Some important tools - the geodesic equation	61
7	EVALUATING THE REDSHIFT AND DIRECTION DRIFTS	65
7.1	General approach	65
7.1.1	Heuristic argument	65
7.1.2	Minkowski spacetime	66
7.1.3	Summary	70
7.2	Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker spacetime	71
7.2.1	Static observers and tetrad decomposition	71
7.2.2	General observers	73
7.2.3	Multipolar decomposition	75
7.2.4	Discussion on velocities	76
7.3	Perturbed FLRW spacetimes	81
7.3.1	Null geodesics	82
7.3.2	Redshift drift	84
7.3.3	Direction drift	85
7.3.4	Summary	86
7.4	Spatially homogeneous and anisotropic spacetimes: Bianchi I case	87
7.4.1	Null geodesics	88
7.4.2	Direction and redshift drifts to first order in shear	88
7.4.3	Decomposition in multipoles	90
7.4.4	Discussion	91
8	CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES	93
	APPENDIX A – POWER SPECTRUM FROM 2PCF	95
	APPENDIX B – RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TIME LAPSES AND REDSHIFT	97
	APPENDIX C – PERTURBED FLRW FORMULAE	99
	APPENDIX D – DIRECTION DRIFT CALCULATIONS IN PER- TURBED FLRW	101
	BIBLIOGRAPHY	103

#### Overview

The standard model of cosmology is the so called  $\Lambda$ CDM model (the acronym stands for *Lambda-Cold-Dark-Matter*) and it is built from a series of hypothesis about the behavior of the universe, together with advancements in observational cosmology which allowed for precise measurements of cosmological parameters. One fundamental hypothesis is that an initial phase of rapid expansion in the first  $10^{-32}$  seconds of the universe's existence took place, and that it is responsible for producing the seeds which would generate, via gravitational instability mechanisms, astrophysical structures whose spatial scales are of order of 100Mpc [1, 2]. These seeds are produced by quantum fluctuations and inherit their statistical properties, which then are propagated to the statistical distribution of cosmological observables [3]. This implies that the details of the universe's early physics are preserved in the statistics of measurable cosmological quantities, being the gaussianity and isotropy of the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) radiation two of the most important examples.

Another fundamental hypothesis of the  $\Lambda$ CDM model is that our universe is, on average, spatially homogeneous and isotropic. The isotropy hypothesis has strong observational backing since the temperature anisotropies of the CMB are smaller than one part in 10<sup>5</sup> [4, 5]. On the other hand, the homogeneous hypothesis is harder to be put to test, given that all known observations are made in the small neighborhood of the Earth's orbit. In principle, one cannot discard the possibility that our universe be isotropic only around a privileged observation point, although many studies show this is a highly unlikely situation [6, 7].

Recent works using new data from the CMB radiation suggest that the geometry of the universe obeys the isotropy hypothesis with only small deviations [8, 9]. However, there are some subtleties in asserting that is indeed the case. First, the CMB is an image of the early universe, when it was around 300 thousand years old. Thus, results based on CMB measurements can only tell that our early universe was highly isotropic, which does not exclude mechanisms that could induce anisotropy later in the universe's evolution, affecting, e.g., the spatial distribution of galaxies [10, 11, 12]. And second, although assuming an isotropic cosmological model implies that the temperature fluctuations are equally isotropic, the opposite is not true. There are theoretical counterexamples showing that spatially anisotropic universes can exhibit a perfectly isotropic CMB spectrum [13, 14, 15]. These factors justify deeper theoretical studies about the isotropy hypothesis of the universe and its impacts on the statistics of cosmological data.

In the  $\Lambda$ CDM model of cosmology, the hypothesis of homogeneity and isotropy

fixes, up to the curvature of the spatial sections, the geometry of the universe: it is given by the famous Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) metric [16]. A second family of metrics, with strong cosmological appeal, can be obtained by relaxing the isotropy hypothesis. In this case, one assumes the universe is only spatially homogeneous (i.e., the metric is invariant under spatial translations), but allows the possibility for spatial anisotropies to arise. By doing so, one arrives at a family of metrics, which gives origin to the Bianchi models in general relativity [17, 18]. They were first classified, on purely algebraic grounds, by Luigi Bianchi, and named after him. The Bianchi classification is based on the algebra of the Killing vectors of these spaces, and there are nine different classes, with two being classified by a continuus parameter [18]. These solutions were introduced into the context of cosmology by G. Ellis and M. MacCallum through the study of solutions of Einstein equations in universes with a perfect fluid matter content [19]. John D. Barrow and collaborators studied the temperature distribution of the CMB in a subclass of Bianchi spaces, namely, those which can be taken to a FLRW metric through an appropriate limit [20, 21]. Recent works use Bianchi spaces as a proxy to probe the universe's isotropy through analyzes of CMB temperature and polarization maps [8, 22]. Also, the theory of perturbations in Bianchi spaces was studied by A. Pontzen and A. Challinor [23] in the context of "near-FLRW" spaces, and in a perturbative and gauge invariant manner by T. S. Pereira and collaborators [14, 24, 25].

Given the importance and relevancy of this theme, this thesis presents two different theoretical methods that show promising applications in Bianchi spacetimes. The first corresponds to a novel and systematic way of finding the functional dependence of two point correlation functions. It can be applied, in principle, to any spacetime that presents continuous symmetries, i.e., isometries. It is, however, especially useful for Bianchi spacetimes, since we found a particular solution for this case. Two point correlation functions are fundamental tools for cosmology and many other areas of physics, and the approach presented here is completely general. We were also able to successfully apply this method to an inhomogeneous model and extend it to N-point functions, presenting original results for both cases. The first part of this thesis comprises the theoretical basis, description, application and discussions of this novel method for anisotropic spacetime cosmology.

The other topic this thesis tackles is related to a rising field within cosmology that has been recently named as real time cosmology [26]. The development in technological capabilities of precision measurements of distant stars and galaxies have enabled us to measure the time variation of cosmological observables in real time. This provides a new way to probe different cosmological models. In this light, we present here a general derivation of the time drift of two important cosmological observables: the gravitational redshift and direction of observation of distant objects. One can then apply this derivation to any spacetime of interest in order to probe different cosmological quantities. We apply it to different contexts, including the possibilities of non-inertial observers, and specially, to the context of Bianchi spacetimes. This provides us with a mean to constrain the anisotropy of the current universe. Thus, the second part of this thesis is dedicated to demonstrate and apply this general derivation of the drifts of cosmological observables.

## List of publications

The work presented in this thesis has resulted in the publications of the following original research articles:

• Two-point correlation functions in inhomogeneous and anisotropic cosmologies, by the authors Marcori, Oton H.; Pereira, Thiago S., on 02/2017 in Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, Issue 02.

• Direction and redshift drifts for general observers and their applications in cosmology, by the authors Marcori, Oton H.; Pitrou, Cyril; Uzan, Jean-Philippe; Pereira, Thiago S., on 07/2018 in Physical Review D, Volume 98, Issue 2.

## Part I

Two point correlation functions in cosmology

#### 1 Introduction

A central assumption of the standard cosmological model is that the universe we observe is a fair sample of an (hypothetical) ensemble of universes. This hypothesis has far reaching consequences, but it also brings along a whole statistical framework from which cosmological observables are to be computed. It follows in particular that cosmological parameters are not deduced directly from physical fields – which in this framework are viewed as one realization of random variables – but rather from their statistical moments, such as the one, two, and higher N-point correlation functions. When using perturbation theory to describe the clumpy universe, the one-point function is usually defined to be zero, since one is actually interested in the fluctuations of physical fields around their mean values. Thus, the first non-trivial statistical moment is the two-point (or Gaussian) correlation function (we will abbreviate it as 2pcf from now on).

Two-point functions are ubiquitous tools in modern physics. In field theory they are disguised as Green's functions (or the propagator), whereas in general relativity they could be simply a distance function, a bitensor or Synge's world function [27, 28, 29] - just to mention a few examples. In cosmology, two-point *correlation* functions are a cornerstone of the standard ACDM model. Once it arises as the quantization of a free field in the early inflationary universe [30, 31, 32] (see ref. [33] for an up-to-date review), it propagates to virtually all cosmological and astrophysical computations one might be interested in – most popularly in its Fourier (i.e., the power spectrum) version. The same reasoning holds for higher-order correlation functions in connection with "Beyond- $\Lambda$ CDM" approaches [34, 35]. For example, in the context of CMB anisotropies, the observable of interest is the temperature variation of the CMB as a function of the direction of observation on the sky, i.e.,  $\frac{\Delta T}{T}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}})$ . Then, the 2pcf associated with this observable is given by  $\left\langle \frac{\Delta T}{T}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_1) \frac{\Delta T}{T}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_2) \right\rangle$ , where the average is being evaluated in an ensemble (since, however, we only have one universe at our disposal, this averaging is then substituted by the spatial average through the ergodic theorem [16]). In a given spacetime, its symmetries are carried along to the 2pcf, more specifically, to the 2pcf functional dependence. For example, the hypothesis of isotropy restricts the 2pcf above to depend only on the angle between  $\hat{n}_1$ and  $\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_2$ . Therefore, knowledge of the functional dependence of the 2pcf is crucial, since it alone can tell a lot about the statistical properties of cosmological observables, potentially allowing one to disentangle cosmological signals from systematical effects in real data.

There are essentially two independent routes to find the functional dependence of the 2pcf in cosmology. In the first, one uses heuristic symmetry arguments (or its lack thereof) to fix this functional dependence. This idea has been successfully applied in cosmology, mainly in connection with CMB physics, in refs. [36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41]. However straightforward, the phenomenological quality of this approach prevents one to link the resulting 2pcf to the statistics of a field in a well-defined background geometry. Alternatively, one can deploy the full machinery of perturbation theory in the desired spacetime. After dealing with known issues of gauge invariance and mode decomposition, the full set of Einstein equations can be solved and the statistics of the 2pcf can be computed [11, 14, 15, 24, 42]. This option is clearly more expensive, but is certain to lead to statistics with known spacetime symmetries.

These considerations lead us to ask whether one can systematically find the functional properties of correlation functions given the spacetime symmetries, and without the need to resort to expensive computations involving perturbation theory. In fact, when metric and fluid perturbations are small, they can be seen as external fields evolving over a fixed background, regardless of their dynamics. By expanding such fields in an appropriate set of basis eigenfunctions, one ensures that their statistical properties will inherit the symmetries of the background metric. Thus, in a Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) spacetime, for example, the 2pcf of a random field can only depend on the invariant distance between the two points, since this is the only combination allowed by the symmetries of the FLRW metric. Analogous ideas were explored in refs. [43, 44], where the conformal invariance of the de Sitter spacetime has been used to find the shape of two- and three-point correlation functions in dark-energy dominated universes.

In this first part of the thesis, we systematically develop the idea of using the symmetries of the background metric to fix the *functional* form of the 2pcf. First, we review the necessary mathematical tools needed to proceed, like symmetries in general relativity (expressed either through Killing vectors or isometries) and the Bianchi classification. Then, starting from the definition of a two-point function in a general manifold, we show that the imposition of isometric invariance on the 2pcf leads to a set of coupled first order partial differential equations which can be solved by means of well known techniques – but most easily through the method of characteristic curves [45] – to fix the functional form of the 2pcf. We illustrate the method with different examples, where we show how it correctly recovers the 2pcf in the spatially flat FLRW spacetime and in Minkowski spacetime. We then construct a formal solution to the aforementioned set of differential equations which holds for any spacetime having at least one Killing vector, but that is particularly useful to Bianchi spacetimes. Further, we apply the formalism to obtain the 2pcf in different classes of spacetimes, including the case of an off-center inhomogeneous but spherically symmetric spacetime and in the class of homogeneous but spatially flat anisotropic geometries of the Bianchi family. We then derive the CMB temperature covariance matrix for the Sachs-Wolfe effect in the limit of almost Friedmannian symmetry for the Bianchi cases, and comment on their multipolar signatures. We also show how the method can be easily generalized to include any N-point correlation function. Finally, we comment on extending the method to other Bianchi models and conclude.

### 2 An introduction to Bianchi cosmology

One of the core assumptions of modern cosmology is the homogeneity and isotropy of the universe. However, one can be interested in spacetimes that do not fall into this restrict category, especially if one is interested in testing how homogeneous and isotropic the universe is. Relaxing the assumption of isotropy is an interesting theoretical exercise but also provides us with means to compare our universe with an anisotropic cosmological model, and, e.g., constrain the anisotropic shear at different epochs of the universe's evolution. By doing so, one arrives at a class of spaces, called the Bianchi spaces, named after the mathematician who first classified them. A Bianchi spacetime has spatial sections which are anisotropic but homogeneous. My purpose in the following is to show how this classification comes to be and how one can construct a cosmological model from the Bianchi spaces. To do so, some introductory knowledge on Lie groups and Lie algebra is necessary. The key points will be presented in the next section, followed by the Bianchi classification. Most of this material is referenced from refs. [18, 17, 46, 47].

#### 2.1 Isometries, the Lie derivative and Killing vectors

The notions of isometries and Lie derivatives are essential to understand the Bianchi classification, and thus will be reviewed in brief here. Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be an *n*-dimensional manifold and  $\phi$  be a map<sup>1</sup>  $\phi : \mathcal{M} \mapsto \mathcal{M}$ . If  $\phi$  is smooth, one-to-one and has a smooth inverse, then it is called a diffeomorphism. When one states that a map between points in a manifold is *smooth*, what is meant is that the local representative of this map, which is the induced map between points in the  $\Re^n$  local patches of the manifold, is infinitely differentiable.

A diffeomorphism can be used to pull back and push forward objects in a manifold. Let us illustrate how this comes to be with a real function. Let f be a function on  $\mathcal{M}$  that maps points  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  to real numbers f(p), i.e.,  $f : \mathcal{M} \mapsto \Re$ . One can compose f and  $\phi$  to create a new function  $\phi^* f(p) = f(\phi(p))$  which is the pull back of f. Since  $\phi$  is a diffeomorphism and hence invertible, the push forward of f can also be constructed by making use of  $\phi^{-1}$ . We call  $\phi_* f(p) = f(\phi^{-1}(p))$  the push forward of f. Once the pull back and push forward of real functions are defined, one can extend these notions to vectors, one forms and general tensors on manifolds. Recall that a vector is defined through its action on real functions of  $\mathcal{M}$ . Let v be a vector in the tangent space  $V_p$  at  $p \in \mathcal{M}$ . Then,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> One can also define more general maps  $\phi : \mathcal{M} \mapsto \mathcal{N}$ , but for our purposes this will not be necessary.

the push forward of v is a vector  $\phi_* v$  in the tangent space  $V_{\phi(p)}$  at  $\phi(p)$ . It is defined as

$$(\phi_* v)(f) = v(\phi^* f),$$
 (2.1.1)

i.e., the push forward of v acts on f the same way v acts on the pull back of f. The pull back of v can be defined in analogy using the push forward of f (which makes use of  $\phi^{-1}$ ). And in the same way one can define the pull back and push forward of one forms and tensors.

The discussion above shows that a diffeomorphism (and its inverse) can induce maps on objects of a manifold. One can then compare, e.g., a tensor field under the action of such a map with the original tensor field. If one finds that, for a tensor T,  $\phi_*T = T$ , then  $\phi$  is a symmetry transformation for the tensor T. There is a special name for the diffeomorphism that is a symmetry transformation of the metric tensor g. If  $\phi_*g = g$ , then  $\phi$  is called an isometry.

To move forward, we need to introduce the concept of a one-parameter family of diffeomorphisms. Let us parametrize continuously a family of diffeomorphisms by a real parameter t. We will write this family as  $\phi_t$ . One can think of it as describing a curve on  $\mathcal{M}$ when acting on a fixed point p. For example,  $\phi_{t=0} = p$ , and for every t,  $\phi_t(p)$  corresponds to a point on this curve. The composition of two diffeomorphisms is given by  $\phi_t \circ \phi_s = \phi_{t+s}$ . Now, at each point of the curve defined by  $\phi_t(p)$  there will be a tangent vector. Thus,  $\phi_t$  defines a vector field  $v \in V_{\phi_t(p)}$  of vectors tangent to  $\phi_t(p)$ . One can conversely use a vector field v on  $\mathcal{M}$  to generate a one-parameter family of diffeomorphisms through its integral curve, i.e., the curve whose tangent vector field is v. In this sense, a vector field can be seen as a generator of a one parameter family of diffeomorphisms.

We are now able to define a Lie derivative. Given a vector field v on  $\mathcal{M}$ , one can ask how a general tensor T changes along the integral curves of v. The Lie derivative is the formal tool to evaluate that. Let  $\phi_t$  be the one-parameter family of diffeomorphisms generated by v. Then, the Lie derivative of a tensor T along the integral curves of v is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_v T = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\phi_* T - T}{t}.$$
(2.1.2)

Note that the Lie derivative is a more primitive notion than the covariant derivative since it is independent of the metric; it depends only on the existence of a diffeomorphism generator vector field v. Since its definition is similar to ordinary derivatives, it is not hard to see that it is linear and obeys the Leibniz rule. In the case where T is a real function f, we have that

$$\mathcal{L}_{v}f = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{f(\phi_{t}(p)) - f(\phi_{0}(p))}{t}$$
(2.1.3)

$$=\frac{df(\phi_t(p))}{dt}.$$
(2.1.4)

Since v is the tangent vector to the curve defined by  $\phi_t(p)$ , the Lie derivative of a scalar function can be written as  $\mathcal{L}_v f = v(f)$ . In an arbitrary coordinate system, this is reduced simply to  $\mathcal{L}_v f = v^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} f$ , where  $v^{\mu}$  are the components of v in this coordinate system. From here on, Greek indexes are used as general coordinate indexes. To find the action of a Lie derivative on a vector w, let us make use of an adapted coordinate system. We will work in a coordinate system  $x^{\mu} = (x^0, x^1, ...)$  such that  $x^0$  is the parameter along the integral curves of v. Then,  $v = \partial_0$ , or v = (1, 0, ...). Thus, the action of  $\phi_t$  on a vector w at a point  $(x^0, x^1, ...)$  is simply given by w at the point  $(x^0 + t, x^1, ...)$ . It is then straightforward that in this coordinate system

$$\mathcal{L}_v w^\mu = \frac{\partial w^\mu}{\partial x^0}.\tag{2.1.5}$$

It is also true in this coordinate system that  $[v, w]^{\mu} = v^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} w^{\mu} - w^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} v^{\mu} = \frac{\partial w^{\mu}}{\partial x^{0}}$ . We thus have the covariant expression

$$\mathcal{L}_v w^\mu = [v, w]^\mu, \qquad (2.1.6)$$

which must be valid in any coordinate system. The expressions for Lie derivatives of oneforms and general tensors can then be found using the results above and the Leibniz rule. Let us illustrate this with an important example: the metric tensor. To evaluate the Lie derivative of  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , we start by noting that

$$\mathcal{L}_{v}\left(g_{\mu\nu}w^{\mu}u^{\nu}\right) = v^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\left(g_{\mu\nu}w^{\mu}u^{\nu}\right).$$
(2.1.7)

If we now expand  $\mathcal{L}_v(g_{\mu\nu}w^{\mu}u^{\nu})$  using the Leibniz rule, we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{v}\left(g_{\mu\nu}w^{\mu}u^{\nu}\right) = \left(\mathcal{L}_{v}g\right)_{\mu\nu}w^{\mu}u^{\nu} + g_{\mu\nu}\left(\mathcal{L}_{v}w\right)^{\mu}u^{\nu} + g_{\mu\nu}w^{\mu}\left(\mathcal{L}_{v}u\right)^{\nu}.$$
 (2.1.8)

After some simple algebra, comparing (2.1.7) and (2.1.8) gives

$$\mathcal{L}_v g_{\mu\nu} = v^{\rho} \nabla_{\rho} g_{\mu\nu} + g_{\rho\nu} \nabla_{\mu} v^{\rho} + g_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\nu} v^{\rho}$$
(2.1.9)

$$= \nabla_{\mu} v_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu} v_{\mu}, \qquad (2.1.10)$$

where we used that  $\nabla$  is the derivative operator compatible with the metric g.

Now, suppose that a one-parameter family of diffeomorphisms satisfies  $\phi_{t*}g = g$ , that is, it is a one-parameter family of isometries. The vector field K which generates  $\phi_t$ is then called a Killing vector field. Since its integral curves are isometries, it must be that

$$\mathcal{L}_K g = 0. \tag{2.1.11}$$

Thus, from eq. (2.1.10), we have

$$\nabla_{\mu}K_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}K_{\mu} = 0. \tag{2.1.12}$$

This is called Killing's equation. It is important to note that Killing vectors (and hence, isometries) are the language in which symmetries are represented in general relativity. If

a given spacetime presents one (or more) continuous symmetry, there is a Killing vector field associated with it, and having it at hand is a helpful tool in many calculations and insights. For example, if  $\mathcal{M}$  possesses a geodesic curve and a Killing vector field, there is a conserved quantity which can be easily evaluated. Let t be the tangent vector to the geodesic, and K be the Killing vector field. Then, the quantity  $K_{\mu}t^{\mu}$  is conserved along the geodesic. This can be easily proved:

$$t^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \left( K_{\mu} t^{\mu} \right) = t^{\nu} t^{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} K_{\mu} + K_{\mu} t^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} t^{\mu}$$
(2.1.13)

$$=0,$$
 (2.1.14)

where the first term is zero due to Killing's equation and the last due to the geodesic equation. This result will be used in the second part of this thesis extensively to compute the drift of the direction of observation of distant light sources. In this scenario, t is the tangent vector to a null geodesic and the conserved quantity is the massless particle's 4-momentum in the direction of K.

Another property of a Killing vector field is that it is completely defined by the values of  $K^{\mu}$  and  $\nabla_{\mu}K_{\nu}$  at a given point, i.e., if one knows these quantities at a certain point  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  then one can calculate  $K^{\mu}$  for any other point in  $\mathcal{M}$  [17]. This allows us to count the maximum set of independent Killing vector fields of a manifold. In an *n*-dimensional manifold,  $K^{\mu}$  provides us with *n* parameters, while  $\nabla_{\mu}K_{\nu}$ , being antisymmetric due to Killing's equation, has  $\frac{n^2-n}{2}$  parameters. This amounts to  $\frac{n(n+1)}{2}$  independent parameters, which is then the maximum number of Killing vector fields (or isometries, or even, symmetries) an *n*-dimensional manifold can have (for a pedagogical proof of this result, see ref. [48]).

Other useful properties of Killing vector fields are:

- linear combinations of Killing vectors are also Killing, which follows trivially from the linearity of the Lie derivative;
- if  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  are Killing, then  $K_3 = [K_1, K_2]$  is also a Killing vector, since Lie derivatives satisfy  $\mathcal{L}_{[K_1, K_2]} = \mathcal{L}_{K_1} \mathcal{L}_{K_2} \mathcal{L}_{K_2} \mathcal{L}_{K_1}$  (which is a direct consequence of the Jacobi identity).

With these basics covered, we now follow to more advanced topics in order to understand the Bianchi classification of spatially anisotropic cosmologies.

#### 2.2 Lie groups and Lie algebra for Bianchi spaces

Let us begin with the notion of a group. A group  $\mathcal{G}$  is a mathematical set of objects  $\{g_1, g_2, ..., g_n\}$  possessing a map  $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G} \mapsto \mathcal{G}$ , called the multiplication map (and from here

on represented by the multiplication operation), and an identity element e obeying the following properties. For every element  $g \in \mathcal{G}$  we have that

- $g_1(g_2g_3) = (g_1g_2)g_3;$
- eg = ge = g;
- there exists an inverse object  $g^{-1} \in \mathcal{G}$  such that  $gg^{-1} = g^{-1}g = e$ .

An example of a group is the collection of diffeomorphisms of a manifold  $\mathcal{M}$ . This is a group of infinite objects  $\{\phi_1, \phi_2, ...\}$  which are mappings of points  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  into the points  $\phi_i(p)$  (i = 1, 2, ...). The multiplication map is simply the composition function, i.e.,  $\phi_1\phi_2(p) = \phi_1(\phi_2(p))$  and the identity element is the diffeomorphism e such that e(p) = p.

Now, let us move onto the notion of a Lie group. We will restrict ourselves to Lie groups of finite dimension which are enough for our purposes. By definition, a Lie group of dimension m is a group which is also an m-dimensional manifold such that the inverse map  $i(g) = g^{-1}$  and the multiplication map  $f(g_1, g_2) = g_1g_2$  are smooth, i.e., they are locally infinitely differentiable. Note that since a Lie group is also a manifold, each object g of the Lie group is locally associated with a set of m parameters, and thus i and f must depend smoothly on these parameters. The set of diffeomorphisms of a manifold is not a finite dimensional Lie group because it is too big a set, i.e., there are infinitely many diffeomorphisms and as such they cannot be characterized by m parameters. The set of isometries, however, is a Lie group, since an n-dimensional manifold can have at most  $\frac{n(n+1)}{2}$  isometries.

Now, we are about to show that a Lie group uniquely defines a Lie algebra (whose definition is stated further). To do so, we need to familiarize ourselves with the notion of left and right translation maps. Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a Lie group of m dimensions. The left translation map  $\psi$  for every  $g, h \in \mathcal{G}$  is given by

$$\psi_h(g) = hg. \tag{2.2.1}$$

Its inverse is given by  $\psi_h^{-1}(g) = h^{-1}g$  such that  $\psi_h^{-1}(\psi_h(g)) = g$ . Note that  $\psi_h$ , for each  $h \in \mathcal{G}$ , is a diffeomorphism of the manifold  $\mathcal{G}$  since the multiplication and inverse maps are smooth. As a diffeomorphism, it induces maps on vectors, one forms and tensors on  $\mathcal{G}$  through pull backs and push forwards. For example, the push forward of a vector v by  $\psi_h$  is

$$(\psi_{h*}v)(f) = v(\psi_{h}^{*}f),$$
 (2.2.2)

where  $\psi_h^* f$  is the pull back of a real function f defined as before, i.e.,  $\psi_h^* f(g) = f(\psi_h(g))$ . If a vector v satisfies  $\psi_{h*}v = v$  for all  $h \in \mathcal{G}$ , then it is called a left invariant vector, i.e., it is invariant under left translations. An important property is that a left invariant vector field is defined by its value at the identity element  $e \in \mathcal{G}$ . This can be seen through the following. Let  $v_g$  be a vector field on  $\mathcal{G}$ . Here, the index g denotes an arbitrary point on the manifold  $\mathcal{G}$  at which the vector is taken. Then, if  $v_g$  is a left invariant vector field, we have that  $\psi_{h*}(v_g) = v_{hg}$ . Note that the point changes due to the push forward of the vector field (a vector at g "pushed forward" by  $\psi_h$  is now a vector at  $\psi_h(g) = hg$ ). Thus, for g = e, we have that

$$v_h = \psi_{h*} \left( v_e \right).$$
 (2.2.3)

Another property which is easy to check is that a linear combination of left invariant vector fields is also left invariant. These properties show that the set of all left invariant vector fields forms a vector space that is also *m*-dimensional. This last fact follows because all left invariant vector fields are in the tangent space  $V_e \in \mathcal{G}$ , which shares the same dimension of  $\mathcal{G}$ .

The next step to show how a Lie algebra arises from a Lie group is to show that, for any diffeomorphism  $\phi$  of a manifold, we have

$$\phi_* [v, u] = [\phi_* v, \phi_* u]. \tag{2.2.4}$$

A proof of the above can be shown through coordinate expressions of the push forward. Suppose  $\phi$  is a diffeomorphism taking a point p of a manifold to the point  $\phi(p) = q$ . Then  $(\phi_* v)^{\mu} = \frac{\partial y^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\nu}} v^{\nu}$ , where  $x^{\mu}$  is the local coordinate patch of the point p and  $y^{\mu}$ is the local coordinate patch of q [46]. A straightforward but tedious calculation gives  $(\phi_* [v, u])^{\mu} = [\phi_* v, \phi_* u]^{\mu}$ . Since the commutators are defined independently of coordinates, eq. (2.2.4) follows. A consequence of the above is that a commutator of left invariant vector fields is itself a left invariant vector field. Thus, if one takes a basis of left invariant vector fields  $\{v_A, A = 1, ..., m\}$ , the commutator of two basis vectors must be a linear combination of the left invariant vectors of the basis, thus satisfying

$$[v_A, v_B] = C^C_{AB} v_C, (2.2.5)$$

where the  $C_{AB}^C$  are called the structure constants of the algebra. Note that the uppercase Latin indexes are not coordinate indexes, but labels for the basis vectors. The structure constants are by definition antisymmetric in its lower indexes, i.e.,  $C_{AB}^C = -C_{BA}^C$ . If eq. (2.2.5) is plugged into the Jacobi identity for the commutators of any three vectors

$$[[v_A, v_B], v_C] + [[v_B, v_C], v_A] + [[v_C, v_A], v_B] = 0$$
(2.2.6)

one finds that the structure constants satisfy

$$C^E_{[AB}C^F_{C]E} = 0. (2.2.7)$$

Now, onto the definition of a Lie algebra: a finite dimensional vector space V equipped with a bilinear operation  $[ , ]: V \times V \mapsto V$  with elements  $v, u \in V$  such that [v, v] = 0, and [v, u] = -[u, v] and that also satisfies Jacobi's identity is a Lie algebra. Thus, we've

shown that an m-dimensional Lie group generates an m-dimensional Lie algebra through its left invariant vectors and whose bilinear operation is the usual commutator.

Now, we can also define a right translation map  $\chi_h$ . It acts on elements of  $\mathcal{G}$  through  $\chi_h(g) = gh$ , as expected. Note that  $\psi_h$  and  $\chi_h$  commute:

$$\psi_h(\chi_i(g)) = hgi = \chi_i(\psi_h(g)).$$
 (2.2.8)

The same properties of left translations extend to right translations: they are also diffeomorphisms, and also define a set of right invariant vector fields which can be used to generate a Lie algebra. Then,  $\{\xi_A, A = 1, ..., m\}$  is a set of right invariant vector basis with an algebra given by

$$[\xi_A, \xi_B] = D_{AB}^C \xi_C. \tag{2.2.9}$$

Let  $\phi_t$  be a one-parameter family of diffeomorphisms generated by the integral curves of a right invariant vector field  $\xi$  on  $\mathcal{G}$ . Let us define the action of  $\phi_t$  on the identity element by  $\phi_t(e) \equiv h(t)$ , where h(t = 0) = e. Note that, since  $\xi$  is a right invariant vector,  $\phi_t$  and  $\chi_h$  commute, for any h. Let us now evaluate the action of  $\phi_t$  on an arbitrary point  $g \in \mathcal{G}$ :

$$\phi_t(g) = \phi_t(\chi_g(e)) = \chi_g(\phi_t(e)) = \chi_g(h(t)) = h(t)g = \psi_{h(t)}(g).$$
(2.2.10)

What one can check in the above is that the diffeomorphism  $\phi_t$  constructed from a right invariant vector field  $\xi$  is generating a left translation. Thus, right invariant vector fields are generators of left translations through their integral curves, and vice versa (it should be easy to see why). This has an important consequence for the left and right invariant vector basis:

$$\mathcal{L}_{v_A}\xi_B = [v_A, \xi_B] = 0 \quad \forall \quad A, B.$$
(2.2.11)

This is expressing the fact that "dragging"  $\xi_A$ , a right invariant vector, along the integral curves of  $v_A$ , which are right translations, does not change  $\xi_A$ . Note that the inverse is also true, i.e.,  $\mathcal{L}_{\xi_A} v_B = 0$ .

Now, one might wonder if the Lie algebras generated by left invariant vectors and right invariant vectors are just different representations of the same underlying algebra. The answer is yes, and this is seen by making a suitable choice of  $\{v_A\}$  and  $\{\xi_A\}$  at e, the identity point of  $\mathcal{G}$ . This can always be done since they are linearly independent and span the tangent space at every point of  $\mathcal{G}$ . The choice we make is that  $v_A|_e = \xi_A|_e$  for every A. Then, there must be an invertible position-dependent matrix  $M_B^A$  [47] which satisfies

$$\xi_A = M_A^B v_B \tag{2.2.12}$$

and  $M_A^B|_e = \delta_A^B$ . Expanding the commutator  $[v_A, \xi_B] = [(M^{-1})_A^C \xi_C, \xi_B] = 0$  one is able to find after some simple algebra that

$$D_{AB}^{C} = -M_{B}^{D}\xi_{A}\left((M^{-1})_{D}^{C}\right), \qquad (2.2.13)$$

where here the vector  $\xi_A$  is meant to be acting on the (position-dependent) matrix  $(M^{-1})_D^C$ . Now, using  $v_A = (M^{-1})_A^B \xi_B$  on eq. (2.2.5) and expanding, one is able to arrive at

$$[\xi_C, \xi_D] = -M_C^A M_D^B C_{AB}^E (M^{-1})_E^F \xi_F.$$
(2.2.14)

In comparison with eq. (2.2.9), it is easy to see that

$$D_{CD}^{F} = -M_{C}^{A} M_{D}^{B} C_{AB}^{E} (M^{-1})_{E}^{F}.$$
 (2.2.15)

Now, while the matrix  $M_B^A$  depends on position, the structure constants do not. So it is only necessary to evaluate the above equation at one point to find the structure constant  $D_{CD}^F$ . Thus, evaluating it at the identity point, we arrive finally at

$$D_{AB}^C = -C_{AB}^C, (2.2.16)$$

that is, apart from a minus sign, these structure constants represent the same underlying Lie algebra.

After this concise exposition about Lie groups and Lie algebras, we can now apply these mathematical tools to study homogeneous spacetimes, which is what we do in the following.

#### 2.3 Bianchi spacetimes and their classification

In here we make the connection between the latest sections and general relativity, more specifically, to homogeneous spaces. Let us consider a manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  and a metric gon this manifold, i.e., a spacetime  $(\mathcal{M}, g)$ . Let us call  $\text{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$  the group of isometries of this spacetime, defined by

$$\operatorname{Isom}(\mathcal{M}) = \{ \phi : \mathcal{M} \mapsto \mathcal{M} \, | \, \phi_* g = g \}, \tag{2.3.1}$$

i.e., it is the set of all diffeomorphisms whose induced action on the metric tensor does not alter it. The group of isometries of a spacetime, as was pointed before, forms a Lie group.

A spatially homogeneous spacetime is one in which there is a family of spacelike hypersurfaces<sup>2</sup>  $\Sigma_t$  such that, for any two points  $p, q \in \Sigma_t$  there exists an isometry  $\phi \in$ Isom( $\mathcal{M}$ ) that takes  $\phi(p) = q$ . This means that Isom( $\mathcal{M}$ ) acts transitively on  $\Sigma_t$ . To properly define the notion of transitiveness, let us first understand the concept of an orbit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A spatial hypersurface  $\Sigma_t$  is a submanifold of  $\mathcal{M}$  which is everywhere orthogonal to the 4-velocity of the fundamental cosmological observers. Usually, one chooses these observers to be aligned with the matter flow of the spacetime. The existence of these observers allows one to make a covariant 1+3 split of the spacetime with respect to their 4-velocity, foliating the spacetime in spatial hypersurfaces  $\Sigma_t$ . The precise definition of the parameter t with which we foliate it will be given below. For more on this topic, see refs. [46, 49].

of Isom( $\mathcal{M}$ ). The orbit  $O_p$  of the group of isometries of a given point  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  is the set of all points q that p can be taken to through the isometries of Isom( $\mathcal{M}$ ). More precisely,

$$O_p = \{q \mid q = \phi(p) \text{ for all } \phi \in \text{Isom}(\mathcal{M})\}.$$
(2.3.2)

If  $O_p = \Sigma_t$ , then the action of the group of isometries on  $\Sigma_t$  is said to be transitive. Let us now define the isotropy subgroup of isometries of a given point  $p, \mathcal{I}_p(\mathcal{M})$ :

$$\mathcal{I}_p(\mathcal{M}) = \{ \phi \in \operatorname{Isom}(\mathcal{M}) \, | \, \phi(p) = p \}.$$
(2.3.3)

Note that an isometry associated with isotropy is one which keeps the point it acts on fixed, as is expected with, e.g., a rotation. Now, let n be the dimension of  $\text{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$  and m be the dimension of  $\mathcal{I}_p(\mathcal{M})$ . An additional condition for a spacetime to be spatially homogeneous is that n be greater than or equal to the dimension of  $\Sigma_t$  (which in standard cosmology is 3). The Bianchi spacetimes, which are spatially homogeneous but anisotropic, have n = 3 and m = 0. In this case, the action of  $\text{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$  on  $\Sigma_t$  is said to be simply transitive. This means that for all  $p, q \in \Sigma_t$ , there is a unique element  $\phi \in \text{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$  such that  $\phi(p) = q$ . If otherwise, a homogeneous spacetime is called multiply transitive (e.g., the FLRW spacetime).



Figure 1 – Schematic representation of the identification between the points on  $\Sigma_t$  with the isometries on  $\text{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$ .

Since the isometries of Bianchi spacetimes acts simply transitively on  $\Sigma_t$ , it is possible to put the elements of  $\operatorname{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$  in a one to one correspondence with points on  $\Sigma_t$ . This correspondence is made by associating an isometry  $\phi$  with a point  $\phi(p)$ . The identity isometry e, e.g., is associated with an arbitrary point p. Once this identification is made, we can now recognize the action of an isometry  $\phi \in \operatorname{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$  on  $\Sigma_t$ , which takes a point p to a point  $\phi(p)$ , as a left translation on  $\operatorname{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$ , which is taking the identity isometry e to the isometry  $\psi_{\phi}(e) = \phi$  (see Figure 1). Then, we can apply our knowledge of Lie groups and Lie algebras to Bianchi spacetimes. Tensor fields on  $\Sigma_t$  invariant under isometries now correspond to the left invariant tensor fields on  $\operatorname{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$ . This means that there are, in particular, vector fields invariant under isometries on  $\Sigma_t$  which correspond to the left invariant vector fields of  $\operatorname{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$ . Thus, there must be a 3-dimensional basis of vectors on  $\Sigma_t$  satisfying the Lie algebra of eq. (2.2.5). Let us call for the time being this invariant basis on  $\Sigma_t$  as the set  $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ , which will, as we know, satisfy

$$[e_i, e_j] = -C_{ij}^k e_k, (2.3.4)$$

where the minus sign was put there for convenience. Note that we have switched to lowercase Latin indexes, which run from 1 to 3. We also have, in view of this correspondence, that the generators of isometries on  $\Sigma_t$  are the generators of left translations on Isom( $\mathcal{M}$ ). The generators of isometries, as we have learned, are the Killing vector fields of  $\Sigma_t$ , and the generators of left translations are the right invariant basis vectors which satisfy the algebra of eq. (2.2.9). Thus, a Bianchi spacetime has a 3-dimensional basis of Killing vector fields, which we will call { $K_1, K_2, K_3$ }, that satisfy

$$[K_i, K_j] = C_{ij}^k K_k. (2.3.5)$$

Also, since generators of left translations are right invariant, we have that

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_i} e_j = [K_i, e_j] = 0. \tag{2.3.6}$$

As before, the algebra satisfies Jacobi's identity and hence the structure constants satisfy  $C_{[ij}^m C_{k]m}^n = 0$ . We show further that the structure constants are also constant in time, i.e., they do not depend on t. The above are the defining characteristics of the Bianchi spacetimes.

One might wonder what are the possibilities of the spatial nature of the  $\Sigma_t$  sections given these conditions. This depends on how many inequivalent Lie algebras one can find which satisfy eq. (2.3.5). Thus, we are going to work with the algebra of the Killing vectors to classify all possible 3-dimensional Lie algebras. This is called the Bianchi classification, and for historical reasons is labeled by roman numerals from I to IX. By choosing one of these algebras, one can then build a spatially homogeneous spacetime and corresponding cosmological model, which are called the Bianchi models.

We start by analyzing the structure constants of the Killing vector algebra. The structure constants  $C_{ij}^k$  are anti symmetric in the lower indexes. Thus,  $C_{ij}^k$  has 9 independent components, and can be written in terms of a symmetric tensor  $n_{ij}$  and a vector  $a_i$ . The decomposition reads

$$C_{ij}^k = \epsilon_{ijm} n^{mk} + \delta_j^k a_i - \delta_i^k a_j.$$

$$(2.3.7)$$

If one plugs eq. (2.3.7) in Jacobi's identity for the structure constant,  $C_{[ij}^m C_{k]m}^n = 0$ , after a tedious but straightforward calculation one gets

$$n^{ij}a_j = 0. (2.3.8)$$
Since we have the freedom to perform rotations of the Killing vector fields at a given point, i.e.,  $K_i \to K'_i = \gamma_i^j K_j$ , we can choose a rotation such that  $n^{ij}$  is diagonal:

$$n^{ij} = \begin{bmatrix} n_1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & n_2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & n_3 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.3.9)

Note that basis changes that permute 1, 2, 3 are still allowed. From condition (2.3.8), we can see that either  $a_i = 0$  or  $n^{ij}$  has at least one zero eigenvalue. Through permutations one can always move this eigenvalue to the upper left corner of  $n^{ij}$ , that is, we can assume that  $n_1 = 0$  given that  $a_i \neq 0$ . Thus, in view of condition (2.3.8),  $a_i$  must assume the form

$$a_i = (a, 0, 0). \tag{2.3.10}$$

Note that this also covers the case of  $a_i = 0$  if we then rewrite condition (2.3.8) as

$$an_1 = 0.$$
 (2.3.11)

With eqs. (2.3.9) and (2.3.10) we can now rewrite the commutation relations of the Killing vectors as

$$[K_1, K_2] = (aK_2 + n_3K_3), \qquad [K_2, K_3] = n_1K_1, \qquad [K_3, K_1] = (n_2K_2 - aK_3).$$
(2.3.12)

Note that we are still in full generality, so the above is true for all Bianchi spaces. To proceed with the classification, we must exhaust all the possible values of  $(n_1, n_2, n_3, a)$ . A systematic way of doing that is achieved by using the freedom to scale the Killing vectors, as is shown in ref [18]. Thus, we will perform the transformation  $K_i \to K'_i = C_i K_i$ , where  $C_i$  are the scaling constants (here the indexes are not summed over). This casts eq. (2.3.12) into

$$[K_1, K_2] = \left(\frac{a}{C_1}K_2 + \frac{C_3}{C_1C_2}n_3K_3\right), \qquad [K_2, K_3] = \frac{C_1}{C_2C_3}n_1K_1,$$
  
$$[K_3, K_1] = \left(\frac{C_2}{C_1C_3}n_2K_2 - \frac{a}{C_1}K_3\right).$$
(2.3.13)

Now one can start to exhaust the cases. For example, the case where  $n_i = 0$  and a = 0 is Bianchi I. In Bianchi I, all structure constants are zero and all Killing vectors commute with one another. Let us analyze the non-trivial case of Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub>. This case is achieved when  $n_3 = a = 0$  but  $n_{1,2} \neq 0$ . The commutation relations are thus

$$[K_1, K_2] = 0, \qquad [K_2, K_3] = \frac{C_1}{C_2 C_3} n_1 K_1, \qquad [K_3, K_1] = \frac{C_2}{C_1 C_3} n_2 K_2. \tag{2.3.14}$$

We have the freedom to choose the scaling factors as we please, thus we pick  $C_1 = \frac{C_2 C_3}{n_1}$ . We then have

$$[K_1, K_2] = 0, \qquad [K_2, K_3] = K_1, \qquad [K_3, K_1] = \frac{n_2 n_1}{C_3^2} K_2.$$
 (2.3.15)

Now, the choice of  $C_3$  will affect the resulting Bianchi type. If  $n_2n_1 > 0$ , we then choose  $C_3 = \sqrt{n_2n_1}$ . This gives

$$[K_1, K_2] = 0, \qquad [K_2, K_3] = K_1, \qquad [K_3, K_1] = K_2.$$
 (2.3.16)

These are the commutation relations that define the Bianchi type VII<sub>0</sub> model. Note that, from (2.3.14), had we defined  $n'_1 = \frac{C_1}{C_2C_3}n_1$  and  $n'_2 = \frac{C_2}{C_1C_3}$  we would have ended up having  $n'_1 = 1$  and  $n'_2 = 1$ . This is compatible with the standard table of Bianchi classifications, where Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub> appears with  $(n_1, n_2, n_3, a) = (1, 1, 0, 0)$ . Going back to our choice of  $C_3$ , we could have chosen it to be  $C_3 = \sqrt{-n_1n_2}$  had we considered the case where  $n_1n_2 < 0$ . We then would have ended up in Bianchi VI<sub>0</sub>, with  $(n_1, n_2, n_3, a) = (1, -1, 0, 0)$ . Another interesting case to analyze is the Bianchi type VII<sub>h</sub>, where the continuous parameter happears naturally in this type's classification<sup>3</sup>. This case corresponds to  $n_1 = 0$  but  $a \neq 0$ and  $n_{2,3} \neq 0$ . The commutators then are

$$[K_1, K_2] = \frac{a}{C_1}K_2 + \frac{C_3}{C_1C_2}n_3K_3, \qquad [K_2, K_3] = 0, \qquad [K_3, K_1] = -\frac{a}{C_1}K_3 + \frac{C_2}{C_1C_3}n_2K_2.$$
(2.3.17)

Choosing  $C_2 = \frac{C_1 C_3}{n_2}$  then gives

$$[K_1, K_2] = \frac{a}{C_1} K_2 + \frac{n_2 n_3}{C_1^2} K_3, \qquad [K_2, K_3] = 0, \qquad [K_3, K_1] = -\frac{a}{C_1} K_3 + K_2. \quad (2.3.18)$$

Now, if  $n_2n_3 > 0$ , we choose  $C_1 = \sqrt{n_1n_3}$  and we fall into the Bianchi VII<sub>h</sub> type. This gives the following commutators:

$$[K_1, K_2] = \frac{a}{\sqrt{n_2 n_3}} K_2 + K_3, \qquad [K_2, K_3] = 0, \qquad [K_3, K_1] = -\frac{a}{\sqrt{n_2 n_3}} K_3 + K_2. \quad (2.3.19)$$

Since we already fixed all possible scaling factors, there is nothing we can do to rescale a. So it remains an arbitrary parameter, and the types corresponding to  $(n_1, n_2, n_3, a) = (0, 1, 1, a)$  are actually a family of types that depend on a. It is standard to define another parameter,  $h = \frac{a^2}{n_2 n_3}$ . These types are all accommodated into the Bianchi type VII<sub>h</sub>, whose commutators are given by

$$[K_1, K_2] = \sqrt{h}K_2 + K_3, \qquad [K_2, K_3] = 0, \qquad [K_3, K_1] = -\sqrt{h}K_3 + K_2.$$
 (2.3.20)

Notice that we recover the previous case by making h = 0.

The same procedure described above can be applied until all possibilities are exhausted and the standard Bianchi classification is constructed. The results are summarized in Table 1.

Now one can use a Bianchi type to build a cosmological model. Let us recapitulate. A Bianchi spacetime  $(\mathcal{M}, g)$  has homogeneous (in the sense defined before) spatial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Not to be confused with the left translation map parameter h used in the previous section.

Bianchi type	$n_1$	$n_2$	$n_3$	a	FLRW limit
Ι	0	0	0	0	Flat
II	1	0	0	0	-
III	0	1	-1	1	-
IV	0	0	1	1	-
V	0	0	0	1	Open
$\mathrm{VI}_h$	0	1	-1	$\sqrt{-h}$	-
$VII_0$	0	1	1	0	Flat
$\operatorname{VII}_h$	0	1	1	$\sqrt{h}$	Open
VIII	1	1	-1	0	-
IX	1	1	1	0	Closed

Table 1 – Standard table of Bianchi types classification according to the values of  $(n_1, n_2, n_3, a)$  after rescaling as described in the text. Remember that permutations of  $(n_1, n_2, n_3)$  are allowed so the table may look different from one source to another. The Biachi type III is often missing in textbooks since it is a subcase of Bianchi VI<sub>h</sub>. We also include the FLRW limit for the Bianchi types this is possible (a dash means the limit is not clearly defined). Open and closed mean, respectively, negatively curved FLRW and positively curved FLRW. For more information on this topic, see refs. [23, 47].

hypersurfaces  $\Sigma_t$  with a set  $\{K_i\}$  of Killing vectors which forms a 3-dimensional Lie algebra. There also is a natural set of invariant basis vectors,  $\{e_i\}$  on  $\Sigma_t$  that forms too a 3-dimensional Lie algebra that, when a suitable choice of the basis is made, shares the same structure constants as the algebra of the Killing vectors. This invariant basis satisfy  $\mathcal{L}_{K_i}e_j = 0$ . Note that both the set of Killing vectors and the invariant basis vectors are tangent to  $\Sigma_t$ . Let us define precisely what is the parameter t with which we foliate  $\mathcal{M}$ . We start at a spatial hypersurface  $\Sigma_0$ , and let p be a point on  $\Sigma_0$ . Now, let n be the unit vector normal to  $\Sigma_0$  at p. Note that it will be orthogonal to both  $\{K_i\}$  and  $\{e_i\}$  at p. There is a geodesic  $\lambda$  whose initial point is p and tangent vector is n. Given that  $K_i^{\mu} n_{\mu} = 0$  at p, for all i, then  $\lambda$  will be orthogonal to all spatial hypersurfaces it crosses, since, if  $K_i$  is a Killing vector and n a tangent vector to a geodesic, the quantity  $K_i^{\mu}n_{\mu}$  is conserved along it, as we have shown in eq. (2.1.14). Then, the parameter t is naturally the proper time along the geodesic  $\lambda$  at the hypersurface  $\Sigma_t$  it crosses. Also, by spatial homogeneity, n will be everywhere orthogonal to each  $\Sigma_t$ . At each  $\Sigma_t$ , we additionally require that  $\mathcal{L}_{K_i} n = 0$ , or  $[K_i, n] = 0$ . Note that the integral curves of the vector field n will be timelike geodesics orthogonal to each  $\Sigma_t$  at every point, and being unit, n must satisfy  $n^{\mu}n_{\mu} = -1$ . We can then extend the invariant vector basis at  $\Sigma_0$  to the other spatial sections by noting that  $\mathcal{L}_n e_i = [n, e_i] = 0$  is also satisfied by applying the Jacobi identity to the vectors  $(n, k_i, e_i)$ .

Now, we can build an orthonormal basis to  $(\mathcal{M}, g)$  using the set of orthogonal basis vectors  $(n, e_1, e_2, e_3)$ . Applying the Jacobi identity to the vectors  $(n, e_i, e_j)$ , one can show, after straightforward algebraic manipulations, that  $n(C_{ij}^k) = 0$ , i.e., the structure constants are constant from one spatial hypersurface to the other, thus not depending on t. Now, we define a set of invariant one-forms  $\{\tilde{e}^i\}$  which satisfies  $e^{\mu}_i \tilde{e}^j_{\mu} = \delta^j_i$ . From these one-forms we can build the metric tensor of a Bianchi model. Let  $\tilde{n}$  be the one-form of n. Then, the metric of a Bianchi model is given by

$$g = -\tilde{n} \otimes \tilde{n} + g_{ij}(t)\tilde{e}^i \otimes \tilde{e}^j.$$
(2.3.21)

Note that  $g_{ij}$  can only depend on t since the spatial hypersurfaces are homogeneous. A metric tensor built in the manner above describes the most general homogeneous and spatially anisotropic spacetime. The peculiarities of each Bianchi model are then contained in its algebraic structure. If needed, one can use the commutation relations and a suitable coordinate system to find coordinate expressions for  $\{\tilde{e}^i\}$  and cast the metric in a more familiar form (this is done, for example, in [50]). Summarizing, to build a spatially homogeneous cosmological model, we choose a Bianchi type, which then leads to a certain algebra of Killing vectors and invariant basis. We define a timelike vector orthogonal to the spatial hypersurfaces, and build an orthonormal basis which allows us to construct the metric (2.3.21).

A modern approach to the Bianchi classification applicable to Bianchi spaces with FLRW limit is given by the work in ref. [23]. It starts with one of the three possible 3dimensional maximally symmetric spaces: Euclidean (flat), hyperbolic (open, negatively curved) or spherical (closed, positively curved). In these spaces, one can identify six Killing vector fields, since they are maximally symmetric. These six Killing vectors are split into three translational Killing vectors  $\{T_i\}$  and three rotational Killing vectors  $\{R_i\}$ . Then, for each of the spaces one identifies the algebra of these vectors, i.e.,  $[T_i, T_j]$ ,  $[T_i, R_j]$  and  $[R_i, R_j]$ . For the vector fields associated with homogeneity, there is an ambiguity in their definition. Demanding  $\{T_i\}$  to have a close algebra still leaves the freedom to add rotations to them, i.e., we can perform

$$T_i \to K_i = T_i + \rho_i^j R_j, \qquad (2.3.22)$$

where  $\rho_i^j$  are constants. Then, for each maximally symmetric space, one exhaust all possible values of  $\rho_i^j$  which leads to a closed algebra, i.e.,  $[K_i, K_j] = C_{ij}^k K_k$ . Up to reparametrizations, in Euclidean spaces one has, e.g., that the allowed values of  $\rho_i^j$  are either  $\rho_i^j = 0$  for all i, j, or  $\rho_3^3 = 1$  and all other  $\rho_i^j = 0$ . The first case leads to a closed algebra  $[K_i, K_j] = C_{ij}^k K_k$  of the Bianchi I type, while the second leads to a Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub> type algebra. Demanding the space to be invariant under only  $\{K_i\}$  breaks the rotational symmetrics, and one then arrives at Bianchi spaces according to their maximally symmetric limits (see Table 1). The metric of these spaces must now be written using the invariant basis associated with  $\{K_i\}$ , i.e., the aforementioned  $\{e_i\}$ . This approach allows one to see how Bianchi models with FLRW limit naturally rise from maximally symmetric spaces.

# 3 Two point correlation functions in Bianchi spaces

We start with an informal description of what is meant by a two-point correlation function in a spacetime. For a rigorous and mathematically complete description of twopoint functions in Riemannian spaces, see ref. [51].

### 3.1 Basic formalism

A two-point function f on a manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  is simply a map that takes a pair of points  $(p,q) \in \mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}$  to a real number. Known examples in physics are Green's functions or the geodesic distance between two points. Here we shall be mainly interested in *correlation* functions, so we also demand f to be symmetric

$$f(p,q) = f(q,p)$$
 (3.1.1)

since correlation is clearly a pairwise concept. In most interesting situations in cosmology one is dealing with the correlation of random variables in spacetimes with some symmetries. Whenever these variables can be viewed as external fields over a fixed background (e.g., in linear cosmological perturbation theory), their statistical properties will inherit the symmetries of the underlying space. We would thus like to define an invariant correlation function with respect to these symmetries. As we have seen, symmetries are reflected in the existence of an isometry, which is a diffeomorphism  $\phi : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$  that keeps the metric of  $\mathcal{M}$  unchanged. A vector field  $\mathbf{K}$  is capable of generating a one-parameter family of diffeomorphisms  $\phi_t$  through its integral curves. From here on we use boldface on any vectors, one-forms and tensors to avoid confusion and differentiate them from their components. As we have seen in the previous chapter, if  $\phi_t$  is an isometry, then  $\mathbf{K}$  is a Killing vector field. Now, suppose that  $\mathcal{M}$  possesses an isometry represented by a one-parameter family of diffeomorphisms  $\phi_t$  that maps any point  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  to the point  $\phi_t(p) \in \mathcal{M}$  such that  $\phi_0(p) = p$ . Clearly, f will be invariant under this symmetry if

$$f(p,q) = f(\phi_t(p), \phi_t(q)).$$
(3.1.2)

In practice, though, one ultimately has to work in a specific coordinate system. Suppose  $\psi$  is a chart in an open interval in  $\mathcal{M}$ . Let us define the local representative  $\xi$  of f through

$$f \circ \psi^{-1} = f(\psi^{-1}(x_1^{\mu}), \psi^{-1}(x_2^{\mu})) \equiv \xi(x_1^{\mu}, x_2^{\mu}), \qquad (3.1.3)$$

where clearly  $x_1^{\mu} = [\psi(p)]^{\mu}$  and  $x_2^{\mu} = [\psi(q)]^{\mu}$ . In this way, the isometry maps the points  $x_{1,2}^{\mu}$  to (see Figure 2)

$$x_1^{\mu}(t) = [\psi \circ \phi_t(p)]^{\mu}, \qquad x_2^{\mu}(t) = [\psi \circ \phi_t(q)]^{\mu}.$$
(3.1.4)

Therefore, locally the condition (3.1.2) can be written as

$$\xi(x_1^{\mu}, x_2^{\mu}) = \xi(x_1^{\mu}(t), x_2^{\mu}(t)).$$
(3.1.5)

For an infinitesimal displacement along the isometry, we have that

$$x_{1,2}^{\mu}(t) = x_{1,2}^{\mu}(0) + \frac{dx_{1,2}^{\mu}}{dt}dt.$$
(3.1.6)

The vector  $\frac{dx_{1,2}^{\mu}}{dt}$  is tangent to the curve defined by the isometry, so  $K^{\mu} = \frac{dx^{\mu}}{dt}$  is the Killing vector associated with the isometry  $\phi_t$ . Plugging (3.1.6) in (3.1.5) and Taylor expanding to first order takes us to the condition

$$K^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\xi|_{1} + K^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\xi|_{2} = 0.$$
(3.1.7)

Notice that to find this condition we assumed that the points p and q in  $\mathcal{M}$  can be covered by the same coordinate chart. The condition above can be written in an equivalent manner recalling the action of a vector  $\mathbf{K}$  on a scalar  $\xi(x_1^{\mu}, x_2^{\mu})$ , i.e., (3.1.7) is equivalent to

$$\boldsymbol{K}(\xi) = 0. \tag{3.1.8}$$

Since a manifold usually presents several independent isometries, we generalize the above result to the set of equations

$$K^{\mu}_{A}\partial_{\mu}\xi|_{1} + K^{\mu}_{A}\partial_{\mu}\xi|_{2} = 0, \qquad (3.1.9)$$

where A runs from 1 to m, m being the dimension of  $\text{Isom}(\mathcal{M})$ , the set of all isometries of  $\mathcal{M}$ . As we will see, this set of equations completely determines the functional dependence of the 2pcf.



Figure 2 – Representation of the map between the manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  and a local patch in  $\Re^n$ . See text for details.

## 3.2 Examples: spatially flat FLRW and Minkowski spacetimes

Equations (3.1.9) form the core of our formalism. They will lead to a set of coupled first order partial differential equations which can be implicitly solved by means of the method of *characteristics curves* [45]. In order to illustrate the method let us consider a two-point function in a spatially flat FLRW universe; it could be, for example, the ensemble average of the gravitational potential at two points on the same time slice. Since the spatial slices of FLRW universes are maximally symmetric they possess six independent Killing vectors: three of translation ( $T_i$ ) and three of rotation ( $R_i$ ). In Cartesian coordinates these vectors read

$$T_i = \partial_i, \qquad R_i = \epsilon_{ijk} x^j \partial^k.$$
 (3.2.1)

The two point function in FLRW depends initially on six coordinates, i.e., on  $\xi = \xi(x_1, x_2, ..., z_2)$ . For the application of our method, it is more convenient to work with coordinates  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\pm} = (x_{\pm}, y_{\pm}, z_{\pm})$ , defined as

$$x_{\pm} = x_2 \pm x_1, \tag{3.2.2}$$

and equivalently for  $y_{\pm}$  and  $z_{\pm}$ , in such a way that now  $\xi = \xi(x_-, x_+, ..., z_+)$ . Let us start by analyzing the symmetry associated with the Killing vector  $\mathbf{T}_x = \partial_x = (1, 0, 0)$ . For this vector, the condition (3.1.9) reads

$$\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_2} = 0. \tag{3.2.3}$$

When written in the  $x_{\pm}$  coordinates, (3.2.3) turns into

$$\frac{\partial \xi}{\partial x_+} = 0. \tag{3.2.4}$$

From the above it is trivial to conclude that  $\xi$  cannot depend on  $x_+$ . This conclusion, however, will not be immediate for more complicated cases, so we will illustrate how this result follows from the method of characteristic curves. Let  $t^1$  be the parameter along the integral curves of  $\mathbf{T}_x$ , i.e., of the isometry generated by  $\mathbf{T}_x$ . Then, we can write  $\mathbf{T}_x = \frac{d}{dt}$ , and from eq. (3.1.8) we have

$$\frac{d\xi}{dt} = \dot{x}_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{-}} + \dot{x}_{+}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{+}} + \dots + \dot{z}_{+}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial z_{+}} = 0, \qquad (3.2.5)$$

where the overdot means partial derivatives with respect to t. Comparing eqs. (3.2.4) and (3.2.5) term by term, we see that

$$\dot{x}_{-} = \dot{y}_{-} = \dots = \dot{z}_{+} = 0, \qquad \dot{x}_{+} = 1,$$
(3.2.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> We will eventually use t or r as parameters along isometries to perform calculations; however, they are not related to neither the time coordinate nor the radial distance.

i.e., all coordinates are constant along the isometry except for  $x_+$ . Thus, since we want to impose invariance of the 2pcf with respect to the isometry generated by  $T_x$ ,  $\xi$  cannot depend on  $x_+$ . The same procedure can be easily applied to the other Killing vectors  $T_y$ and  $T_z$ , and then lead to the conclusion that  $\xi$  cannot depend either on  $y_+$  or on  $z_+$ . We can finally conclude that imposing translational invariance for a 2pcf in FLRW leads to the functional form  $\xi = \xi(x_-, y_-, z_-)$ .

Now, let us consider the rotational Killing vector  $\mathbf{R}_z = -y\partial_x + x\partial_y = (-y, x, 0)$ . The condition (3.1.9), already in  $\mathbf{x}_{\pm}$  coordinates, is given by

$$-y_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{-}} + x_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial y_{-}} = 0, \qquad (3.2.7)$$

where we made use of the previous conditions  $\frac{\partial \xi}{\partial x_+} = \frac{\partial \xi}{\partial y_+} = 0$  to arrive at the above. Let r be the parameter along the isometry generated by  $\mathbf{R}_z$ , i.e.,  $\mathbf{R}_z = \frac{d}{dr}$ . Again, from (3.1.8) we have that

$$\frac{d\xi}{dr} = \dot{x}_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{-}} + \dot{y}_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial y_{-}} + \dot{z}_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial z_{-}} = 0, \qquad (3.2.8)$$

where now the overdot means  $\frac{\partial}{\partial r}$ . Comparing these last two equations leads us to

$$\dot{x}_{-} = -y_{-}, \qquad \dot{y}_{-} = x_{-}, \qquad \dot{z}_{-} = 0.$$
 (3.2.9)

From the set of equations above, it is easy to see that  $z_{-}$  does not depend on r, but that, in a general manner,  $x_{-}$  and  $y_{-}$  do. However, it is possible, in this case, to find a combination of  $x_{-}$  and  $y_{-}$  independent of the parameter r. To see that, let us decouple the above equations noting that  $\ddot{x}_{-} = -\dot{y}_{-}$  and  $\ddot{y}_{-} = \dot{x}_{-}$ . We thus have

$$\ddot{x}_{-} = -x_{-}, \qquad \ddot{y}_{-} = -y_{-}.$$
 (3.2.10)

After an arbitrary phase choice, a general solution to the above equations is

$$x_{-} = A\cos r, \qquad y_{-} = A\sin r, \qquad (3.2.11)$$

where A is not necessarily a constant since it can still depend on the parameters related to other isometries. We can then see that the combination  $x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2 = A^2$  does not depend on r, in a way that imposing invariance to the 2pcf with respect to the isometry generated by  $\mathbf{R}_z$  restricts its functional form to  $\xi = \xi \left(\sqrt{x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2}, z_{-}\right)$ . The square root was put there in order to maintain the correct length dimension, and, as the above method illustrates,  $\sqrt{x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2} = A$  also does not depend on r. It remains to apply the other rotational Killing vectors. Let us continue with  $\mathbf{R}_y = z\partial_x - x\partial_z = (z, 0, -x)$ . Following the same steps as before we have

$$z_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{-}} - x_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial z_{-}} = 0.$$
(3.2.12)

Notice, however, that due to our previous calculations we know that  $x_{-}$  and  $y_{-}$  must appear in the specific combination  $(x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2)$  to be invariant by the already considered isometries. Thus, let us define  $u_{-}^2 \equiv x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2$ . In this manner, the above equation turns into

$$\frac{z_- x_-}{u_-} \frac{\partial \xi}{\partial u_-} - x_- \frac{\partial \xi}{\partial z_-} = 0.$$
(3.2.13)

Again, let s be the parameter along the integral curves of  $\mathbf{R}_y$ . Expanding  $\frac{d\xi}{ds}$  as a total derivative and comparing it term by term to eq. (3.2.13), we have that

$$u_{-}\dot{u}_{-} = z_{-}x_{-}, \qquad \dot{z}_{-} = -x_{-}.$$
 (3.2.14)

To find the s independent combination, let us rewrite the above equations as  $u_-\dot{u}_- = -z_-\dot{z}_-$ , which then leads to

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\left(u_{-}^{2}+z_{-}^{2}\right)=0.$$
(3.2.15)

Thus,  $u_{-}^2 + z_{-}^2 = x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2 + z_{-}^2$  does not depend on the parameter s. Finally, the 2pcf that is invariant under the isometries of FLRW spacetime is given by

$$\xi_{FL} = \xi_{FL} \left( \sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2 + z_-^2} \right), \qquad (3.2.16)$$

which is the expected result. Notice that we did not need to use the third rotational Killing vector  $\mathbf{R}_x$  to fix the functional dependence. This happens because invariance under the isometry associated with  $\mathbf{R}_x$  is guaranteed by the algebra of the rotational Killing vectors  $(\mathbf{R}_x = [\mathbf{R}_z, \mathbf{R}_y])$ . Let us introduce the notation  $\mathbf{r}_{1,2} = (x_{1,2}, y_{1,2}, z_{1,2})$  so we can write  $\xi_{FL} = \xi_{FL} (|\mathbf{r}_2 - \mathbf{r}_1|)$ , or, in a more compact manner,  $\xi_{FL} = \xi_{FL}(r_-)$ . While we are in the topic of correlation functions in FLRW, it is worth mentioning that in the context of CMB perturbations for large angles, the solution above reads

$$\xi_{FL} = \xi_{FL} \left( \Delta \eta \sqrt{2 - 2\cos\gamma} \right), \qquad (3.2.17)$$

where  $\gamma$  is the angle between  $\mathbf{r}_1$  and  $\mathbf{r}_2$  and  $\Delta \eta$  is the distance to the last scattering surface.

We would like to illustrate that the above method also works for symmetries associated with temporal translations. To do that, let us extend what was done for FLRW to the Minkowski spacetime, where, apart from the six Killing vectors present on FLRW, there are four more Killing vectors, one associated with time translations ( $T_t$ , where t represents the time coordinate) and three corresponding to the boost symmetries ( $B_i$ ). Let us use a standard Cartesian coordinate system and notice that, imposing invariance with respect to spatial translations and rotations already leads to

$$\xi = \xi \left( t_{1,} t_{2}, \sqrt{x_{-}^{2} + y_{-}^{2} + z_{-}^{2}} \right).$$
(3.2.18)

We hope it is clear that imposing invariance with respect to time translations leads to  $\xi = \xi \left(t_{-,}, \sqrt{x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2 + z_{-}^2}\right)$ . Let us now impose invariance with respect to the boost

symmetries. We start with the Killing vector  $\mathbf{B}_x = x\partial_t + t\partial_x = (x, t, 0, 0)$ . Equation (3.1.9) for this case is given by

$$x_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial t_{-}} + t_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{-}} = 0.$$
(3.2.19)

Plugging  $r_{-}^2 = x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2 + z_{-}^2$  in the above gives

$$x_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial t_{-}} + \frac{t_{-}x_{-}}{r_{-}}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial r_{-}} = 0.$$
(3.2.20)

Let u be the parameter along the integral curve of  $B_x$ . Once more, expanding the total derivative  $\frac{d\xi}{du}$  and comparing term by term with the above gives

$$\dot{t}_{-} = x_{-}, \qquad r_{-}\dot{r}_{-} = t_{-}x_{-}.$$
 (3.2.21)

Both equations above can be rewritten as  $r_{-}\dot{r}_{-} = t_{-}\dot{t}_{-}$ , which leads to

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u} \left( -t_{-}^{2} + r_{-}^{2} \right) = 0.$$
 (3.2.22)

Thus, the 2pcf in Minkowski spacetime assumes the form

$$\xi_M = \xi_M \left( \sqrt{-t_-^2 + x_-^2 + y_-^2 + z_-^2} \right).$$
(3.2.23)

It is expected that the 2pcf invariant under Minkowsky symmetries only depends on the geodesic distance between two points in this spacetime since it is a maximally symmetric one. Once more, the algebra of the boost Killing vectors allows fixing the functional dependence of the 2pcf demanding invariance with respect to only one of them.

What has been done so far allows us to fix only the *functional* dependence of the 2pcf. However, when a spacetime has a scaling (or conformal) symmetry, the associated Killing vectors further constrain the 2pcf, and completely fix its *shape*, up to a global constant. This is the case, e.g., for Minkowski spacetime. A conformal Killing vector K will satisfy the conformal Killing equation

$$\mathcal{L}_K g = \lambda g \tag{3.2.24}$$

for some function  $\lambda$ . In Minkowski spacetime, one can easily check that  $K = x^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}$  is a conformal Killing vector with  $\lambda = 1$ . A 2pcf will be conformal invariant if it satisfies

$$K^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\xi|_{1} + K^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\xi|_{2} = -\omega\xi \qquad (3.2.25)$$

for some constant weight  $\omega$ . Let us write the geodesic distance in Minkowski as  $\mu_-$ . Then, the above reduces to

$$\mu_{-}\frac{d\xi_M}{d\mu_{-}} = -\omega\xi_M, \qquad (3.2.26)$$

a solution of which is

$$\xi_M = \frac{C(\omega)}{\mu_-^{\omega}},\tag{3.2.27}$$

where C is a constant of integration. Notice that, apart from C and  $\omega$ , we were able to fully fix the shape of the 2pcf. In cosmology, a de Sitter phase leads to exact scaling symmetry of the spacetime, which can be used to constrain Gaussian [43] and non-Gaussian correlators [44].

# 3.3 General solution

We will present here a general solution to eq. (3.1.7). For the sake of simplicity, we will treat first the case of a manifold possessing only one Killing vector field. First, notice that the Lie derivative of the 2pcf (which is a scalar) in the direction of the Killing vector  $\boldsymbol{K}$  is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{K}}\boldsymbol{\xi} = \boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{\xi}). \tag{3.3.1}$$

Therefore, the condition (3.1.8) is equivalent to  $\mathcal{L}_{K}\xi = 0$ . Let us suppose for the moment that there exists a vector  $\boldsymbol{e}$  that commutes with  $\boldsymbol{K}$ , i.e.,

$$[\boldsymbol{K}, \boldsymbol{e}] = \mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{K}} \boldsymbol{e} = 0. \tag{3.3.2}$$

If this is the case, then we can show that

$$\xi = \xi \left( \int_{r_1}^{r_2} \sqrt{g_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu} e^{\nu}} dr \right)$$
(3.3.3)

is a general solution to eq. (3.1.8), where r is the parameter along the curve tangent to  $\boldsymbol{e}$ , i.e., along the integral curves of  $\boldsymbol{e}$ . Since  $\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{K}}\boldsymbol{e} = 0$ ,  $\boldsymbol{e}$  is a vector that connects two close points on different curves generated by  $\boldsymbol{K}$  (Figure 3). This is called a connecting vector.



Figure 3 – Schematic representation of two points p, q on the manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  connected by the vector  $\boldsymbol{e}$  and dragged by the isometry  $\phi_t$ , which in turn is generated by the Killing vector  $\boldsymbol{K}$ .

To show that (3.3.3) is indeed a solution to (3.1.8), notice that  $\int_{r_1}^{r_2} \sqrt{g_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}e^{\nu}}dr$  is a scalar, therefore the Lie derivative (which acts on scalars simply as a partial derivative) can trivially go through the integration sign. It remains to show that  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{K}}(g_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}e^{\nu}) = 0$ , from which it follows that  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{K}}\left[\xi\left(\int_{r_1}^{r_2}\sqrt{g_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}e^{\nu}}dr\right)\right] = 0$  (once more, since  $\xi$  is also a scalar, the chain rule trivially applies here), and then condition (3.1.8) will be satisfied. Since the Lie derivative also abides by the product rule, we have that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{K}}\left(g_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}e^{\nu}\right) = \left(\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{K}}\boldsymbol{g}\right)_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}e^{\nu} + 2g_{\mu\nu}\left(\mathcal{L}_{\boldsymbol{K}}\boldsymbol{e}\right)^{\mu}e^{\nu} = 0 \qquad (3.3.4)$$

where the first term is zero because, since K is a Killing vector,  $\mathcal{L}_{K}g = 0$ , and the second term is also zero by means of eq. (3.3.2). However, we depend on our ability to find a vector e which satisfies (3.3.2). This is not trivial for most spacetimes but as we have discussed in the section on Lie algebras it can be easily done for Bianchi spacetimes. In general, a manifold usually has more than one Killing vector field. In these cases, it will be necessary to find a set of independent  $\{e_A\}$  commuting with the Killing vectors  $\{K_B\}$ . Therefore, a general solution to the set of equations (3.1.9) is given by

$$\xi = \xi \left( \int_{r_1}^{r_2} \sqrt{g_{\mu\nu} e_1^{\mu} e_1^{\nu}} dr, \int_{s_1}^{s_2} \sqrt{g_{\mu\nu} e_2^{\mu} e_2^{\nu}} ds, \dots \right),$$
(3.3.5)

where there are as many arguments as many vectors  $e_A$  one can find satisfying (3.3.2).

This solution is particularly useful for the Bianchi class of spacetimes. As we have seen, Bianchi geometries are spatially homogeneous but anisotropic, possessing a set of three Killing vector fields  $\{\mathbf{K}_i\}$  that satisfies the closed algebra  $[\mathbf{K}_i, \mathbf{K}_j] = C_{ij}^k \mathbf{K}_k$ . The metric of these spaces is usually built from an invariant basis of vectors  $\{\mathbf{e}_i\}$  which satisfies the condition  $[\mathbf{K}_i, \mathbf{e}_j] = 0$ . We shall write the general Bianchi metric from eq. (2.3.21) now with a standard parametrization for the spatial part of the metric  $g_{ij}(t)$  [19, 52]. It is given by

$$ds^{2} = -dt \otimes dt + e^{2\alpha(t)} \left( e^{2\beta(t)} \right)_{ij} \tilde{\boldsymbol{e}}^{i} \otimes \tilde{\boldsymbol{e}}^{j}, \qquad (3.3.6)$$

where t is the parameter along the unit timelike, hypersurface orthogonal vector  $\mathbf{n}$ ,  $\{\tilde{\mathbf{e}}^i\}$  are the duals of  $\{\mathbf{e}_i\}$ ,  $e^{\alpha(t)}$  is the average scale factor and  $(e^{2\beta(t)})_{ij}$  is a  $3 \times 3$  symmetric and traceless matrix whose diagonal elements are directional scale factors. In this parametrization, alpha represents the shape-preserving volume expansion, while beta is the volume-preserving shape expansion. Using the above, we have that for Bianchi space-times

$$g_{\mu\nu}e_i^{\mu}e_i^{\nu} = e^{2\alpha(t)}e^{2\beta_{ii}(t)}, \qquad (3.3.7)$$

where in the above there is no sum in the index i. This implies that

$$\int_{r_1}^{r_2} \sqrt{g_{\mu\nu}} e_1^{\mu} e_1^{\nu} dr = e^{\alpha(t)} e^{\beta_{11}(t)} (r_2 - r_1), \qquad (3.3.8)$$

with similar expressions for the two other arguments. Thus, we have arrived at a formal expression for the 2pcf which is invariant under the symmetries of any Bianchi spacetime:

$$\xi = \xi \left( e^{\alpha(t)} e^{\beta_{11}(t)} (r_2 - r_1), e^{\alpha(t)} e^{\beta_{22}(t)} (s_2 - s_1), e^{\alpha(t)} e^{\beta_{33}(t)} (u_2 - u_1) \right).$$
(3.3.9)

To convert this function to one valid in an specific coordinate system we have to find the parametric curves of the vectors  $e_i$  in the desired coordinates and invert these relations to obtain the parameters as a function of the coordinates. Of course, the success of this procedure depends on the coordinate system chosen. We will illustrate this method with explicit examples in next section, where we find  $\xi$  for the geometries of Bianchi I and VII<sub>0</sub> universes using the general solution presented here.

## 3.4 Applications

We are now in position to put the above formalism to practical use. We start with the example of an inhomogeneous universe with an off-center special point around which it is spherically symmetric. This could be seen as an off-center LTB spacetime, though in reality any spherically symmetric spacetime with a privileged point (e.g., Schwarzschild spacetime, whose privileged point is usually the origin) will lead to the same 2pcf functional dependence. Then, we consider two anisotropic spacetimes with spatially flat spatial sections – namely, the models of Bianchi I and VII<sub>0</sub>. They were chosen initially for they are spatially flat, which makes calculations easier and clearer, and also because in an appropriate limit they fall into a flat FLRW universe (note that not all Bianchi models have FLRW limit - see Table 1). We derive the FLRW limit of the 2pcf with first order corrections in both cases. At last, we connect these results with the temperature covariance matrix of CMB fluctuations in the large angle limit, where the Sachs-Wolfe effect is enough to account for the CMB spectrum.

#### 3.4.1 Universe with a special point

The 2pcf of an universe with a special point was studied from a phenomenological point of view in ref. [38]. Recently, the effect of a spherically symmetric off-centered void on the frequency and polarization of CMB photons was investigated in ref. [53]. One of the main interests in LTB-like universes is that they can mimic dark energy effects without the need to modify General Relativity [54]; however, recent investigations do not seem to support this scenario [6, 7].

Here, we model a spherically symmetric universe with an off-centered<sup>2</sup> privileged point through its Killing vectors. Suppose  $\boldsymbol{w} = (a, b, c)$  represents the coordinates of the special, off-centered point with respect to the origin of a coordinate chart on this universe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> We allow the special point to be away from the origin since, if we were to live in such a universe, the Earth could as well be away from the privileged point. Hence, observers at Earth would be stuck to their off-centered position to perform measurements.

Then, the only symmetries present are three rotations about the special point  $\boldsymbol{w}$ . They are represented by the Killing vectors

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{i} = \epsilon_{ijk} \left( x^{j} - w^{j} \right) \partial^{k}. \tag{3.4.1}$$

Let us apply condition (3.1.9) initially for the Killing vector  $\mathbf{R}_z = (-y + b, x - a, 0)$ . Already in  $\mathbf{x}_{\pm}$  coordinates, we have

$$-(y_{-}-2b)\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{+}} - y_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{-}} + (x_{+}-2a)\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial y_{+}} + x_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial y_{-}} = 0.$$
(3.4.2)

Let r be the parameter along the integral curves of  $\mathbf{R}_z$ . Comparing the above equation with the total derivative expansion of  $\frac{d\xi}{dr} = 0$  we have

$$\dot{x}_{+} = -y_{-} + 2b$$
  $\dot{y}_{+} = x_{+} - 2a$ ,  $\dot{x}_{-} = y_{-}$ ,  $\dot{y}_{-} = x_{-}$ ,  $\dot{z}_{\pm} = 0.$  (3.4.3)

Decoupling and solving these equations in the same manner as before, we find that combinations  $u_{-}^2 = x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2$  and  $v_{+}^2 = (x_{+} - 2a)^2 + (y_{+} - 2b)^2$  are independent from parameter r. With these results at hand, we apply condition (3.1.9) to the Killing vector  $\mathbf{R}_y = (z - c, 0, -x + a)$ . We arrive at

$$\frac{z_{-}x_{-}}{u_{-}}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial u_{-}} + \frac{(z_{+}-2c)(x_{+}-2a)}{v_{+}}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial v_{+}} - (x_{+}-2a)\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial z_{+}} - x_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial z_{-}} = 0.$$
(3.4.4)

Let s be the parameter along the curves of  $\mathbf{R}_y$ . Comparing the above with  $\frac{d\xi}{ds} = 0$  gives

$$u_{-}\dot{u} = z_{-}x_{-}, \quad \dot{z}_{-} = -x_{-}, \quad v_{+}\dot{v}_{+} = (z_{+} - 2c)(x_{+} - 2a), \quad \dot{z}_{+} = -x_{+} + 2a.$$
 (3.4.5)

Using the first and second equations above, we find that  $u_{-}^2 + z_{-}^2$  is an *s*-independent combination, and using the third and fourth we find  $v_{+}^2 + (z_{+} - 2c)^2$  is another. Thus, the invariant 2pcf is dependent on

$$\sqrt{u_{-}^2 + z_{-}^2} = \sqrt{x_{-}^2 + y_{-}^2 + z_{-}^2}, \qquad (3.4.6)$$

$$\sqrt{v_{+}^{2} + (z_{+} - 2c)^{2}} = \sqrt{(x_{+} - 2a)^{2} + (y_{+} - 2b)^{2} + (z_{+} - 2c)^{2}}.$$
 (3.4.7)

Recalling the definition of  $\mathbf{r}_{1,2} = (x_{1,2}, y_{1,2}, z_{1,2})$  and with a handful of algebra maneuvers, we rewrite the functional dependence of the 2pcf as

$$\xi_w = \xi_w \left( |\mathbf{r}_2 - \mathbf{r}_1|, \sqrt{|\mathbf{r}_2 - \mathbf{w}|^2 + |\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{w}|^2 + 2(\mathbf{r}_2 - \mathbf{w}) \cdot (\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{w})} \right), \qquad (3.4.8)$$

or, in a more simplified manner, as

$$\xi_w = \xi_w \left( |\boldsymbol{r}_2 - \boldsymbol{r}_1|, |\boldsymbol{r}_2 + \boldsymbol{r}_1 - 2\boldsymbol{w}| \right).$$
(3.4.9)

This result is compatible with the one found heuristically by the authors of ref. [38], however, our formalism shows that the 2pcf obeying the LTB symmetries are more restrict

than the one found by the authors of this reference. Still, this difference does not affect their conclusions since most of them were made using the Fourier transformed version of the 2pcf (i.e., the power spectrum).



Figure 4 – Schematic representation of an universe with a special off-centered point Qaway from the origin P by a distance  $\boldsymbol{w}$ . In this universe, the correlation between two photons coming from positions A and B can only depend on  $|\boldsymbol{r}_2 - \boldsymbol{r}_1|$  and  $|\boldsymbol{r}_2 + \boldsymbol{r}_1 - 2\boldsymbol{w}|$ .

Before moving forward, we would like to make two comments regarding the solution (3.4.9). First, it may not seem at first glance that this solution recovers the FLRW case (eq. (3.2.16)) when  $\boldsymbol{w} = 0$ . That is because (3.4.9) is only invariant with respect to rotations. To recover the FLRW solution one must, after making  $\boldsymbol{w} = 0$ , impose invariance with respect to the translational Killing vectors  $\boldsymbol{T}_i$ . As we have seen, this imposition prohibits the coordinates  $(x_+, y_+, z_+)$  from appearing in the functional dependence of the 2pcf. However, we can easily write the 2pcf of an inhomogeneous spacetime that is spherically symmetric around the origin. That is done by making  $\boldsymbol{w} = 0$  in eq. (3.4.9) and gives

$$\xi_0 = \xi_0 \left( |\boldsymbol{r}_2 - \boldsymbol{r}_1|, |\boldsymbol{r}_2 + \boldsymbol{r}_1| \right), \qquad (3.4.10)$$

which is functionally equivalent to  $\xi_0 = \xi_0 (r_1, r_2, \hat{r}_1 \cdot \hat{r}_2)$ , since the only angle appearing in (3.4.10) is the angle between  $r_1$  and  $r_2$ . This last functional form is more commonly found in the LTB related literature. Second, as mentioned in [38], the solution (3.4.9) respects a global translational symmetry of the form

$$\boldsymbol{r}_{1,2} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{r}_{1,2} + \boldsymbol{a}, \qquad \boldsymbol{w} \rightarrow \boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{a}$$
 (3.4.11)

for any vector  $\boldsymbol{a}$ . This symmetry will prove to be useful further.

We have concluded the task of finding the 2pcf in an universe with a special, offcentered point. The question of whether we actually live close to an off-center spherically symmetric universe can be tested by measuring off-diagonal terms in the covariance matrix of CMB temperature fluctuations. Since we know that our universe is very close to FLRW, we can test this hypothesis by deriving the FLRW limit of eq. (3.4.9), including leading order corrections. To do that we first introduce the variables

$$\boldsymbol{r}_{\pm} = \boldsymbol{r}_2 \pm \boldsymbol{r}_1.$$
 (3.4.12)

Now, notice that the desired limit of eq. (3.4.9) involves the expansion of two independent parameters,  $|\boldsymbol{w}|$  and  $r_+ = |\boldsymbol{r}_+|$ . Let us start with the first. Assuming  $|\boldsymbol{w}| \ll 1$ , we have that

$$|\mathbf{r}_{+} - 2\mathbf{w}| = \sqrt{r_{+}^{2} - 4\mathbf{r}_{+} \cdot \mathbf{w} + 4|\mathbf{w}|^{2}}$$
(3.4.13)

$$= r_{+} - \frac{2r_{+} \cdot \boldsymbol{w}}{r_{+}} + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{w}|^{2}), \qquad (3.4.14)$$

that is, to first order

$$|\boldsymbol{r}_{+}-2\boldsymbol{w}|\approx r_{+}-2\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_{+}\cdot\boldsymbol{w},$$
 (3.4.15)

where  $\hat{n}_+$  is the unitary vector in the direction of  $r_+$ . Thus,

$$\xi_w \approx \xi_w \left( r_-, r_+ - 2\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_+ \cdot \boldsymbol{w} \right) \tag{3.4.16}$$

$$=\xi_{0}(r_{-},r_{+})-2\frac{\partial\xi_{0}(r_{-},r_{+})}{r_{+}}\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_{+}\cdot\boldsymbol{w}+\cdots$$
(3.4.17)

Moving on, let us assume that  $\xi_0(r_-, r_+)$  changes weakly with respect to the parameter  $r_+$ , i.e., the deviation of  $\xi_0(r_-, r_+)$  with respect to homogeneity is small. We then have

$$\xi_0(r_-, r_+) = \xi_0(r_-, 0) + \frac{\partial \xi_0(r_-, 0)}{\partial r_+}r_+ + \cdots$$
(3.4.18)

It is important to notice that, first, we are also treating  $r_{-}$  and  $r_{+}$  as independent parameters, and second, we are not assuming  $r_{+}$  is small. In fact, in the context of CMB temperature fluctuations, this will hardly be the case since for coinciding points on the CMB last scattering surface we have that  $r_{+} = 2\Delta\eta$ , where  $\Delta\eta$  is the distance to the last scattering surface. Assuming  $\xi_{0}$  changes weakly with respect to  $r_{+}$  implies, as mentioned, that the deviation from homogeneity is small, i.e., that

$$\frac{\partial\xi_0\left(r_-,0\right)}{\partial r_+} = \frac{\partial x_+}{\partial r_+} \frac{\partial\xi_0\left(r_-,0\right)}{\partial x_+} + \frac{\partial y_+}{\partial r_+} \frac{\partial\xi_0\left(r_-,0\right)}{\partial y_+} + \frac{\partial z_+}{\partial r_+} \frac{\partial\xi_0\left(r_-,0\right)}{\partial z_+} \tag{3.4.19}$$

$$= \frac{r_{+}}{2} \left\{ \frac{1}{x_{+}} \boldsymbol{T}_{x} \left[ \xi_{0} \left( r_{-}, 0 \right) \right] + \frac{1}{y_{+}} \boldsymbol{T}_{y} \left[ \xi_{0} \left( r_{-}, 0 \right) \right] + \frac{1}{z_{+}} \boldsymbol{T}_{z} \left[ \xi_{0} \left( r_{-}, 0 \right) \right] \right\}, \quad (3.4.20)$$

where  $\mathbf{T}_i [\xi_0 (r_-, 0)]$  is meant to represent the action of the vector  $\mathbf{T}_i$  on the scalar function  $\xi_0 (r_-, 0)$ . Thus, we are in fact assuming that  $\mathbf{T}_i [\xi_0 (r_-, 0)] = \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{T}_i} \xi_0 (r_-, 0) \ll 1$  for all *i*, i.e., dragging  $\xi_0 (r_-, 0)$  along translation isometries changes it only slightly. Since  $\xi_0 (r_-, 0)$  does not depend on  $r_+$  (neither on  $|\mathbf{w}|$ ), we can write  $\xi_0 (r_-, 0) = \xi_{FL}(r_-)$ . Finally, collecting the expansion terms to first order gives

$$\xi_w = \xi_{FL}(r_-) + \frac{\partial \xi_0(r_-, 0)}{\partial r_+} \left( r_+ - 2\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_+ \cdot \boldsymbol{w} \right), \qquad (3.4.21)$$

which is the desired result.

To extract the amplitude of the corrections we still need the specific form of the function  $\xi_0(r_-, r_+)$ , which can only be fixed from first principles [42, 53, 55]. Notice, however, that the first correction in (3.4.21) (which is the term proportional to  $r_+$ ) does not bring us any new information when compared to (3.2.17), since its angular dependence is associated with the angle between  $r_2$  and  $r_1$ . This term is a monopole-type contribution and can only alter the amplitude of the isotropic temperature spectrum; it will not induce off-diagonal terms in the CMB correlation matrix. On the other hand, the second correction above leads to a dipolar modulation in the 2pcf due to presence of the angle between  $\hat{n}_+$  and w; this implies non-zero  $\ell, \ell + 1$  correlations in the CMB covariance matrix.

#### 3.4.2 Bianchi I and $VII_0$

To find the functional dependence of the 2pcf in the Bianchi universe, we use the general solution (3.3.9) which we showed satisfies the condition (3.1.9). Solving the set of equations (3.1.9) directly would generate the same results, apart from the dependence on the directional scale factors we find in the following.

Let us begin with Bianchi I. Since it is spatially flat (this will also apply to Bianchi  $VII_0$ ), we can use the simple Cartesian coordinate system of Euclidean space. The three translational Killing vectors of this space are then given by

$$T_x = (1, 0, 0),$$
  $T_y = (0, 1, 0),$   $T_z = (0, 0, 1).$  (3.4.22)

The set of invariant basis vectors  $\{e_i\}$  that satisfy  $[T_i, e_j] = 0$  are simply [23, 50]

$$e_1 = (1, 0, 0),$$
  $e_2 = (0, 1, 0),$   $e_3 = (0, 0, 1).$  (3.4.23)

A systematic way of finding them for any Bianchi model is to choose a coordinate system and then solve the equations  $[\mathbf{T}_i, \mathbf{e}_j] = 0$  subject to the initial conditions  $\mathbf{T}_i|_0 = \mathbf{e}_i|_0$ .

Let us, then, solve the integral curves of  $e_1$ . To do that, we write  $e_1 = \frac{dx}{dr}$  and solve it for x(r) component by component. It is not hard to see that the solution will be x = r, y = z = const. In this case, it is trivial to invert the relation between the parameters and the coordinates, and we find that  $r_2 - r_1 = x_2 - x_1 = x_-$ . Solving for  $e_{2,3}$  follows similarly, allowing us to write  $s_2 - s_1 = y_-$  and  $t_2 - t_1 = z_-$ . Plugging these results in the general solution (3.3.9) gives us the 2pcf invariant under Bianchi I symmetries:

$$\xi_I = \xi_I \left( e^{\alpha(t)} e^{\beta_{11}(t)} x_-, e^{\alpha(t)} e^{\beta_{22}(t)} y_-, e^{\alpha(t)} e^{\beta_{33}(t)} z_- \right).$$
(3.4.24)

Observational evidences show that our universe is very close to isotropic [4, 5, 9]. Therefore, we can find the FLRW limit of  $\xi_I$  expanding the 2pcf above around  $\beta_{ii} = 0$ . First, let us make  $e^{\beta_{ii}} \approx 1 + \beta_{ii}$  inside the arguments of (3.4.24). Performing a Taylor expansion in the resulting 2pcf gives

$$\xi_I = \xi_I(x_-, y_-, z_-) + \left(\beta_{11}x_-\frac{\partial}{\partial x_-} + \beta_{22}y_-\frac{\partial}{\partial y_-} + \beta_{33}z_-\frac{\partial}{\partial z_-}\right)\xi_I(x_-, y_-, z_-) + \cdots \quad (3.4.25)$$

where, from now on, we will omit the functional dependence on  $\alpha$  for the sake of simplicity since this factor does not enter our calculations. To go on, we must notice that in the above expression the failure to satisfy rotational invariance is entirely dependent on  $\beta_{ii}$ factors, in the sense that complete rotational invariance is recovered exactly when  $\beta_{ii} = 0$ . Thus, for example, if we apply  $\mathbf{R}_z$  to the 2pcf above we find

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{z}(\xi_{I}) = \boldsymbol{R}_{z}(\xi_{I}(x_{-}, y_{-}, z_{-})) + \beta_{11}(\cdots) + \beta_{22}(\cdots) + \beta_{33}(\cdots), \qquad (3.4.26)$$

where the terms in parenthesis are of the form  $x_-\partial_{y_-}(x_-\partial_{x_-}\xi_I)$  and so on, but which are irrelevant to this discussion. The important point is that the right hand side of (3.4.26) is linear in  $\beta_{ii}$ . Therefore, for  $\xi_I$  to be invariant under rotations to zeroth order, it is necessary that  $\mathbf{R}_z(\xi_I(x_-, y_-, z_-)) = 0$ . Repeating the same analysis for  $\mathbf{R}_{x,y}$  leads us to the condition

$$\xi_I(x_-, y_-, z_-) = \xi_{FL}(r_-). \tag{3.4.27}$$

Thus, the FLRW limit of (3.4.24), including first order anisotropic corrections, is given by

$$\xi_I = \xi_{FL} + \frac{1}{r_-} \frac{\partial \xi_{FL}}{\partial r_-} \left( \beta_{11} x_-^2 + \beta_{22} y_-^2 + \beta_{33} z_-^2 \right).$$
(3.4.28)

As we shall see, this function will introduce quadrupole corrections on the CMB statistics, which is a well known fact in the literature [23, 24, 56, 25]. However, the 2pcf above does not alter the isotropic spectrum.

The space of Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub> also presents a spatially flat FLRW limit when  $\beta_{ii} = 0$ . The isometries of this space can be seen as two orthogonal displacements on the xy plane, and a displacement on the z axis followed by a rotation on the xy plane [23] (see Figure 5). In Cartesian coordinates, the three Killing vectors are given by [50]

$$T_x = (1, 0, 0),$$
  $T_y = (0, 1, 0),$   $T_z = (-y, x, 1).$  (3.4.29)

The set of invariant basis vectors that commute with  $T_i$  are [23, 50]

$$e_1 = (\cos z, \sin z, 0),$$
  $e_2 = (-\sin z, \cos z, 0),$   $e_3 = (0, 0, 1).$  (3.4.30)



Figure 5 – Integral curves of the Killing vectors (i.e., the isometries) in Bianchi  $VII_0$ .

The integral curves of the first invariant vector  $e_1$  are given by

$$x(r) = x_0 + r\cos z_0,$$
  $y(r) = y_0 + r\sin z_0,$   $z(r) = z_0.$  (3.4.31)

It is simple to invert the relations above to find the parameter r as a function of the coordinates. First, notice that  $x_{-} = (r_2 - r_1)\cos z_0$  and  $y_{-} = (r_2 - r_1)\sin z_0$ . Then,

$$r_2 - r_1 = \sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2}.$$
(3.4.32)

The integral curves of  $e_2$  are similar, yielding  $s_2 - s_1 = \sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2}$ , and for  $e_3$  we have seen the result is trivially  $t_2 - t_1 = z_-$ . Thus, the invariant 2pcf in Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub> is

$$\xi_{VII_0} = \xi_{VII_0} \left( e^{\alpha(\tau)} e^{\beta_{11}(\tau)} \sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2}, e^{\alpha(\tau)} e^{\beta_{22}(\tau)} \sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2}, e^{\alpha(\tau)} e^{\beta_{33}(\tau)} z_- \right).$$
(3.4.33)

The isotropic limit of  $\xi_{VII_0}$  follows from the same discussion in the Bianchi I case, with the slight difference that, at lowest order,  $\xi_{VII_0}$  is already invariant under  $\mathbf{R}_z$  rotations due to the isometries of Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub>. Then,

$$\xi_{VII_0}\left(\sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2}, \sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2}, z_-\right) = \xi_{FL}(r_-), \qquad (3.4.34)$$

and the expansion around  $\beta_{ii} = 0$  gives

$$\xi_{VII_0} = \xi_{FL} + \frac{1}{r_-} \frac{\partial \xi_{FL}}{\partial r_-} \left[ (\beta_{11} + \beta_{22})(x_-^2 + y_-^2) + \beta_{33} z_-^2 \right].$$
(3.4.35)

#### 3.4.3 CMB covariance matrix

The equations (3.4.9), (3.4.24) and (3.4.33), together with their FLRW limits, are the first main results from the previous sections. We emphasize that these results are completely general and can be equally applied to large scale structure as well as to CMB physics. Here, we shall be interested in the latter, henceforth we would like to derive the multipolar expansion of eqs. (3.4.21), (3.4.25) and (3.4.35). For the case of an LTB universe with an off-centered point, performing this expansion is not trivial due to the mutual dependence on the parameters  $r_{-}$  and  $r_{+}$  in eq. (3.4.21), therefore we postpone this analysis to future works. As we shall see, for the Bianchi cases it will be possible to find these expansions and associate them to the temperature fluctuation covariance matrix of the CMB in the limit of large angles. In these scales, the dominant contribution is given by the Sachs-Wolfe temperature fluctuation effect. This effect is due to a gravitational redshift that photons experience on the last scattering surface, and it is given by [57]

$$\frac{\Delta T}{T}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \frac{\Phi(\boldsymbol{r})}{3},\tag{3.4.36}$$

where  $\Phi$  is the gravitational potential of a perturbed FLRW metric. To compute all the effects of anisotropic geometries on the CMB, one must also take into account the time evolution of the gravitational potential, photon collisional effects and secondary processes as reionization. Clearly, the formalism presented here does not allow for a treatment of such effects since it is a formalism based only on a space's geometries and symmetries. On the other hand, we can imagine a scenario in which the asymmetries of the early universe are erased through inflation, but where the quantum fluctuations preserve these asymmetries in the statistics of the gravitational potential  $\Phi$ . The works in refs. [24, 37, 25] make use of the same scenario to tackle different issues. Thus, in this scenario, the CMB statistics preserve signals from these primordial asymmetries, and we assume the subsequent evolution of the universe is isotropic.

To extract multipoles from the 2pcf in eqs. (3.4.25) and (3.4.35), let us call the correlation functions of Bianchi I and VII<sub>0</sub> collectively as  $\xi(\mathbf{r}_{-})$ , since in both cases the dependence rests on the terms  $r_{-}$ ,  $x_{-}$ , $y_{-}$  and  $z_{-}$ . We can thus expand them collectively in spherical harmonics as

$$\xi(\mathbf{r}_{-}) = \sum_{\ell m} \xi_{\ell m}(r_{-}) Y_{\ell m}(\hat{\mathbf{n}}_{-}), \qquad (3.4.37)$$

where  $\xi_{\ell m}(r_{-})$  are the expansion coefficients,  $Y_{\ell m}(\hat{n}_{-})$  are the usual spherical harmonics and  $\hat{n}_{-}$  is the unit vector in the  $r_{-}$  direction. To continue, let us introduce spherical coordinates such that

$$\boldsymbol{r}_{-} = r_{-} \left( \sin\theta \cos\phi, \sin\theta \sin\phi, \cos\theta \right), \qquad (3.4.38)$$

which allows us to extract the coefficients  $\xi_{\ell m}(r_{-})$  from equations (3.4.25) and (3.4.35). The results are collected in Table 2.

Geometry	$\xi_{00}/\sqrt{4\pi}$	$\xi_{20}$	$\xi_{22}$
Bianchi I	$\xi_{FL}$	$\beta_{33}\sqrt{\frac{4\pi}{5}}r\partial_{r}\xi_{FL}$	$\left(\beta_{11} - \beta_{22}\right)\sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{15}}r\partial_{r}\xi_{FL}$
Bianchi VII <sub>0</sub>	$\xi_{FL} - \frac{1}{3}\beta_{33}r\partial_{r}\xi_{FL}$	$\frac{4\beta_{33}}{3}\sqrt{\frac{4\pi}{5}}r\partial_{r}\xi_{FL}$	0

Table 2 – Non-zero multipolar coefficients of the 2pcf in the anisotropic universes Bianchi I and VII<sub>0</sub>. The traceless condition of  $\beta_{ij}$  was used to simplify the results. Note that, in Bianchi I,  $\xi_{00}$  is not altered, whereas it is in Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub>. Thus, in the latter, not only there is a quadrupolar anisotropic contribution, the anisotropies also modify the isotropic spectrum, i.e., the monopole.

We now want to convert eq. (3.4.37) into an expression for the CMB covariance matrix in harmonic space. In order to do that, it is standard to expand the temperature fluctuations  $\frac{\Delta T}{T}(\mathbf{r})$  in spherical harmonics as

$$\frac{\Delta T}{T}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \sum_{\ell m} a_{\ell m}(r) Y_{\ell m}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}), \qquad (3.4.39)$$

where  $a_{\ell m}(r)$  are the expansion coefficients. The above can be inverted using the orthogonality of the spherical harmonics to give the coefficients in terms of the temperature fluctuation:

$$a_{\ell m}(r) = \int d^2 \boldsymbol{n} \frac{\Delta T}{T}(\boldsymbol{r}) Y^*_{\ell m}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}). \qquad (3.4.40)$$

For temperature fluctuations measured at two points  $r_1$  and  $r_2$ , the CMB covariance matrix is then given by

$$\left\langle a_{\ell_1 m_1} a_{\ell_2 m_2}^* \right\rangle = \int d^2 \boldsymbol{n}_1 \int d^2 \boldsymbol{n}_2 \left\langle \frac{\Delta T}{T} (\boldsymbol{r}_1) \frac{\Delta T}{T} (\boldsymbol{r}_2) \right\rangle Y_{\ell_1 m_1}^*(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_1) Y_{\ell_2 m_2}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_2), \qquad (3.4.41)$$

where  $\langle \rangle$  represents an ensemble average.

In the scenario we are contemplating, the dominant effect is the Sachs-Wolfe effect, and thus we can write the covariance matrix as

$$\langle a_{\ell_1 m_1} a^*_{\ell_2 m_2} \rangle = \frac{1}{9} \int d^2 \boldsymbol{n}_1 \int d^2 \boldsymbol{n}_2 \langle \Phi(\boldsymbol{r}_1) \Phi(\boldsymbol{r}_2) \rangle Y^*_{\ell_1 m_1}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_1) Y_{\ell_2 m_2}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_2),$$
 (3.4.42)

therefore, the correlation function of interest is given by the ensemble average of the gravitational potential, i.e.,

$$\xi(\boldsymbol{r}_{-}) = \langle \Phi(\boldsymbol{r}_{1})\Phi(\boldsymbol{r}_{2}) \rangle. \qquad (3.4.43)$$

In a homogeneous and isotropic spacetime (i.e., FLRW),  $\xi(\mathbf{r}_{-}) = \xi(\mathbf{r}_{-})$ , that is, there is no dependence on the directions  $\hat{\mathbf{n}}_{1,2}$ . In this case, the covariance matrix reduces to

$$\left\langle a_{\ell_1 m_1} a^*_{\ell_2 m_2} \right\rangle = \delta_{\ell_1 \ell_2} \delta_{m_1 m_2} C_{\ell_1},$$
 (3.4.44)

where the  $C_{\ell}$  is the isotropic CMB angular power spectrum. This is not the case for the anisotropic Bianchi spacetimes. Usually, deviations from isotropy are calculated in terms

of the power spectrum, which is the Fourier transform of the 2pcf. It is given by

$$P(\mathbf{k}) = \int d^3 \mathbf{r}_- e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_-} \xi(\mathbf{r}_-). \qquad (3.4.45)$$

Note that, since both Bianchi I and VII<sub>0</sub> have spatially flat Euclidean sections, we are entitled to use plane waves in our Fourier expansions. It is possible to obtain the power spectrum explicitly from the two point functions derived for the Bianchi cases, as is shown in Appendix A. Here, however, we shall expand  $P(\mathbf{k})$  in spherical harmonics:  $P(\mathbf{k}) = \sum_{\ell m} P_{\ell m}(k) Y_{\ell m}(\hat{\mathbf{k}})$ . Notice that (3.4.45) can be inverted

$$\xi(\boldsymbol{r}_{-}) = \int \frac{d^3 \boldsymbol{k}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i \boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{r}_{-}} P(\boldsymbol{k})$$
(3.4.46)

$$= \int \frac{d^3 \boldsymbol{k}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i \boldsymbol{k} \cdot (\boldsymbol{r}_2 - \boldsymbol{r}_1)} P(\boldsymbol{k})$$
(3.4.47)

Using the expansion of  $P(\mathbf{k})$  in spherical harmonics and the Rayleigh expansion

$$e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}} = 4\pi \sum_{\ell m} i^{\ell} j_{\ell} \left(kr\right) Y_{\ell m}^{*}(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}) Y_{\ell m}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}\right)$$
(3.4.48)

in eq. (3.4.47) gives

$$\xi(\boldsymbol{r}_{-}) = \int \frac{d^{3}\boldsymbol{k}}{(2\pi)^{3}} \sum_{\ell m} P_{\ell m}(k) Y_{\ell m}(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}) (4\pi)^{2} \sum_{\ell_{1}m_{1}} (-i)^{\ell_{1}} j_{\ell_{1}} (kr_{1}) Y_{\ell_{1}m_{1}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}) Y_{\ell_{1}m_{1}}^{*}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_{1}) \times$$

$$\times \sum_{\ell_{2}m_{2}} i^{\ell_{2}} j_{\ell_{2}} (kr_{2}) Y_{\ell_{2}m_{2}}^{*}(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}) Y_{\ell_{2}m_{2}} (\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_{2})$$

$$= \sum_{\ell_{1}m_{1}} \sum_{\ell_{2}m_{2}} \left[ \frac{2}{\pi} \sum_{\ell m} i^{\ell_{2}-\ell_{1}} \int k^{2} dk P_{\ell m}(k) j_{\ell_{1}} (k\Delta\eta) j_{\ell_{2}} (k\Delta\eta) \mathcal{G}_{-m,m_{1},m_{2}}^{\ell,\ell_{1},\ell_{2}} \right] \times \quad (3.4.50)$$

$$\times Y_{\ell_{1}m_{1}}^{*} (\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_{1}) Y_{\ell_{2}m_{2}} (\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}_{2}) ,$$

where we have made the identification 
$$r_1 = r_2 = \Delta \eta$$
 for points on the last scattering surface, and  $j_{\ell}$  are spherical Bessel functions. Also,

$$\mathcal{G}_{m_1,m_2,m_3}^{\ell_1,\ell_2,\ell_3} \equiv \int d^2 \hat{\boldsymbol{n}} Y_{\ell_1 m_1}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}) Y_{\ell_2 m_2}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}}) Y_{\ell_3 m_3}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}})$$
(3.4.51)

are called the Gaunt coefficients. Recalling (3.4.42), one can read the covariance matrix from eq. (3.4.50). It will then be given by [34, 37]:

$$\left\langle a_{\ell_1 m_1} a_{\ell_2 m_2}^* \right\rangle = i^{\ell_2 - \ell_1} \frac{2}{9\pi} \sum_{\ell m} \int k^2 dk P_{\ell m}(k) j_{\ell_1}(k\Delta \eta) j_{\ell_2}(k\Delta \eta) \left(-1\right)^m \mathcal{G}_{-m,m_1,m_2}^{\ell,\ell_1,\ell_2}, \quad (3.4.52)$$

Therefore, using eq. (3.4.52), one can convert a characteristic of the power spectrum directly into a characteristic of the covariance matrix. We can then extract  $P_{\ell m}$  from the coefficients on Table 2 making use of the Hankel transform, which, given eq. (3.4.46) and

the multipolar expansions of both  $\xi(\mathbf{r}_{-})$  and  $P(\mathbf{k})$ , gives the coefficients of one in terms of the other (see ref. [58] for the use of Hankel transforms in cosmology):

$$P_{\ell m} = 4\pi i^{-\ell} \int_0^\infty r_-^2 dr_- j_\ell(kr_-) \xi_{\ell m}(r_-).$$
(3.4.53)

However, it is interesting to obtain an expression for the covariance matrix directly as a function of the coefficients  $\xi_{\ell m}$ . This can be done by inserting (3.4.53) in (3.4.52), which results in

$$\left\langle a_{\ell_1 m_1} a_{\ell_2 m_2}^* \right\rangle = \frac{8}{9} \sum_{\ell m} \int_0^{2\Delta\eta} r_-^2 dr_- \xi_{\ell m}(r_-) J_{\ell_1,\ell_2,\ell}(r_-) \left(-1\right)^m \mathcal{G}_{-m,m_1,m_2}^{\ell,\ell_1,\ell_2}, \tag{3.4.54}$$

where the coefficients  $J_{\ell_1,\ell_2,\ell_3}$  are defined through the following integral

$$J_{\ell_1,\ell_2,\ell_3}(R,r_1,r_2) = i^{\ell_2-\ell_1-\ell_3} \int_0^\infty k^2 dk j_{\ell_1}(kr_1) j_{\ell_2}(kr_2) j_{\ell_3}(kR).$$
(3.4.55)

The integral above can be solved analitically [59]. A relevant property of these coefficients is that they are zero whenever R is outside the range

$$|r_1 - r_2| \le R \le r_1 + r_2. \tag{3.4.56}$$

In the context of CMB physics,  $r_1 = r_2 = \Delta \eta$ , and thus  $r_- = \Delta \eta \sqrt{2 - 2\hat{n}_1 \cdot \hat{n}_2}$ . So, with the identification  $R = r_-$ , we have

$$0 \le r_{-} \le 2\Delta\eta. \tag{3.4.57}$$

This explains why the domain of the integral in (3.4.54) is finite, and it makes perfect sense since it is impossible to correlate two points on the CMB last scattering surface whose distance is bigger than  $2\Delta\eta$ , i.e., bigger than twice the distance to the last scattering surface.

Returning to Table 2, we see that each geometry leaves its characteristic fingerprints on the CMB temperature spectrum. In lower orders in  $\beta_{ii}$ , both Bianchi models produce quadrupolar anisotropies, which implies non-zero  $\ell, \ell+2$  correlations in the covariance matrix. However, only Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub>, through its monopolar contribution, is capable of altering the isotropic temperature spectrum, i.e., the  $C_{\ell}$ s. Higher order corrections in  $\beta_{ii}$ produces high order multipoles, but we will not consider those here. Notice that the parity symmetries of these two Bianchi models prohibits even-odd couplings of the harmonic coefficients [61].

We would like to emphasize that in the specific scenario considered here, only asymmetries from the initial conditions can affect the covariance matrix, after which we assume the universe to be pure FLRW. In particular, contributions resulting from integrated effects from the last scattering surface to us – like the effect induced by the lensing potential in anisotropic universes [11, 12] – cannot be extracted from this formalism in its

present form. On the other hand, the multipolar features resulting from the coefficients in Table 2 would still be preserved – perhaps in an integrated version – as long as perturbations are functions of the background coordinates. Indeed this is corroborated by the results of [11, 12], where quadrupolar corrections in the correlation of weak-lensing convergence of large-scale structure in a Bianchi I spacetime was found. Furthermore, since (3.1.9) was designed to work on scalar functions, it cannot be directly applied to the cross-correlations between scalar, vector and tensor perturbations, which are known to couple dynamically through the evolution of the background shear [62, 63]. Nevertheless, since tensor fields are still seen as external fields in a fixed background, tensor correlators should be expected to obey a similar formalism as the one presented here (see also [27]).

## 3.5 Non-Gaussian correlations

It is straightforward to extend this formalism to non-Gaussian correlation functions (i.e., functions of N points where N > 2). Let  $\varphi$  be any scalar N point correlation function. Following the same arguments that lead to the set of eqs. (3.1.9) gives the condition

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} K_A^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \varphi|_j = 0.$$
(3.5.1)

The first non-Gaussian correlation function of interest is the three point correlation function (3pcf). Let us consider this function in a flat FLRW universe, where there are translational and rotational symmetries. Imposing invariance with respect to  $T_x = (1, 0, 0)$ , for example, leads to the condition

$$\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_2} + \frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_3} = 0.$$
(3.5.2)

This can be solved for any  $\varphi$  with an arbitrary dependence on the coordinate X defined as

$$X = lx_1 + mx_2 + nx_3, (3.5.3)$$

where l, m and n are constants that satisfy l + m + n = 0. We use this fact to write X as

$$X = l(x_1 - x_3) + m(x_2 - x_3), (3.5.4)$$

which shows that  $\varphi$  must depend on the base combinations  $(x_1 - x_3)$  and  $(x_2 - x_3)$ . Applying the same reasoning to the Killing vectors  $T_{y,z}$  gives

$$\varphi(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \mathbf{r}_3) = \varphi(\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_3, \mathbf{r}_2 - \mathbf{r}_3).$$
 (3.5.5)

This is the functional dependence of a 3pcf in a universe with three translational Killing vectors given by  $T_i = \partial_i$  [64]. To obtain the expression that is also invariant under rotations, let us introduce  $u = r_1 - r_3$  and  $v = r_2 - r_3$ . Then, we must find the functional

dependence of  $\varphi(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v})$  with respect to the rotation vectors  $\boldsymbol{R}_i$ . Notice however that a rotation around the *i* axis of the vectors  $\boldsymbol{r}_{1,2,3}$  are equivalent to rotations around the same axis of the vectors  $\boldsymbol{u}$  and  $\boldsymbol{v}$ . This can be seen by calculating the components of the vectors in the  $\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}$  coordinates. For example, for  $\boldsymbol{R}_z$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{R}_{z} &= (x_{1}\partial_{y_{1}} - y_{1}\partial_{x_{1}}) + (x_{2}\partial_{y_{2}} - y_{2}\partial_{x_{2}}) + (x_{3}\partial_{y_{3}} - y_{3}\partial_{x_{3}}) \\ &= (x_{1}\partial_{u_{y}} - y_{1}\partial_{u_{x}}) + (x_{2}\partial_{v_{y}} - y_{2}\partial_{v_{x}}) + x_{3}(-\partial_{u_{y}} - \partial_{v_{y}}) - y_{3}(-\partial_{u_{x}} - \partial_{v_{x}}) \\ &= (u_{x}\partial_{u_{y}} - u_{y}\partial_{u_{x}}) + (v_{x}\partial_{v_{y}} - v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}). \end{aligned}$$

Equivalent results hold for  $\mathbf{R}_{x,y}$ . Therefore, the task of finding the  $\varphi(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{v})$  which is invariant under rotations follows the same steps that lead to eq. (3.4.10). The solution then must have the form  $\varphi(\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{v}, \mathbf{u} + \mathbf{v})$ . In terms of the original coordinates, we have

$$\varphi_{FL} = \varphi_{FL} \left( |\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2|, |\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}_2 - 2\mathbf{r}_3| \right),$$
 (3.5.6)

which is completely equivalent to  $\varphi_{FL}(|\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_3|, |\mathbf{r}_2 - \mathbf{r}_3|, (\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2) \cdot (\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2))$ , a format more common in the literature [64].

We would like to make an interesting comment about the solution (3.5.6). Notice that under the identification  $r_3 = w$ , the 3pcf has exactly the same functional dependence as the 2pcf in eq. (3.4.9) - the 2pcf of a universe with a special, off-centered point. This suggests that the bispectrum (i.e., the Fourier transform of the 3pcf) in an FLRW universe can mimic the power spectrum (the Fourier transform of the 2pcf) of an off-centered LTB universe. A similar result has been found by the authors of ref. [65], who have pointed out that a non-zero statistically homogeneous and isotropic bispectrum in the strong squeezed limit - i.e., the limit in which the three points form a triangle with one side much smaller than the other two - can induce statistical anisotropies in the power spectrum. The similarity between the 3pcf in FLRW universe and a 2pcf in a LTB universe we have found reflects the fact that the third point in the 3pcf can be seen as a "special" point with which the two other points must correlate. Thus, in a sense, any 3pcf in a homogeneous universe acts like a 2pcf in a universe with a special point. Analogously, the privileged point in an off-centered LTB universe plays the role of a third point with which any two other points must correlate. This explains why these two correlators have the same functional structure.

As one more application, let us consider the 3pcf in an LTB universe, one which presents only rotational symmetries about the origin. Imposing invariance with respect to the Killing vector  $\mathbf{R}_z$ , for example, leads us to

$$\left(x_1\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial y_1} + x_2\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial y_2} + x_3\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial y_3}\right) - \left(y_1\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_1} + y_2\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_2} + y_3\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial x_3}\right) = 0.$$
(3.5.7)

We could try and solve this equation above with the introduction of new variables  $X = lx_1 + mx_2 + nx_3$  and  $Y = ly_1 + my_2 + ny_3$ . This takes the above equation into

$$X\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial Y} - Y\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial X} = 0. \tag{3.5.8}$$

By the method of characteristic curves, we would find that the combination  $X^2 + Y^2$ solves the above. However, this is not the most general solution. To see why, notice that in the absence of translational symmetry, the constants l, m and n are not constrained anymore. Thus, let us write

$$l+m+n=2p\tag{3.5.9}$$

for a constant p. We can then rewrite the variable X as

$$X = l(x_1 - x_3) + m(x_2 - x_3) + p(x_1 + x_3) + p(x_2 + x_3) - p(x_1 + x_2),$$
(3.5.10)

with an analogous expression for Y. This shows us that in this case there are five base combinations on which  $\varphi$  will depend on. Repeating the same analysis for  $\mathbf{R}_{x,y}$  we finally have that

$$\varphi_0 = \varphi_0 \left( |\boldsymbol{r}_1 - \boldsymbol{r}_3|, |\boldsymbol{r}_2 - \boldsymbol{r}_3|, |\boldsymbol{r}_1 + \boldsymbol{r}_3|, |\boldsymbol{r}_2 + \boldsymbol{r}_3|, |\boldsymbol{r}_1 + \boldsymbol{r}_2| \right).$$
(3.5.11)

Notice in particular that the combination  $|\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}_2|$  cannot be ignored, as we would expect with an immediate comparison with eq. (3.4.10). This is so because the vector  $\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}_2$  is linearly independent from  $\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}_3$  and  $\mathbf{r}_2 + \mathbf{r}_3$  (the plane made by any two of them would not contain the third).

In possession of the solution (3.5.11) we can build by inspection the 3pcf of an LTB universe with a special, off-centered point  $\boldsymbol{w}$ . Recall that this universe must respect the global symmetry (3.4.11). Then, it is easy to see that the 3pcf below respects rotational symmetry and the mentioned global symmetry:

$$\varphi_{w} = \varphi_{w} \left( |\boldsymbol{r}_{1} - \boldsymbol{r}_{3}|, |\boldsymbol{r}_{2} - \boldsymbol{r}_{3}|, |\boldsymbol{r}_{1} + \boldsymbol{r}_{3} - 2\boldsymbol{w}|, |\boldsymbol{r}_{2} + \boldsymbol{r}_{3} - 2\boldsymbol{w}|, |\boldsymbol{r}_{1} + \boldsymbol{r}_{2} - 2\boldsymbol{w}| \right). \quad (3.5.12)$$

## 3.6 Comments on extending the method to other Bianchi spaces

With the successful application of the formalism on the spaces of Bianchi I and VII<sub>0</sub>, we would expect to be able to apply it to other Bianchi spaces, given the solution (3.3.9). Of cosmological interest are the Bianchi spaces which have clear FLRW limits, which are the spaces of Bianchi V and VII<sub>h</sub> (whose limits are negatively curved FLRW), and Bianchi IX (whose limit is positively curved FLRW) [22]. Applying the method to both Bianchi V and VII<sub>h</sub> allowed us to find the functional dependence of the 2pcf in these spaces, as we show in the following.

We start with the Bianchi V case. Adopting the same coordinate system as in ref. [21], the three Killing vectors of Bianchi V are given by [50]

$$T_x = (1,0,0),$$
  $T_y = (0,1,0),$   $T_z = (x,y,1),$  (3.6.1)

and the invariant basis vectors are

$$e_1 = (e^z, 0, 0),$$
  $e_2 = (0, e^z, 0),$   $e_3 = (0, 0, 1).$  (3.6.2)

It is not hard to solve the integral curves of  $e_1$ , which provides the result  $r_2 - r_1 = e^{-\frac{z_+}{2}}x_-$ . For  $e_2$  the result is analogously  $s_2 - s_1 = e^{-\frac{z_+}{2}}y_-$ , while for  $e_3$  it is trivially  $t_2 - t_1 = z_-$ . Thus, the 2pcf invariant under Bianchi V symmetries is

$$\xi_V = \xi_V \left( e^{\beta_{11}(t)} e^{-\frac{z_+}{2}} x_-, e^{\beta_{22}(t)} e^{-\frac{z_+}{2}} y_-, e^{\beta_{33}(t)} z_- \right).$$
(3.6.3)

One may think a term like  $z_+$  on the functional dependence of the 2pcf breaks translational invariance, but this is only apparent. The translations on the x and y directions are obviously respected. For the translation associated with  $T_z$ , notice that eq. (3.1.9) for this Killing vector is

$$x_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial x_{-}} + y_{-}\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial y_{-}} + 2\frac{\partial\xi}{\partial z_{+}} = 0.$$
(3.6.4)

Let u be the parameter along the isometry of  $T_z$ ; then, comparing the above with a total derivative expansion of  $\frac{d\xi}{du} = 0$  we get

$$\dot{x}_{-} = x_{-}, \qquad \dot{y}_{-} = y_{-}, \qquad \dot{z}_{+} = u, \qquad \dot{z}_{-} = 0.$$
 (3.6.5)

The solutions to the above are

$$x_{-}(u) = Ae^{u}, \qquad y_{-}(u) = Be^{u}, \qquad z_{+}(u) = 2u, \qquad z_{-} = \text{const}, \qquad (3.6.6)$$

where A and B are constant. Therefore, a translation along the parameter u by a factor v/2 implies that

$$x_{-} \to e^{-\frac{v}{2}} x_{-}, \qquad y_{-} \to e^{-\frac{v}{2}} y_{-}, \qquad z_{+} \to z_{+} + v, \qquad z_{-} \to z_{-},$$
(3.6.7)

in such a way that, if plugged into eq. (3.6.3), it keeps  $\xi_V$  invariant.

Let us reintroduce the curvature factor  $k^2 \sim \frac{1}{R_c}$  in eq. (3.6.3), where  $R_c$  is the universe's curvature radius (note that initially k was set to minus one). This can be done now through a simple dimensional analysis, which leads to

$$\xi_V = \xi_V \left( e^{\beta_{11}(t)} e^{-\frac{\sqrt{k}z_+}{2}} x_-, e^{\beta_{22}(t)} e^{-\frac{\sqrt{k}z_+}{2}} y_-, e^{\beta_{33}(t)} z_- \right).$$
(3.6.8)

The next objective would be to take the flat FLRW limit of the above solution, including first order corrections in the directional scale factors  $\beta_{ii}$  and in the curvature. Let us first take the limit of eq. (3.6.8) for small  $\beta_{ii}$ . As, to first order, we do not allow for curvature-anisotropy couplings, the result is

$$\xi_{V} = \xi_{V} \left( e^{-\frac{\sqrt{k}z_{+}}{2}} x_{-}, e^{-\frac{\sqrt{k}z_{+}}{2}} y_{-}, z_{-} \right) + \beta_{11} \bar{x}_{-} \frac{\partial \xi_{FL}}{\partial \bar{x}_{-}} + \beta_{22} \bar{y}_{-} \frac{\partial \xi_{FL}}{\partial \bar{y}_{-}} + \beta_{33} \bar{z}_{-} \frac{\partial \xi_{FL}}{\partial \bar{z}_{-}}.$$
 (3.6.9)

The overbar on the coordinates are to indicate they are coordinates of flat FLRW (as opposed to negatively curved FLRW), as will be explained further. The 2pcf  $\xi_V|_{\beta=0}$  (which is the first term above) must now be invariant under rotations of the background FLRW

space, since it no longer depends on  $\beta_{ii}$ . However, we have yet to expand on curvature, thus, the background FLRW space is the negatively curved FLRW, which has the shape of a 3-dimensional hyperbolic  $\mathbf{H}^3$  space. So,  $\xi_V|_{\beta=0}$  must depend only on the invariant distance between two points in this space (since it is maximally symmetric), which we will call  $r_-$ , as we have done before, but now it is given implicitly by [50]

$$\frac{1}{k}\cosh\left(\sqrt{k}r_{-}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\left[e^{-\sqrt{k}z_{+}}\left(x_{-}^{2}+y_{-}^{2}\right) + \frac{2}{k}\cosh\left(\sqrt{k}z_{-}\right)\right].$$
(3.6.10)

Let us call  $\xi_V|_{\beta=0} = \xi_{H^3}(r_-)$ . Our job now, to find the first order curvature correction to (3.6.9), is to expand  $\xi_{H^3}(r_-)$  for small curvature and collect the first order term. Notice, however, that the coordinates on  $H^3$  have an implicit dependence on curvature, which can be seen through the eqs.

$$x = \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}} \frac{\sinh(\sqrt{kr})\sin\theta\cos\phi}{\cosh(\sqrt{kr}) - \sinh(\sqrt{kr})\cos\theta},$$
(3.6.11)

$$y = \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}} \frac{\sinh(\sqrt{k}r)\sin\theta\sin\phi}{\cosh(\sqrt{k}r) - \sinh(\sqrt{k}r)\cos\theta},$$
(3.6.12)

$$z = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{k}} \ln \left[ \cosh(\sqrt{k}r) - \sinh(\sqrt{k}r) \cos\theta \right], \qquad (3.6.13)$$

which are just the transformations from the adopted coordinate system to a spherical one [21]. Thus, Taylor expanding the above to first order in  $\sqrt{k}$  they are related to the background (overbarred) coordinates by

$$x = \bar{x} + \sqrt{k}\bar{x}\bar{z} + \mathcal{O}(k), \qquad (3.6.14)$$

$$y = \bar{y} + \sqrt{k}\bar{y}\bar{z} + \mathcal{O}(k), \qquad (3.6.15)$$

$$z = \bar{z} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{k}(\bar{z}^2 - \bar{r}^2) + O(k).$$
(3.6.16)

We can now plug this back into eq. (3.6.10) and Taylor expand both sides to find  $r_{-}$  as a function of  $\bar{r}_{-}$  (which is the invariant distance on flat FLRW). This gives

$$r_{-} = \bar{r}_{-} + \mathcal{O}(k). \tag{3.6.17}$$

i.e., there is no first order curvature correction to the invariant distance between two points on  $\mathbf{H}^3$ . This in turn means that, to first order in curvature,  $\xi_{\mathbf{H}^3}(r_-) = \xi_{FL}(\bar{r}_-)$ , and thus the 2pcf in Bianchi V is, in this limit

$$\xi_V = \xi_{FL}(\bar{r}_-) + \beta_{11}\bar{x}_- \frac{\partial\xi_{FL}}{\partial\bar{x}_-} + \beta_{22}\bar{y}_- \frac{\partial\xi_{FL}}{\partial\bar{y}_-} + \beta_{33}\bar{z}_- \frac{\partial\xi_{FL}}{\partial\bar{z}_-}, \qquad (3.6.18)$$

i.e., to first order in the directional scale factor and curvature it is completely equivalent to the invariant 2pcf of Bianchi I. To find new characteristics for the Bianchi V 2pcf one must go to second order in  $\beta_{ii}$  and curvature, which would also allow curvature-anisotropy couplings. As both curvature and anisotropies are estimated to be very small in our current universe, we set those calculations aside, and, for the purposes of this work, the Bianchi V result is equivalent to that of Bianchi I.

The Bianchi  $VII_h$  case follows a similar pattern. Using its Killing vectors and invariant basis we were able to find the invariant 2pcf, which is given by

$$\xi_{VII_h} = \xi_{VII_h} \left( e^{\beta_{11}(\tau)} e^{-\frac{\sqrt{h}z_+}{2}} \sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2}, e^{\beta_{22}(\tau)} e^{-\frac{\sqrt{h}z_+}{2}} \sqrt{x_-^2 + y_-^2}, e^{\beta_{33}(\tau)} z_- \right).$$
(3.6.19)

If we proceed in the same manner as described for Bianchi V to evaluate the first order corrections in anisotropy and curvature, one will find that the Bianchi VII<sub>h</sub> case is completely equivalent to Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub>.

The other space of cosmological interest is the Bianchi IX case. The invariant basis vectors of this space are given by [50]

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{1} = (1,0,0), \ \boldsymbol{e}_{2} = (\sin x \tan y, \cos x, -\sin x \sec y), \ \boldsymbol{e}_{3} = (-\cos x \tan y, \sin x, \cos x \sec y)$$
(3.6.20)

We were not able, however, to solve the integral curves of (3.6.20) analytically. Even if it were possible, we infer that inverting the relation between the parameters and a chosen coordinate system would not be an easy task.

# 4 Conclusions and perspectives

Correlation functions belong to the core of modern cosmology. The perspective of extending the  $\Lambda$ CDM model to inhomogeneous, anisotropic, and non-Gaussian universes depends crucially on our abilities to model and measure such functions with increasing levels of sophistication. In this work we have introduced a novel formalism which allows us to fix the functional dependence of correlation functions in terms of the underlying spacetime (continuous) symmetries. Given a set of Killing vectors, we have found a set of first order partial differential equations which can be solved for the functional dependence of the correlation function. The method works for arbitrary *N*-point correlators as long as cosmological perturbations can be treated as external fields on a fixed background. We have also provided a general solution to the two point correlation function which naturally introduces the time dependence, provided one finds a set of triad vectors commuting the Killing vector fields. This solution is particularly useful in applications to Bianchi cosmologies, where such triad of vectors are naturally present.

We have successfully applied the formalism to the two point function in three different cosmological spacetimes, namely, the anisotropic and spatially flat solutions of Bianchi types I and VII<sub>0</sub>, and to the case of an off-center LTB universe, which includes the standard LTB model as a special case. Our results for an LTB universe correct an earlier result appearing in the literature based on incomplete heuristic arguments [38]. We have provided asymptotic expansions of these correlation functions around the known Friedmannian case. We have analyzed, in the context of large angle CMB fluctuations, the multipolar expansions of the 2pcf in the Bianchi cases. Each spacetime leaves its own multipolar fingerprint on the CMB covariance matrix  $\langle a_{\ell_1m_1}a^*_{\ell_2m_2}\rangle$ . To the lowest order in the expansion parameters, we have found that Bianchi I spacetimes lead to quadrupolar couplings  $\langle a_{\ell_1m_1}a^*_{\ell_1\pm 2,m_2}\rangle$  while preserving the isotropic angular spectrum  $C_{\ell}$ . Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub> models, on the other hand, lead to quadrupole couplings as well as suppression of the  $C_{\ell}$ 's at large angles (i.e., low  $\ell$ 's).

We have also applied the method to infer the functional dependence of (non-Gaussian) three point correlation functions to the (well-known) case of a FLRW universe, and also to the case of an off-center LTB universe. As a byproduct of our formalism we have found a formal link between the three-point correlation function in an FLRW universe and a Gaussian 2pcf in an off-center LTB universe. This link results from the fact that a universe with a strong dependence on a special point is formally degenerate with a non-Gaussian universe with non-zero 3-point correlation function.

At last, we have made some remarks about the possibility of extending our for-

malism to other Bianchi spaces. We have found that, for Bianchi V and  $\text{VII}_h$ , which have a negatively curved FLRW limit, to first order in  $\beta$  and curvature, their results are equivalent to that of Bianchi I and  $\text{VII}_0$ , respectively. We also show how to explicitly evaluate the power spectrum from the 2pcf found for Bianchi I and  $\text{VII}_0$ .

We would like to end with some remarks on the limitations and possible extensions of the formalism. First, we stress that, although the method can be used provide quick access to the multipolar structure of CMB correlations in a given geometry, it cannot be expected to fix the amplitude of the correlations without any further geometrical or physical input. In the case of CMB physics, for example, a full account of the relativistic and collisional Boltzmann transport equation is required to fix the amplitude of the  $C_{\ell}$ 's. The case of Bianchi I is a clear example. While the quadrupolar couplings we found here are compatible with the result of more in-depth analysis, the present formalism cannot predict the oscillations in the power spectrum resulting from linear perturbation theory [25, 62] nor the correlation between scalar and tensor modes arising from the dynamical couplings with the shear [24, 63]. Nonetheless, it is worth mentioning that scaling invariance of the spacetime, when it exists, can be used to fully fix the shape of scale invariant 2-point correlation functions. The connection between conformal invariance of the de Sitter spacetime and the origin of CMB fluctuations has been a topic of intensive investigation in the recent years [43, 44] and, in this respect, our findings offer a possibility of extending such results to less symmetric spacetimes.

Second, we have not considered the case of spin functions, which are of central importance to the physics of polarization and weak-lensing of the CMB. The case of vector two-point functions in de Sitter spacetimes have been addressed in [27] using a different formalism, where it was found that it also has the same symmetries of the background space. In the present formalism this conclusion is not immediate since it was developed particularly for a scalar 2pcf. We postpone such analysis to future works. Nonetheless, we emphasize that the method developed here is general, and can be equally useful in applications to quantum field theory in curved spacetime.

# Part II

# Redshift and direction drifts in cosmology

# 5 Introduction

Over the past decades, the developments of observational cosmology, among which are the measurements of cosmic microwave background (CMB), baryonic acoustic oscillations (BAO), type Ia supernovae and cosmic shear, have led to a robust model of our universe in the framework of Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker spacetimes. Through a set of well-measured parameters one can then define the *concordance model* of cosmology: the  $\Lambda$ CDM model. The need for a dark sector has triggered the necessity to develop tests of the hypothesis on which this model lies (see refs. [54, 66] for their description and existing tests). Any data which is not strictly located on our past light cone brings sharp constraints, in particular on the Copernican principle [67].

The first evaluation of the time drift of the cosmic redshift dates back to the 60s [68, 69]. Since it offers a direct measurement of the local cosmic expansion rate [70], it evolved to the idea of "real time" cosmology [26], based on the time drifts of both the cosmic redshift and the direction as new cosmological observables. For example, the possibility of measuring the redshift drift was thought both as a way of measuring the instantaneous cosmic expansion rate as a function of redshift, H(z), [71] and hence to better constrain dark energy models [72, 73, 74] in the framework of Friedmann-Lemaître cosmologies. On a more fundamental level, the redshift drift was shown to offer a way to test of the Copernican principle in [67, 75, 76], while lensing-type effects of a local void were investigated in [53]. Direction drift effects were also investigated in the test of the Copernican principle in Refs. [77], while in Refs. [78, 79] it was used to constrain anisotropic (Bianchi I) cosmological models. More recently, the aberration drift was used as a redshift-independent tool to extract the proper acceleration of the earth with respect to CMB [80]. From a more formal perspective, several investigations of optical drift effects in general relativity provide a covariant derivation of cosmic parallax for a pair of sources in general spacetimes [81, 82, 83, 84, 85].

From an observational perspective, the technical advancements in the field of precision astrometry have allowed the Gaia space mission to measure the parallax of astrophysical objects with unprecedented precision [86, 87]. Forthcoming experiments carrying state-of-the-art spectrography on the E-ELT aim to reach the sensitivity to measure the redshift drift by monitoring Ly- $\alpha$  absorption lines of distant quasars in a time span of a decade [88] and it has been demonstrated that the use of many spectral lines and quasars is an important measure to reduced the variance in  $\dot{z}$  induced by linear cosmological perturbations [89].

The second part of this thesis revisits both the redshift and direction drifts in

several cosmological frameworks. It starts by providing an overview on astrometry, highlighting significant historical moments and describing this work's approach. Then, we move on to the evaluation of the drifts. First, we present a simple analysis in Minkowski spactime in order to emphasize the need for a two-worldlines analysis, hence non-local in time. A heuristic argument allows one to grasp the physical meaning and typical amplitude of all the different contributions. It takes into account a general accelerated observer and source. Then, we focus on the computation of the redshift and direction drifts for general observers in FLRW spacetime. A multipolar decomposition of this result is presented and compared to the literature. The order of magnitude of the aberration and parallax parts of the direction drift are then estimated. Next, the same drift effects are computed but now for a linearly perturbed FLRW spacetime, including scalar, vector and tensor perturbations. This fully characterizes the imprints of cosmological drifts on the large scale structure. The analysis is finally extended to the case of an anisotropic Bianchi I universe. As such it offers a new way to test the late time isotropy of the cosmic expansion around us, complementary to methods based on either cosmic shear [11, 24, 90] or supernovae [91, 92] observations. We then conclude summarizing our results and their implications.
# 6 An introduction to astrometry

## 6.1 An historical overview

Astrometry is one of the oldest fields of study known to man. It comprises the measurement of the position of stars and other celestial objects as they appear on the night sky. As it turns out, the unmovable position of a star is not of ultimate importance. Instead, the tiny variations of its position on the sky over large periods of time are able to offer great insight on a myriad of topics, as we shall see. In what follows, we will present a brief historical overview of astrometry, highlighting some key discoveries and presenting its state in the modern age. Most of this material was based on refs. [93, 94, 95, 96].

Since the ancient times, several civilizations across the globe had early thinkers and philosophers interested in understanding and charting celestial objects. They were, however, limited by the lack of instruments to do so besides the human eye and rough auxiliary objects. Around 1000 BCE, Babylonians in Mesopotamia were the first recorded astronomers of humanity, who systematically observed objects on the night sky and recognized, e.g., the periodicity of the appearance of Venus. Ancient Greece also had its fair share of early astronomers. Around the third century BCE, Greek philosophers already recognized the stars as "fixed" objects, maintaining their relative position while the skies turned above, whereas other objects "wandered" among them (planet, from the Greek planetes, means wanderer), apart from the Moon and the Sun. The consensus at that time was that the Earth was fixed relative to the skies (and hence to the Sun and Moon), and the convoluted motion of the planets on the sky bothered many Greek thinkers. While some, in ancient Greece, hinted at the idea of a heliocentric view of the world, it was not supported by the community at the time. Hipparchus, around the second century BCE, pioneered much of the cataloging of stars, adopting the Babylonian system of 360 degrees, 60 minutes and 60 seconds of arc to measure their angular position on the sky, and developing a classification of star brightness which is used up until modern days. His catalog comprised an astonishing figure of approximately 850 stars, measured mostly with the naked eye, with a precision of about one degree.

While during the Dark Ages most of Europe stalled in scientific development, astronomy was a flourishing topic of study in the Chinese and Indian empires, and also among Islamic scholars. Ulugh Beg was one of such scholars who, most notably, built an observatory in 1428 (located in nowadays Uzbekistan) comprised of a 36 meter radius sextant. This allowed him to catalog 994 stars with a precision slightly better than one degree.

What shone a light on Dark Ages' scientific stall was Copernicus' proposition that the Earth is not fixed in space, but rather revolving around the Sun, published in 1543. It would take the works of Galileo, Kepler and Newton to fully understand the motion of the planets around the solar system and to push heliocentrism forward, both within and outside the scientific community. While, after much struggle, the heliocentric view prevailed, together with it came the search for an inevitable effect which was certain to be observed were Copernicus' system true. Such effect is the parallax of distant stars. Parallax is the difference in apparent position of an object due to a change in the observer's line of sight (see Figure 6). Thus, if the Earth was indeed moving around the sun, the stars could not remain fixed on the sky, but rather wobble slightly while the Earth revolved. With the certainty that such effect should be detectable, many scientists set out, with the technology available at the time, to measure the parallax of distant stars. Apart from asserting the heliocentric view, measuring the parallax of a distant star could allow for an evaluation of its distance from Earth through a method known as triangulation. However, scientists were not aware of how far stars could be from Earth, which would render parallax too small to be measured at the time. This even led some scientists in disbelief of the heliocentric model, e.g., Tycho Brahe, who attempted but failed to detect any parallax. Despite technological advancements and improvements in precision, stellar parallax would only be measured around the 1830s; the search for it, however, led to the seminal discovery of the phenomenon of aberration of light.



Figure 6 – Simple illustration of the parallax effect.

The aberration of light was discovered by James Bradley when he set out to measure the stellar parallax of the star  $\gamma$  Draconis with an angular precision of about larcsec. This star was of particular interest since it passes nearly overhead on London's sky, thus minimizing the refraction of light caused by the atmosphere. Throughout a year of patient measurements, Bradley set out to detect  $\gamma$  Draconis' parallax; however, the angular displacement he found had a different pattern from the one predicted for stellar parallax. The largest values of displacements were delayed by three months when compared to ones expected for parallax. He then had an insight that he could be observing an angular displacement due simply to the fact that the Earth was moving with respect to the star (see Figure 7). An anecdote tells this came to him while riding on a boat through River Thames, analyzing how a wind vane was affected by the wind and the motion of the boat. A simple example to understand aberration is to consider the direction of falling rain. If a person is at rest and the rain is falling vertically, then for a person moving forwards the rain will appear to be coming at an angle. While in the first case the person holds an umbrella vertically, the person moving forwards would have to tilt its umbrella forwards to avoid getting wet. In this analogy, the person moving forwards corresponds to the Earth, and the falling rain corresponds to the light coming from a distant star. By treating light in a particle-like manner, Bradley was able to theoretically explain this phenomenon, which he then presented to the public in 1729. The classical result is that a distant star (considered static) viewed from Earth (moving at a velocity V) is at an apparent angle  $\alpha'$  related to the its true angular position  $\alpha$  by

$$\tan \alpha' = \frac{\sin \alpha}{\cos \alpha + V/c},\tag{6.1.1}$$

where c is the velocity of light. In the next chapter we provide a modern derivation of this result. It turned out that the measurement of aberration provided proof that the Earth was indeed moving through space, supporting Copernicus' heliocentric model. The detection of stellar aberration is considered today one of the most important discoveries in astronomy. It confirmed that light travels at a finite speed, and also allowed Bradley to estimate the time light takes to travel from the Sun to the Earth, which he evaluated to be 8 minutes and 12 to 13 seconds, an incredibly precise estimate for the time. And finally, since he failed to detect any parallax, it asserted that stars were indeed enormously distant from the Earth and that detecting it would still be a technological challenge, requiring even more precise instruments.

The first measurements of stellar parallax came through around the 1830s. Astronomers were searching for closer stars, selecting them by their apparent brightness and proper motion. The first reliable measurement of stellar parallax was published in 1838 by Friedrich Bessel, due to the star 61 Cygni, the parallax of which was measured to be 0.314arcsec. This also allowed to evaluate its distance from Earth, which was estimated to be of three parsecs, the first reliable measurement of the distance of a star. Then, in 1939, Thomas Henderson published his results on the parallax of Alpha Centauri, which was of 0.742arcsec, placing it at a distance of 1.35parsec. Now known to be a triple system, Alpha Centauri is among the closest stars to Earth, exhibiting one of the largest parallax displacements. In 1940 the German astronomer Whilhelm Struve also published the detection of a parallax of 0.130arcsec for the star Vega. The measurement of parallax of these stars, and hence of the distances they are to Earth, was fundamental in shaping our understanding of the scales of the Universe.



Observer at velocity V

Figure 7 – Simple illustration of the aberration effect.

Since these first measurements of stellar parallax, many technological advancements have been made which allowed scientists to measure the position of stars and other celestial objects with increasing precision. Photography is one of such advancements, through which much larger and more precise catalogs were produced. However, the Earth's atmosphere posed a limit on the precision one could achieve on ground based telescopes. Therefore, in 1980 the project for the first space telescope was proposed: the Hipparcos satellite. It was launched in 1989 to measure the position and proper motion of more than 100,000 stars with a then unprecedented accuracy of 1mas (milliarcsecond). The data from the Hipparcos mission had enormous impact in many areas of physics, from cosmology to the study of exoplanets. The latest advancement in astrometry is due to the space telescope Gaia [95, 96]. The successor of Hipparcos, it is expected to measure one billion stars and other celestial objects with a precision 100 times better than that of Hipparcos, i.e., up to  $10\mu$ as. The mission was launched in 2013 and is still ongoing, and the data it gathers will undoubtedly revolutionize our knowledge of the universe. The impressive precision of this mission motivated the proposal of a novel field in cosmology called real time cosmology. In the following section, we present and review the main ideas behind real time cosmology.

# 6.2 The rising field of real time cosmology

The proposal of real time cosmology is to use highly precise measurements, such as those of Gaia, spaced out over a significant time period such that detection of small time variations of cosmological observables is possible. It is expected that a period of a few decades is enough for Gaia to measure a non-zero temporal variation in positions and velocities of stars [26]. In the context of cosmology, this means one can conceive the observation of what is called the *drift* of cosmological observables. The (radial and angular) positions and velocities of celestial objects are related to important cosmological observables, such as the gravitational redshift. One can then use different cosmological models to theoretically evaluate the drifts of such observables and put these predictions side to side with measurements made within a relatively short period. This allows us to obtain direct information about the current universe. For a comprehensive review, see ref. [26].

The most relevant observables in the context of real time cosmology are the drifts of the redshift and direction of observation (the latter comprising both the parallax and aberration drifts, as we shall see). These drifts are sensitive to a wide range of parameters in cosmological models, and thus can be used to assess, e.g., Earth's peculiar motion with respect to the CMB rest frame [80], a possible late time anisotropic expansion of the universe [97, 98], and the effects of the gravitational potential on galaxy clusters [99, 100]. It is also expected that a time variation of cosmological observables can be detected on CMB measurements [101, 102].

Many works have considered the topic of cosmological drifts from a formal theoretical perspective in general spacetimes [81, 82, 83, 84, 85]; however, these results are not readily applicable. The approach in this work is more pragmatic in nature, providing a method that can, in principle, be extended to a range of spacetimes in a step by step fashion. While the calculation of the redshift drift is straightforward, for the direction drift special care is necessary since it does not involve simply a time derivative. We start by considering an observer at Earth (which we allow to possess a non-zero peculiar velocity) receiving from a distant source two light signals spaced over an infinitesimal time interval. Then, we calculate the variation of the direction of observation vector  $n^i$  in an orthonormal frame defined by the observer. To do so in a rigorous manner, we show that an approach of comparing null geodesics is necessary; after taking into account the difference in time lapses for each case, we are able to evaluate the direction drift. The results can be then interpreted as a contribution from parallax and another from aberration, apart from the ones specific to curvature. In the following, we briefly review the geodesic equation in the context of General Relativity, which is an essential tool of the approach presented here.

## 6.3 Some important tools - the geodesic equation

The concept of a straight line, straightforward in Euclidean geometry, is less intuitive in curved spaces, and one needs to replace it with the closest possible definition; this is achieved through the notion of a geodesic. Recall that, given a spacetime  $(\mathcal{M}, g)$ , there is a derivative operator  $\nabla_{\mu}$  associated with the metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . Now, let  $\gamma(t)$  be a curve on  $\mathcal{M}$  (which is a map  $\gamma : \Re \mapsto \mathcal{M}$  from a real parameter t to a point  $p \in \mathcal{M}$ ) and  $T^{\mu}$  its tangent vector. The curve  $\gamma(t)$  will be a geodesic if its tangent vector is parallel transported along itself, i.e., if it satisfies

$$T^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu}T^{\mu} = 0. \tag{6.3.1}$$

This is the closest definition of a straight line in a curved geometry. In a coordinate basis, the above equation has the form

$$\frac{dT^{\mu}}{dt} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho} T^{\nu} T^{\rho} = 0, \qquad (6.3.2)$$

where  $\Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho}$  are the Christoffel symbols. In the coordinate chart, the geodesic  $\gamma(t)$  will be mapped to a curve  $x^{\mu}(t)$  given by the equation  $T^{\mu} = dx^{\mu}/dt$ . Then, (6.3.2) is rewritten as

$$\frac{d^2 x^{\mu}}{dt^2} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\rho} \frac{dx^{\nu}}{dt} \frac{dx^{\rho}}{dt} = 0.$$
 (6.3.3)

Note that if the connection coefficients are everywhere zero, the solution to the above is a straight line in the Euclidean sense (as it should be in the absence of curvature). The set of equations above has a unique solution given the initial conditions for  $x^{\mu}$  and  $dx^{\mu}/dt$  [17], which asserts that, given a point  $p \in \mathcal{M}$  and a tangent vector  $T^{\mu}$  at p, a unique geodesic (with tangent vector  $T^{\mu}$ ) passes through p.

Geodesics can be categorized as timelike, null or spacelike according to the nature of their tangent vector. Timelike and spacelike geodesics are the curves which extremize length between two points in curved geometries. This provides natural parameters for both timelike and spacelike geodesics (respectively, proper time and spatial length of the geodesic). For null geodesics, there is no preferred parameter, though it is convenient to set it such that  $k^{\mu} = dx^{\mu}/dt$ , where  $k^{\mu}$  is the four-momentum vector of the massless particle. In the context of General Relativity, geodesics replace the concept of gravitational force: freely falling massive test particles move along timelike geodesic paths, which are curved due to the presence of an external source of energy or momentum. The gravitational interaction is made through the curvature of spacetime, which in turn affects how geodesics behave. The same is true for massless particles, except they move through null geodesic paths.

The overall approach to calculate the direction drift involves finding the null path  $x^{\mu}(t)$  for the light of a given astronomical source. This means we would need to explicitly solve eq. (6.3.3). However, for most spacetimes this need not be done. If a spacetime possesses a symmetry, one can exploit it to find the geodesic equation through a simpler path. As was shown before, if  $\xi^{\mu}$  is a Killing vector field then a conserved quantity exists, namely,  $\xi^{\mu}T_{\mu}$  is constant along the geodesic. In most of the cases below, we shall be working in homogeneous spacetimes, and exploiting this symmetry allows us to easily

derive the geodesic equation  $x^{\mu}(t)$ . In one case, namely, the perturbed FLRW spacetime, no symmetry is present and we must solve eq. (6.3.3) explicitly.

# 7 Evaluating the redshift and direction drifts

In the following, we present the calculations for the redshift and direction drifts in different cosmological scenarios.

# 7.1 General approach

In order to get some intuition on the direction drift, let us start the computation with an heuristic approach. Then, a rigorous calculation is done in Minkowski spacetime to elucidate our approach.

#### 7.1.1 Heuristic argument

In 1728, Bradley obtained an expression for stellar aberration using a corpuscular description of light with Newton optics theory. It is today well-understood in the framework of special relativity that aberration is related to the Lorentz boost associated with a change of referential (see, e.g., ref. [103] for details). Consider an inertial frame S and a second inertial frame S' moving with speed V with respect to S along the X axis. For a light source in the XOY plane of S whose position vector makes an angle  $\alpha$  with the OX axis, the photons emitted are observed in the direction  $n^i = (\cos \alpha, \sin \alpha, 0)$  and the associated wave-vector is  $k^{\mu} = \omega(1, -n^i)$ , where the minus sign in  $k^i$  takes into account that the photon is approaching the observer. However, in the frame S' the wave-vector is  $k'^{\mu} = \omega'(1, -n'^i)$ , where  $n'^i = (\cos \alpha', \sin \alpha', 0)$ . Using the Lorentz transformation law for a four-vector, one immediately arrives at

$$\cos \alpha' = \frac{\cos \alpha + V}{1 + V \cos \alpha},\tag{7.1.1}$$

and

$$\sin \alpha' = \frac{\sqrt{1 - V^2} \sin \alpha}{1 + V \cos \alpha},\tag{7.1.2}$$

or equivalently

$$\tan \alpha' = \frac{\sqrt{1 - V^2} \sin \alpha}{\cos \alpha + V},\tag{7.1.3}$$

where the speed of light has been set to unity by a proper choice of units. This is the relativistic result, which reduces to Bradley's, eq. (6.1.1), in the Newtonian approximation. Bradley considered S to be the quasi-inertial frame of the Solar system and S' attached to the Earth. Over a  $\Delta t = 6$  months period,  $\Delta V = 2V$  so that the aberration is given by

$$|\cos(\alpha' + \Delta\alpha') - \cos\alpha'| \sim \sin\alpha' \Delta\alpha' \sim 2V \sin^2\alpha', \qquad (7.1.4)$$

where we used that  $d\alpha'/dV = -\sin \alpha'$ , which can be found by deriving eq. (7.1.1). The aberration is just an effect of perspective due to a change of (Lorentz) frame, and the question of whether or not to take into account the source velocity does not arise, which was however a difficult question in corpuscular optics. It follows that the drift is of order

$$\frac{\Delta \alpha'}{\Delta t} \sim \frac{\Delta V}{\Delta t} \sin \alpha' \,. \tag{7.1.5}$$

There is however a second effect to take into account. It is a simple geometric effect due to the fact that in  $\Delta t$  the star and the observer have moved by a typical relative distance  $|\mathbf{v}_* - \mathbf{v}_0| \Delta t$  so that it is expected that

$$\Delta \alpha' \sim \frac{|\mathbf{v}_* - \mathbf{v}_0| \Delta t}{|\mathbf{r}_* - \mathbf{r}_0|},\tag{7.1.6}$$

where  $\mathbf{r}_*$  and  $\mathbf{r}_o$  are the star and observer's positions relative to a properly chosen reference frame. In conclusion, we expect the typical total drift to behave as

$$\frac{\Delta \alpha'}{\Delta t} = \frac{|\mathbf{v}_* - \mathbf{v}_{\rm o}|}{|\mathbf{r}_* - \mathbf{r}_{\rm o}|} + \frac{\Delta V}{\Delta t} |\sin \alpha|$$
(7.1.7)

We shall refer to the total drift as *direction drift*; the term inversely proportional to the source-observer distance is the *parallax drift* and the term proportional to the observer's acceleration is the *aberration drift*. Indeed, the arguments above are just an informal sketch of the different contributions. For a rigorous and fully relativistic account of these effects, the angles have to be replaced by directions on the celestial sphere (i.e., unit 2-vectors) and we need to properly define the angles, motions, wave-vectors, etc., as described by non-inertial observers and sources. However, it emphasizes a key issue on which our formalism is built: the direction drift, and similarly the redshift drift, involves two sets of null-geodesic compared before and after a given lapse of observer proper time. It also shows that the total direction drift cannot be reduced to a time derivative (coordinate or proper) of the aberration.

#### 7.1.2 Minkowski spacetime

As a warm up, let us consider a Minkowski spacetime with metric  $ds^2 = -dt^2 + \delta_{ij}dx^i dx^j$  in Cartesian coordinates. Thanks to the three Killing vectors associated with spatial translations,  $\xi^{\mu}_{(i)} = \delta^{\mu}_i$ , the vector  $k^{\mu}$  tangent to a null geodesic  $x^{\mu}(\lambda)$  satisfies

$$k_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}_{(i)} = k_i = \text{const} \tag{7.1.8}$$

along the geodesic, according to eq. (2.1.14). By exploiting the constancy of  $k_i$  we are able to find the geodesic equation in this (and other spatially homogeneous) spacetimes. Time translations are also symmetries in Minkowski spacetime, and thus, the existence of a timelike Killing vector  $\xi_{(0)}^{\mu} = \delta_0^{\mu}$  ensures that

$$k_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}_{(0)} = k_0 = \text{const.} \tag{7.1.9}$$

As we will see below,  $k_0$  is the frequency of the photon as measured by static observers.

Let us first consider a static observer with 4-velocity  $u^{\mu} \equiv \delta_0^{\mu}$ . We decompose  $k^{\mu}$ into a frequency  $\omega$  and a direction  $n^{\mu}$  as

$$k^{\mu} = \omega (u^{\mu} - n^{\mu}), \qquad (7.1.10)$$

where  $n^{\mu}$  is a spatial vector (with respect to the spatial hypersurfaces orthogonal to  $u^{\mu}$ ) satisfying  $n^{\mu}u_{\mu} = 0$ . The photon's frequency as seen by the static observer is given by  $\omega = -u^{\mu}k_{\mu}$ , and given condition (7.1.9), it is constant along the null geodesic.

Considering the condition (7.1.8), one can raise the spatial index freely in Minkowski spacetime and rewrite it as  $k^i = k_o^i$ , where, from now one, the subscript "o" denotes the value of  $k^i$  taken at the observer's position. Then, let us recall that the null geodesic  $x^{\mu}(\lambda)$  is defined by  $k^{\mu} = dx^{\mu}/d\lambda$ , i.e.,  $k^{\mu}$  is its tangent vector and  $\lambda$  is an affine parameter. Changing the parameter from  $\lambda$  to t gives

$$k^{\mu} = \frac{dx^{\mu}}{d\lambda},\tag{7.1.11}$$

$$=\frac{dt}{d\lambda}\frac{dx^{\mu}}{dt},$$
(7.1.12)

$$=\omega\frac{dx^{\mu}}{dt}.$$
(7.1.13)

The above change of parameters will be done in the next sections recurrently. Now, condition (7.1.8) can be cast to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x^i}{\mathrm{d}t} = -n_\mathrm{o}^i\,,\tag{7.1.14}$$

Let us integrate this equation considering a null geodesic connecting a source and an observer. This is easily done and gives

$$x_s^i - x_o^i = -(t_s - t_o)n_o^i, (7.1.15)$$

where the subscript "s" stands for source. Note that, given conditions (7.1.8) and (7.1.9),  $n^i$  is constant along the geodesic. However, in general, it is not constant from one geodesic to the other. Let us now consider a second geodesic in which the photon was emitted at  $t_s + \delta t_s$  and received by the observer at  $t_o + \delta t_o$ . We also assume that the source and observer are static for the moment. Now, we want to write eq. (7.1.14) for this second null geodesic. Let us note that from the first to the second geodesic the positions  $x_{s,o}^i$  do not change. The time coordinates change according to what was described above, and for the change in the direction of observation, we introduce the general definition

$$\delta_{12}\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}|_2 - \mathcal{O}|_1, \tag{7.1.16}$$

for any observable  $\mathcal{O}$  compared at two geodesics, separated in general by a lapse  $\delta \tau$  of the proper time of the observer. Note that it is a non-local variation which involves two

geodesics. For a static observer in Minkowski spacetime we have  $\delta \tau = \delta t$ . Thus, the direction of observation changes by the factor  $\delta_{12}n_o^i$ . The time variation of this non-local observable is what we define as the direction drift. Considering all of the above, we can now write the equation for the second geodesic:

$$x_{s}^{i} - x_{o}^{i} = -(t_{s} - t_{o} + \delta t_{s} - \delta t_{o}) \left( n_{o}^{i} + \delta_{12} n_{o}^{i} \right).$$
(7.1.17)

It is expected that in Minkowski spacetime for static source and observer that  $\delta_{12}n_o^i = 0$ . Let us check that this is indeed the case as an illustration of our method. First, we must find the relationship between  $\delta t_s$  and  $\delta t_o$ . Again, in Minkowski we intuitively expect  $\delta t_s = \delta t_o$ . In most spacetimes of interest, however, this is not immediate. To find this relationship in general, we contract both eqs. (7.1.14) and (7.1.17) with  $n_{io}$  and subtract them. Being  $n^i$  normalized, this gives

$$0 = -(t_s - t_o) \,\delta_{12} n_o^i n_{io} + (\delta t_s - \delta t_o) \,. \tag{7.1.18}$$

We then use that, since  $n^i$  is normalized to 1, it satisfies  $n_o^i \delta_{12} n_{io} = 0$  to arrive at  $\delta t_s = \delta t_o$ , as expected. If we now compare eqs. (7.1.15) and (7.1.17) to extract the direction drift, it is easy to find

$$\delta_{12} n_{\rm o}^i = 0, \tag{7.1.19}$$

i.e., there is no direction drift for static source and observer in Minkowski spacetime, as expected.

Let us now consider a general observer with 4-velocity  $\tilde{u}^{\mu}$ . We assume that its peculiar velocity  $v^{\mu}$  is small compared to the speed of light, but otherwise arbitrary. Hence, we shall work at linear order in the spatial velocity and write

$$\tilde{u}^{\mu} = u^{\mu} + v^{\mu}, \qquad (7.1.20)$$

with  $v^{\mu}u_{\mu} = 0$ . Note that, to first order in the spatial velocity,  $\tilde{u}^{\mu}\tilde{u}_{\mu} = u^{\mu}u_{\mu} = -1$ , i.e., it is normalized. From now on quantities with a tilde are associated to the general observer (or a moving source). The wave-vector can be either decomposed as  $k^{\mu} = \omega(u^{\mu} - n^{\mu})$  for the static observer, or as  $k^{\mu} = \tilde{\omega}(\tilde{u}^{\mu} - \tilde{n}^{\mu})$  for the general observer. The frequency  $\tilde{\omega}$  for the moving observer is now given by  $\tilde{\omega} = -\tilde{u}^{\mu}k_{\mu}$ . One can use this to find  $\tilde{\omega}$  as a function of  $\omega$ :

$$\tilde{\omega} = -\omega \tilde{u}^{\mu} \left( u_{\mu} - n_{\mu} \right), \qquad (7.1.21)$$

$$=\omega\left(1+v^{i}n_{i}\right),\tag{7.1.22}$$

where we used the fact that both  $v^{\mu}$  and  $n^{\mu}$  are purely spatial vectors. With the above equation, one can also find  $\tilde{n}^i$  as a function of  $n^i$ . To do that, we compare  $k^i$  written as  $k^i = -\omega n^i$  with  $k^i = \tilde{\omega} (v^i - \tilde{n}^i)$ . This gives

$$-\omega n^{i} = \omega \left(1 + v^{j} n_{j}\right) \left(v^{i} - \tilde{n}^{i}\right), \qquad (7.1.23)$$

$$=\omega\left(v^{i}-\tilde{n}^{i}-v^{j}n_{j}n^{i}\right),\qquad(7.1.24)$$

where we used that  $v^j n_j \tilde{n}^i = v^j n_j n^i$ . This is true to first order since, at this order,  $n^i$  and  $\tilde{n}^i$  must differ by a factor proportional to  $v^i$ . One can then easily rearrange the above to obtain  $\tilde{n}^i$  as a function of  $n^i$ . We summarize the above results into the set of equations

$$k^{i} = \tilde{\omega} \left( v^{i} - \tilde{n}^{i} \right), \qquad (7.1.25a)$$

$$\tilde{\omega} = \omega \left( 1 + v^i n_i \right), \qquad (7.1.25b)$$

$$\tilde{n}^i = n^i + \perp^i_j v^j, \qquad (7.1.25c)$$

where

$$\perp_j^i \equiv \delta_j^i - n^i n_j \tag{7.1.26}$$

is the perpendicular projector with respect to the direction of observation of the static observer,  $n^i$ . We shall find a similar set of equations for a general observer in FLRW spacetime.

Now, the proper time of the general observer is related to the coordinate time by  $d\tau^2 = (1 - v^2)d\tilde{t}^2$ , hence  $d\tau = d\tilde{t}$  at linear order in v. Since eq. (7.1.8) is observer independent, we can use the same trick as before to find the geodesic equation as a function of  $\tilde{n}^i$ . We set the right side of eq. (7.1.8) at the point of observation, and write  $k^i|_o$  as given by eq. (7.1.25a). This leads to

$$\omega \frac{\mathrm{d}x^i}{\mathrm{d}t} = \tilde{\omega}_\mathrm{o} \left( v_\mathrm{o}^i - \tilde{n}_\mathrm{o}^i \right). \tag{7.1.27}$$

Using eq. (7.1.25b), it takes the form

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x^i}{\mathrm{d}t} = \perp^i_j v^j_\mathrm{o} - \tilde{n}^i_\mathrm{o} \,. \tag{7.1.28}$$

To write this expression, we have again used that, to first order in spatial velocity,  $v^j n_j \tilde{n}^i = v^j n_j n^i$ . The projector  $\perp_j^i$  above should be taken at the value of observation, but since  $n^i$  is constant along the geodesic we bother not denoting it to avoid messy notation. Once integrated, the above leads to

$$x_{s}^{i} - x_{o}^{i} = (t_{s} - t_{o}) \left( \perp_{j}^{i} v_{o}^{j} - \tilde{n}_{o}^{i} \right), \qquad (7.1.29)$$

since, as just mentioned,  $n^i$  and thus  $\perp_j^i = \delta_j^i - n^i n_j$  are constants along the null geodesic. This is the generalization of eq. (7.1.15) for a general observer.

Let us now consider a second light ray emitted at  $t_s + \delta \tilde{t}_s$  and received at  $t_o + \delta \tilde{t}_o$ . We also allow the source to have a general velocity. The tildes in  $\delta \tilde{t}_{s,o}$  denote that for moving observers and sources, the lapses that connect the two geodesics are not the same as in the static case; they are now velocity dependent. We also have now that  $\delta \tilde{t}_o \neq \delta \tilde{t}_s$ , since both the observer and source are moving at different velocities. The end points of the second null-geodesic are now given by  $x_{s,o}^i + v_{s,o}^i \delta \tilde{t}_{s,o}$ , and the velocity of the observer is then  $v_o^i + \dot{v}_o^i \delta \tilde{t}_o$ , where the overdot denotes a derivative with respect to t. Figure 8 illustrates the scheme of this calculation. The integration of the second geodesic is then given by

$$x_s^i - x_o^i + v_s^i \delta \tilde{t}_s - v_o^i \delta \tilde{t}_o = \left( t_s - t_o + \delta \tilde{t}_s - \delta \tilde{t}_o \right) \left( \perp_j^i v_o^j - \tilde{n}_o^i + \perp_j^i \dot{v}_o^j \delta \tilde{t}_o - \delta_{12} \tilde{n}_o^i \right).$$
(7.1.30)

The relation between  $\delta \tilde{t}_s$  and  $\delta \tilde{t}_o$  is obtained by subtracting the contractions of eqs. (7.1.29) and (7.1.30) with  $\tilde{n}_{io}$  as before to get

$$\frac{\delta \tilde{t}_s}{\delta \tilde{t}_o} = 1 - \left( v_s^i - v_o^i \right) n_{oi}. \tag{7.1.31}$$

Once inserted in eq. (7.1.30), we then subtract it from eq. (7.1.29) to get the direction drift

$$\frac{\delta_{12}\tilde{n}_{\rm o}^i}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = \frac{\perp_j^i \left(v_s^j - v_{\rm o}^j\right)}{D_{so}} + \perp_j^i \dot{v}_{\rm o}^j,\tag{7.1.32}$$

where  $D_{so} \equiv t_o - t_s$  is the (positive) radial distance between the observer and the source (in units where c = 1). Note that the perpendicular projector multiplies spatial velocities, and as we work at linear order in velocities, it is equivalent to consider the projector built either from  $n^i$  or  $\tilde{n}^i$ .

The expression (7.1.32) matches the heuristic argument. The first term (the parallax drift) is related to the change of apparent position of the source due to the motion of the source and the observer. This is a simple perspective effect that is proportional to the inverse of the distance. The second term (the aberration drift) is the mean peculiar acceleration of the observer perpendicular to the line of sight on the time scale of the observation.

#### 7.1.3 Summary

This first insight shows that it is indeed not correct to start from the Bradley formula for the aberration and simply take its time derivative to obtain the full direction drift. It also defines clearly the general strategy of the computation: (1) consider 2 null geodesics connecting the observer and the source, (2) relate the lapses of time between the two geodesics at the source and at the observer. This provides a well-defined and physically well-under control derivation of both the direction and redshift drifts that can, in principle, be extended to any spacetime. It also emphasizes that we have to pay attention to the fact that  $\omega$  may not be constant along the geodesics and to properly define the direction of observation for an observer at Earth. To this last purpose, given a metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , we shall introduce a tetrad basis  $\epsilon^{\mu}_{(A)}$  defined by

$$g_{\mu\nu}\epsilon^{\mu}_{(A)}\epsilon^{\nu}_{(B)} = \eta_{AB}.$$
 (7.1.33)

If we choose  $\epsilon^{\mu}_{(0)}$  to be the 4-velocity  $u^{\mu}$  of an inertial observer, any vector field  $V^{\mu}$  can then be decomposed as

$$V^{\mu} = (-V^{\alpha}u_{\alpha})u^{\mu} + V^{(i)}\epsilon^{\mu}_{(i)}.$$
(7.1.34)



Figure 8 – General definitions for the two null geodesics between a general observer and source. The differences between the times contribute to the parallax part of the drift. Note that at first order in velocities  $\delta \tau_{s,o} = \delta \tilde{t}_{s,o}$ .

## 7.2 Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker spacetime

#### 7.2.1 Static observers and tetrad decomposition

The construction from the previous section is easily generalized to a cosmological spacetime. Let us assume a cosmology described by a spatially flat Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) solution with metric

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -\mathrm{d}t^2 + a^2(t)\delta_{ij}\mathrm{d}x^i\mathrm{d}x^j \tag{7.2.1}$$

where t is the cosmic (or coordinate) time, i.e. the proper time of comoving observers with 4-velocity  $u^{\mu} \equiv \delta_0^{\mu}$  and a(t) is the scale factor. We also introduce the conformal time<sup>1</sup> defined by  $d\eta = a^{-1}dt$  and define the Hubble function by  $H \equiv d \ln a/dt$ . Let us show here that, when written in tetrad components, the geodesic equation reduces to the same as the Minkowski case. We start by considering a comoving observer, and move on to the general case in the following section. Consider a photon with wave-vector  $k^{\mu} = \omega (u^{\mu} - n^{\mu})$ . Note that in FLRW spacetime there is no timelike Killing vector field,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Using conformal time usually eases intermediate computations; the final results, however, we shall write in terms of coordinate time (or proper time, when suitable) since they prove more intuitive when done so.

and thus  $\omega$  is not constant along the null geodesic. To find how  $\omega$  evolves along it, one needs only to solve the 0-component of the geodesic equation. That is, we must solve

$$\frac{dk^0}{d\lambda} + \Gamma^0_{\mu\nu} k^\mu k^\nu = 0.$$
 (7.2.2)

With  $\Gamma^0_{0\mu} = 0$  and  $\Gamma^0_{ij} = a\dot{a}\delta_{ij}$  the above turns into

$$\omega \frac{d\omega}{dt} + a \frac{da}{dt} \delta_{ij} k^i k^j = 0.$$
(7.2.3)

Now, since  $k^{\mu}k_{\mu} = 0$ , we have that  $\delta_{ij}k^ik^j = (\omega/a)^2$ . We plug this into the above, and after some simple algebra, it can be rewritten as

$$\frac{d(a\omega)}{dt} = 0, (7.2.4)$$

i.e.,  $a\omega$  is constant along the null geodesic.

Now, the same trick used before for homogeneous spacetimes can be used here to find the spatial part of the geodesic equation. Note that in FLRW, however, raising and lowering indexes must be done with care, such that  $k_i = \text{const}$  is equivalent to  $a^2k^i = \text{const}$ . As before, the l.h.s. is chosen at the point of observation, giving

$$a^2 \frac{dx^i}{d\lambda} = -a_o^2 \omega_o n_o^i. \tag{7.2.5}$$

The above is easily solved when written using conformal time and tetrad components. We use the tetrad field defined by

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{(0)} = \partial_t, \qquad \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{(i)} = a^{-1} \partial_i. \tag{7.2.6}$$

This means that the tetrad component of the direction vector,  $n^{(i)}$ , is related to the coordinate component  $n^i$  through  $n^{(i)} = \epsilon_j^{(i)} n^j = a n^i$ . With these modifications, eq. (7.2.5) reads

$$a\omega \frac{dx^i}{d\eta} = -a_0 \omega_0 n_0^{(i)}. \tag{7.2.7}$$

We now use the fact that  $a\omega$  is constant along the geodesic to rewrite it as

$$\frac{dx^{i}}{d\eta} = -n_{\rm o}^{(i)}.$$
(7.2.8)

This is similar to the Minkowski result, eq. (7.1.14), except for the use of conformal time and tetrad component of the direction vector. It is easy to see that, given  $a\omega = \text{const}$ ,  $a^2k^i = \text{const}$  implies that  $n^{(i)}$  is constant along the geodesic (whereas in Minkowski we had that  $n^i$  was constant). Integration of eq. (7.2.8) follows similarly, as does writing a second geodesic lapsed by  $\delta\eta_{s,o}$ . It is easy to show through the same procedures as before that the lapses in FLRW are related through  $\delta\eta_s = \delta\eta_o$ . Note that in coordinate time the lapses are not the same due to the evolution of the scale factor. The calculations follows the same path as in the Minkowski static case, which allows us to conclude that, for the comoving FLRW case we have

$$\delta_{12} n_{\rm o}^{(i)} = 0, \tag{7.2.9}$$

i.e., there is also no direction drift.

It is also a good opportunity now to show how to evaluate the gravitational redshift drift, which was absent in the case of a Minkowski spacetime since it has no curvature. The redshift z is defined as

$$1 + z = \frac{(u^{\mu}k_{\mu})|_{s}}{(u^{\mu}k_{\mu})|_{o}}.$$
(7.2.10)

For comoving observer and source, it is simply  $1 + z = (\omega_s/\omega_o)$ . We use that  $a\omega = \text{const}$  along a null geodesic to rewrite it as

$$1 + z = \frac{a_{\rm o}}{a_s}.\tag{7.2.11}$$

On a second geodesic lapsed by  $\delta t_{s,o}$ , the redshift is given by

$$1 + z + \delta_{12}z = \frac{a(t_{\rm o} + \delta t_{\rm o})}{a(t_s + \delta t_s)}$$
(7.2.12)

Expanding the above to first order in the lapses gives, after some simple algebra,

$$\frac{\delta_{12}z}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = (1+z)\left(H_{\rm o} - H_s \frac{\delta t_s}{\delta t_{\rm o}}\right).$$
(7.2.13)

With the lapses in conformal time related by  $\frac{\delta \eta_s}{\delta \eta_o} = 1$ , in coordinate time we have<sup>2</sup>

$$\frac{\delta t_s}{\delta t_o} = \frac{a_s}{a_o} = \frac{1}{1+z}.\tag{7.2.14}$$

Plugging the above into eq. (7.2.13) finally gives the standard result

$$\frac{\delta_{12}z}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = (1+z)H_{\rm o} - H_s.$$
(7.2.15)

We now move on to the case of observers and sources in general motion

#### 7.2.2 General observers

We again consider a general observer with 4-velocity

$$\tilde{u}^{\mu} = u^{\mu} + v^{\mu}, \qquad (7.2.16)$$

where  $v^{\mu}$  is spatial ( $v^{\mu}u_{\mu} = 0$ ). Again, the tilde denotes quantities associated with a general observer (or moving source). We assume the observer is non-relativistic and work at first order in  $v^{\mu}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There is a way to generalize this result when written in terms of the redshift z. This is explained in Appendix B and will be used further.

The wave-vector is decomposed equivalently either as  $k^{\mu} = \omega(u^{\mu} - n^{\mu})$  or as  $k^{\mu} = \tilde{\omega}(\tilde{u}^{\mu} - \tilde{n}^{\mu})$ . Again, it follows that

$$k^{i} = \tilde{\omega} \left( v^{i} - \tilde{n}^{i} \right), \qquad (7.2.17a)$$

$$\tilde{\omega} = \omega \left( 1 + v^i n_i \right), \qquad (7.2.17b)$$

$$\tilde{n}^i = n^i + \perp^i_j v^j, \qquad (7.2.17c)$$

where  $\perp_j^i = \delta_j^i - n^i n_j$  is the perpendicular projector with respect to  $n^i$ . Again, we can make use of

$$a^2k^i = k_i = \text{const} \tag{7.2.18}$$

to find the geodesic equation. After decomposing  $n^i$ ,  $\tilde{n}^i$  and the velocities on the tetrad (7.2.6) as

$$n^{i} = n^{(j)} \epsilon^{i}_{(j)}, \quad \tilde{n}^{i} = \tilde{n}^{(j)} \epsilon^{i}_{(j)}, \quad v^{i} = v^{(j)} \epsilon^{i}_{(j)},$$
(7.2.19)

the condition (7.2.18) leads to

$$a\omega \frac{\mathrm{d}x^{i}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = a_{\mathrm{o}}\tilde{\omega}_{\mathrm{o}} \left( v_{\mathrm{o}}^{(i)} - \tilde{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(i)} \right).$$
(7.2.20)

With the use of eq. (7.2.17b), and the fact that  $a\omega = a_0\omega_0$  for comoving observers, it reduces to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x^{i}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = \pm_{j}^{i} v_{\mathrm{o}}^{(j)} - \tilde{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(i)}.$$
(7.2.21)

It can be integrated easily since  $n^{(i)}$  is constant along the null geodesic, and so is  $\perp_j^i$ , once expressed as  $\perp_j^i = \delta_j^i - n^{(i)}n_{(j)}$ . We get

$$x_{s}^{i} - x_{o}^{i} = (\eta_{s} - \eta_{o}) \left( \perp_{j}^{i} v_{o}^{(j)} - \tilde{n}_{o}^{(i)} \right).$$
(7.2.22)

Again, after shifting to conformal time and tetrad components, this is similar to the derivation in Minkowski spacetime.

We now consider the second geodesic describing the observation at a conformal time  $\eta_0 + \delta \tilde{\eta}_0$ . Note that the lapse  $\delta \tilde{\eta}_0$  is related to the proper time  $\tau_0$  of the observer by  $\delta \tau_0 = \delta \tilde{t}_0 = a_0 \delta \tilde{\eta}_0$  as long as we work at first order in velocities. The photon was emitted by the source at a conformal time  $\eta_s + \delta \tilde{\eta}_s$ . As explained in the previous section, we need once more to find the relationship between  $\delta \tilde{\eta}_s$  and  $\delta \tilde{\eta}_0$ . Compared to the first geodesic, the positions of the source and the observer are now given by  $x_{s,0}^i + v_{s,0}^{(i)} \delta \tilde{\eta}_{s,0}$ ; the velocity of the observer is  $v_0^{(i)} + v_0^{(i)} \delta \tilde{\eta}_0$  (where a prime refers to a derivative with respect to the conformal time). As long as we work in first order in velocities, we need only the background value of  $\delta_{12} n_0^{(i)} = 0$  so that  $\perp_j^i$  remains unchanged. Plugging these modifications in eq. (7.2.21) we get the equation of the second geodesic

$$x_{s}^{i} - x_{o}^{i} + v_{s}^{(i)}\delta\tilde{\eta}_{s} - v_{o}^{(i)}\delta\tilde{\eta}_{o} = (\eta_{s} - \eta_{o} + \delta\tilde{\eta}_{s} - \delta\tilde{\eta}_{o}) \left( \perp_{j}^{i} v_{o}^{(j)} - \tilde{n}_{o}^{(i)} + \perp_{j}^{i} v_{o}^{'(j)}\delta\tilde{\eta}_{o} - \delta_{12}\tilde{n}_{o}^{(i)} \right).$$
(7.2.23)

By contracting eqs. (7.2.22) and (7.2.23) with  $\tilde{n}_{(i)o}$  and subtracting them, one gets the relation between  $\delta \tilde{\eta}_s$  and  $\delta \tilde{\eta}_o$ :

$$\frac{\delta \tilde{\eta}_s}{\delta \tilde{\eta}_o} = 1 - \left( v_s^{(i)} - v_o^{(i)} \right) n_{(i)}.$$
(7.2.24)

To finish, we just need to combine eqs. (7.2.22), (7.2.23) and (7.2.24) to get the total direction drift, i.e., the change of direction in units of proper time of the observer, which is

$$\frac{\delta_{12}\tilde{n}_{\rm o}^{(i)}}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = \frac{\perp_j^i \left( v_s^{(j)} - v_{\rm o}^{(j)} \right)}{a_{\rm o}\chi_{\rm so}} + \perp_j^i \dot{v}_{\rm o}^{(j)}, \tag{7.2.25}$$

where  $\chi_{so} \equiv \eta_o - \eta_s$  is the comoving radial distance between the observer and the source. This expression is similar to eq. (7.1.32) derived in a Minkowski spacetime, and its implications will be discussed below.

Let us now turn to the redshift drift. From eq. (7.2.10), the redshift for a moving observer and source is given by

$$1 + \tilde{z} = \frac{\tilde{\omega}_s}{\tilde{\omega}_o}.$$
(7.2.26)

Using eq. (7.2.17b) and recalling that  $a\omega = \text{const}$ , we can express the redshift as

$$1 + \tilde{z} = \frac{a_{\rm o}}{a_s} \left[ 1 + \left( v_s^{(i)} - v_{\rm o}^{(i)} \right) n_{(i)} \right].$$
 (7.2.27)

Using the same procedure as for the static case, it is straightforward to write the redshift  $1 + \tilde{z} + \delta \tilde{z}$  for a second geodesic. Since  $n_{(i)}$  is unchanged from one geodesic to the other, we have

$$1 + \tilde{z} + \delta_{12}\tilde{z} = \frac{a_{\rm o}}{a_s} \left( 1 + H_{\rm o}\delta\tilde{t}_{\rm o} - H_s\delta\tilde{t}_s \right) \left[ 1 + \left( v_s^{(i)} - v_{\rm o}^{(i)} \right) n_{(i)} + \left( \dot{v}_s^{(i)}\delta\tilde{t}_s - \dot{v}_{\rm o}^{(i)}\delta\tilde{t}_{\rm o} \right) n_{(i)} \right].$$
(7.2.28)

It is now a matter of tedious but straightforward algebraic manipulations to arrive at the redshift drift. Only terms to first order on the lapses and velocities should be kept, and the relation between the lapses in coordinate time can be easily obtained from eq. (7.2.24); it is simply

$$\frac{\delta \tilde{t}_s}{\delta \tilde{t}_o} = \frac{1}{1 + \tilde{z}}.$$
(7.2.29)

This can also be obtained by making use of eq. (B.0.9) derived in Appendix B. Finally, the redshift drift for moving observers and sources is given by

$$\frac{\delta_{12}\tilde{z}}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = (1+\tilde{z}) \left( H_{\rm o} - \dot{v}_{\rm o}^{(i)} n_{(i)} \right) - \left( H_s - \dot{v}_s^{(i)} n_{(i)} \right).$$
(7.2.30)

#### 7.2.3 Multipolar decomposition

The angular dependence, i.e. in  $n^{(i)}$ , of the redshift and aberration drifts can be decomposed in multipoles either using symmetric trace-free tensors or spherical harmonics [104]. For the redshift drift, it takes the form

$$\frac{\delta_{12}\tilde{z}}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = \mathcal{W} + \mathcal{W}_i n^{(i)} + \mathcal{W}_{ij} n^{(i)} n^{(j)} + \dots$$
$$= \sum_{\ell,m} \mathcal{W}_{\ell m} Y^{\ell m}(n^{(i)})$$
(7.2.31)

where the  $\mathcal{W}_{i_1...i_n}$  are symmetric trace-free tensors. From eq. (7.2.30), we read that the monopole and the dipole of the redshift drift are

$$\mathcal{W} = (1+\tilde{z})H_{o} - H_{s} \tag{7.2.32a}$$

$$\mathcal{W}_i = -(1+\tilde{z})\dot{v}_o^{(i)} + \dot{v}_s^{(i)}.$$
 (7.2.32b)

The direction drift can be written in terms of a gradient and curl as

$$\frac{\delta_{12}\tilde{n}_{\rm o}^{(i)}}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = D^{(i)}\mathcal{E}(n^{(l)}) + \epsilon^{(i)(j)}D_{(j)}\mathcal{H}(n^{(l)})$$
(7.2.33)

where  $D^{(i)}$  is the covariant derivative on the 2-sphere of unit radius and  $\epsilon^{(i)(j)}$  is the Levi-Civita tensor on the unit 2-sphere. The angular dependence of  $\mathcal{E}(n^{(i)})$  and  $\mathcal{H}(n^{(i)})$  is in turn decomposed in symmetric trace-free tensors or in spherical harmonics. For  $\mathcal{E}$  (and similarly for  $\mathcal{H}$ ) this decomposition is

$$\mathcal{E}(n^{(l)}) = \mathcal{E}_{i}n^{(i)} + \mathcal{E}_{ij}n^{(i)}n^{(j)} + \dots$$
  
=  $\sum_{\ell \ge 1, m} \mathcal{E}_{\ell m} Y^{\ell m}(n^{(i)})$ . (7.2.34)

From eq. (7.2.25) we infer that  $\mathcal{H}(n^{(i)}) = 0$  and the dipolar components of  $\mathcal{E}(n^{(i)})$  are

$$\mathcal{E}_{i} = \frac{v_{s}^{(i)} - v_{o}^{(j)}}{a_{o}\chi_{so}} + \dot{v}_{o}^{(i)}.$$
(7.2.35)

Note that a dipole in  $\mathcal{H}(n^{(i)})$  corresponds to a global infinitesimal rotation, hence the direction drift generated by our local velocity cannot be mixed with such effect.

Finally, we note that one could have chosen to decompose the direction drift directly in terms of spin-weighted spherical harmonics; this is actually equivalent to what we are doing since the covariant derivative on the unit 2-sphere  $D^{(i)}$  coincides with the spin-raising operator spherical harmonics [105, 106].

#### 7.2.4 Discussion on velocities

The previous sections derive the redshift and direction drifts for both comoving and general observers in a strictly spatially homogeneous and isotropic FLRW spacetime. Let us have a closer look to our result (7.2.25) concerning the aberration drift. It contains two contributions: the first one is the parallax drift, which encompasses the change of parallax due to the motions of the source and observer, and the second, the aberration drift, is similar to the Bradley aberration. While the first depends on the distance of the source, the second depends only on the acceleration of the observer, a property that we have already explained in our heuristic argument. Other works, such as refs. [84, 85], have also computed in more general settings these two contributions to the total variation of direction, employing a different terminology.

To compare the two contributions, we must describe the different motions involved, which comprise the motion of our Local Group of galaxies with respect to the CMB, the motion of the Milky Way with respect to the Local Group, the motion of the Sun around the Milky Way, and finally the motion of the Earth around the Sun. To this purpose, we write

$$v_{\rm o}^{(i)} = v_{\rm LG}^{(i)} + v_{\rm MW}^{(i)} + v_{\odot}^{(i)} + v_{\oplus}^{(i)}$$
(7.2.36)

and analyze each motion separately. We also provide rough estimates of the order of magnitude of the aberration and parallax drifts, assuming that the motions of the sources are averaged out.

ullet Local group velocity,  $v_{
m LG}^{(i)}$ 

Let us start by considering the motion of our Local Group of galaxies. The Local Group is a comoving observer in the FLRW universe, following the geodesic flow. Thus, this motion is given by solving the geodesic equation for a point particle with 4-velocity  $\tilde{u}^{\mu}$  in a flat FLRW universe. To first order in spatial velocity, its *i*-component is given by

$$\frac{dv^{i}}{dt} + \Gamma^{i}_{\mu\nu}\tilde{u}^{\mu}\tilde{u}^{\nu} = 0.$$
 (7.2.37)

Given that in flat FLRW  $\Gamma_{i0}^i = H\delta_i^i$  is the non-zero contribution to the above, we have

$$\frac{dv^i}{dt} + 2Hv^i = 0. (7.2.38)$$

Rewriting the above using tetrad components, i.e., using  $v^{(i)} = av^i$ , we get, at the position of the observer,

$$\dot{v}_{\rm o}^{(i)} = -H_{\rm o}v_{\rm o}^{(i)}.$$
 (7.2.39)

The comoving radial distance from the observer to the source satisfies [57]

$$\frac{a_{\rm o}\chi_{\rm so}}{D_{H_{\rm o}}} = \int_0^z \frac{{\rm d}z'}{E(z')},\tag{7.2.40}$$

where  $E(z) = H(z)/H_0$ . Using both eqs. (7.2.39) and (7.2.40) in eq. (7.2.25) allows it to be rewritten as

$$\frac{\delta_{12}\tilde{n}_{\rm o}^{(i)}}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = \frac{\perp_j^i}{D_{H_{\rm o}}} \left[ \frac{\left( v_s^{(j)} - v_{\rm o}^{(j)} \right)}{\int_0^z \frac{\mathrm{d}z'}{E(z')}} - v_{\rm o}^{(j)} \right],\tag{7.2.41}$$

where  $D_{H_o} = H_o^{-1}$  is the Hubble radius today. Now, E(z) can be evaluated through the Friedmann equations, and in a  $\Lambda$ CDM scenario it is given by [57]

$$E(z) = \sqrt{\Omega_m^{\rm o}(1+z)^3 + \Omega_\Lambda^{\rm o}},$$
 (7.2.42)

where  $\Omega_m^{\rm o}$  and  $\Omega_{\Lambda}^{\rm o}$  are the energy density parameters for matter and dark energy today, respectively. Note that since the parallax drift is redshift dependent through E(z), it can be distinguished from the aberration drift, which does not depend on z. To compare their magnitude, we use the fiducial cosmology  $\Omega_m^{\rm o} = 0.31$  and  $\Omega_{\Lambda}^{\rm o} = 0.69$ , following the latest Planck values [107].

Assuming the velocity of the sources are averaged out, the parallax drift is comparable to the aberration drift when  $\int_0^z \frac{dz'}{E(z')} \approx 1$ . Using E(z) given by (7.2.42), we find this happens for  $z \approx 1.48$ , which corresponds to sources such that  $a_0\chi_{so} \sim D_{H_o}$  (as can be easily seen from eq. (7.2.40)). At smaller redshifts, the parallax drift dominates. Since  $1/\int_0^z \frac{dz'}{E(z')}$  saturates<sup>3</sup> to approximately 0.31 at large redshifts (Figure 9), the parallax drift will always contribute to more than 25% of the total signal. This saturation was already noted in ref. [84]. Considering the LG has an approximate velocity of 620 km/s with respect to the CMB rest frame [108], we expect the aberration drift to be of order  $0.03 \,\mu as/yr$ . To perform this estimation, we use the LG velocity and the current  $D_H$  value in the aberration contribution of eq. (7.2.41) and then perform a conversion of units from rad/s to  $\mu as/yr$  (we also put back the necessary c factors). The following estimations are also done in a similar manner. For sources with comoving radial distance of  $D_{H_o}$ , the parallax drift is of the same magnitude, and remains so even for further sources. For closer sources, e.g., at  $0.1D_{H_o}$ , the parallax drift is more significant, at roughly  $0.3 \,\mu as/yr$ .

Our estimates can be compared to ref. [80], and essentially its eq. (2). To that purpose we pick up a system of coordinates on the celestial 2-sphere such that

$$\tilde{n}_{\rm o}^{(i)} = \left(\sin\tilde{\theta}\cos\tilde{\phi}, \sin\tilde{\theta}\sin\tilde{\phi}, \cos\tilde{\theta}\right)$$
(7.2.43)

again with the convention that a tilde denotes quantities as seen by the general observer. Following ref. [80], we align the z-axis with the velocity of the observer. While not explicit, this can be deduced from comparisons to our relation  $\tilde{n}^{(i)} = n^{(i)} + \perp_j^i v^{(j)}$  at first order in velocities. Hence  $v_o^{(i)} = (0, 0, v_o)$ . In this coordinates system, the projection of eq. (7.2.25) on the z-axis gives, to first order in velocities,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\theta}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{1}{a_{\mathrm{o}}\chi_{s\mathrm{o}}}v_{\mathrm{o}}\sin\theta - \dot{v}_{\mathrm{o}}\sin\theta - \frac{1}{a_{\mathrm{o}}\chi_{s\mathrm{o}}}\left(\frac{v_{s}^{(z)} - \cos\theta n_{(i)}v_{s}^{(i)}}{\sin\theta}\right).$$
(7.2.44)

Since we are in a pure FLRW, we have to set  $\Phi = \Psi = 0$  in the results of ref. [80]. Hence, at first order in velocity, the proper time of the general observer and the cosmic time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For large redshifts,  $E(z) \approx \sqrt{\Omega_m^{\rm o}(1+z)^3}$ , such that  $1/\int_0^z \frac{\mathrm{d}z'}{E(z')} \approx \sqrt{\Omega_m^{\rm o}}/2 = 0.28$ . The 0.31 value mentioned on the text is found when taking into account the nonzero value of  $\Omega_{\Lambda}^{\rm o}$ .



Figure 9 – Behavior of the function  $\frac{a_0\chi_{so}}{D_{H_0}} = \int_0^z \frac{dz'}{E(z')}$  as a function of z. Note that it saturates for large z. The vertical line corresponds to z = 1.48.

coincide. Comparing the above to eq. (2) of ref. [80], the aberration contribution to the drift matches with our result. The  $\dot{\theta}$  of their eq. (2) accounts for the parallax drift due to the motions of the source, which can be suppressed by averaging over many sources. Here, this effect is explicit in the last term of eq. (7.2.44). The authors of ref. [80] are concerned with the aberration drift effect, and argue that the parallactic effects from the motion of the observer can be subtracted from observations. The first term of eq. (7.2.44) is thus not present in ref. [80]. If the effect from the velocities of the sources is averaged out, we are indeed left with the parallax drift due to the motion of the observer and the aberration drift. The total drift thus reads

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{1}{a_{\mathrm{o}}\chi_{\mathrm{so}}} v_{\mathrm{o}} \sin\theta - \dot{v}_{\mathrm{o}} \sin\theta.$$
(7.2.45)

While the parallax drift can be treated as a systematic effect to be removed through its z dependence, our method of comparing two infinitesimally close geodesics has the advantage of making explicit the effects for both the source and observer. Also, it can be easily extended to other spacetimes. We show how to apply it in less symmetric spacetimes in the following sections.

 $\bullet$  Milky Way velocity,  $v_{\rm MW}^{(i)}$ 

The main source of acceleration for the Milky Way inside the Local Group is the gravitational potential from M31 (Andromeda). Thus, we approximate the acceleration of the Milky Way by  $\dot{v}_{\rm MW} = GM_{\rm M31}/R_{\rm M31}^2$ . This gives the magnitude of the aberration drift: with  $R_{\rm M31} \approx 0.8$  Mpc and  $M_{\rm M31} \approx 1.3 \times 10^{12} M_{\odot}$  [109], it gives a typical magnitude of 0.006  $\mu$ as/yr for aberration drift.

The contribution of the parallax drift is estimated from  $v_{\rm MW}/a_{\rm o}\chi_{so}$ . The Milky Way's velocity with respect to the local group is estimated to be of order 135 km/s [108]. For sources at a distance  $a_{\rm o}\chi_{so} = D_{H_{\rm o}}$ , the parallax drift is then of the order 0.006  $\mu$ as/yr. For sources further than  $a_{\rm o}\chi_{so} \gtrsim D_{H_{\rm o}}$ , the total direction drift due to the motion of the MW is roughly one order of magnitude smaller than the drift due to the LG motion.

 $\bullet$  Sun velocity,  $v_{\odot}^{(i)}$ 

Let us estimate the direction drift due to the motion of the Sun around the Galactic Center. From Kepler's laws, the acceleration of the Sun around the Galactic Center is  $\dot{v}_{\odot} = v_{\odot}^2/R_{\rm GC}$ , where  $R_{\rm GC}$  is the distance from the Sun to the Galactic Center. The parallax drift is simply estimated from  $v_{\odot}/a_{\rm o}\chi_{so}$ . Considering  $v_{\odot} \approx 230 \text{km/s}$  [108] and the distance to the Galactic Center to be  $R_{\rm GC} \approx 8 \text{kpc}$ , the aberration drift and the parallax drift are found to be of the same order for sources such that  $a_{\rm o}\chi_{so} \simeq cR_{\rm GC}/v_{\odot} \approx 10 \text{Mpc}$ . This shows that both the parallax and aberration drifts may contribute significantly to the total signal. The aberration drift is of order  $4 \,\mu as/\text{yr}$  and, at  $a_{\rm o}\chi_{so} = D_{H_{\rm o}}$ , the parallax drift is of order  $0.01 \,\mu as/\text{yr}$ . Thus, the aberration drift contribution from  $v_{\odot}$  due to the motion of the Sun is 100 times larger than the aberration drift due to the motion of the LG.

 $\bullet$  Earth velocity,  $v_{\oplus}^{(i)}$ 

The direction drift contribution from the motion of the Earth around the Sun comprises an annual modulation to the total signal which is not cumulative. Since the motion of the Earth around the Sun is well understood, it is expected that this signal can be subtracted.

#### Final remarks on velocities

Table 3 summarizes the previous estimations of the aberration and parallax drifts. To ease comparisons, we consider different comoving radial distances to the source for the parallax drift:  $3D_{H_o}$ , which corresponds to  $z \gtrsim 100$ , at which  $a_o \chi_{so}$  saturates;  $D_{H_o}$ , which corresponds to  $z \approx 1.48$ ; and  $0.1D_{H_o}$ , which corresponds to  $z \approx 0.1$ .

Quasars are found in a range of redshifts up to z = 5, but are mostly around z = 1and z = 2 [110]. This means that for both the Local Group and the Milky Way motions, the aberration and parallax drifts are of the same order of magnitude. For the motion of the Sun, however, the aberration drift is 100 times larger than the parallax drift.

We must finally note that our estimations completely ignore the direction of the different velocities, which must be taken into account for a precise analysis.

Drifts	LG	MW	$\odot$
Aberration	0.03	0.006	4.0
Parallax at $3D_{H_{\rm o}}$	0.001	0.002	0.003
Parallax at $D_{H_0}$	0.03	0.006	0.01
Parallax at $0.1D_{H_o}$	0.3	0.06	0.1

Table 3 – Estimation of aberration and parallax drifts for different motions. The values are expressed in units of  $\mu$ as/yr.

# 7.3 Perturbed FLRW spacetimes

The main results of the previous section, concerning redshift and direction drifts in a FLRW universe, ignore the existence of small perturbations in the distribution of mass and energy of the universe. Clearly, such fluctuations will contribute to the evaluation of cosmological drifts, and a proper assessment of these quantities in a realistic model of the universe requires that we include such perturbations in our formalism. Thus, in this section we set to solve the important question of deriving cosmological drifts in a linearly perturbed cosmological spacetime.

To this end, let us perturb our metric around flat FLRW spacetime as  $g_{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu}$ , where the overbar denotes the background value. The universe is then described by a perturbed FLRW spacetime with geometry

$$ds^{2} = a^{2} \left[ -(1+2\Phi) d\eta^{2} + (\delta_{ij} + h_{ij}) dx^{i} dx^{j} \right], \qquad (7.3.1)$$

with

$$h_{ij} = -2\Psi \delta_{ij} + 2\partial_{(i}E_{j)} + 2E_{ij}.$$
(7.3.2)

This defines our choice of Newtonian gauge where the scalar modes are described by the two gravitational potentials,  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$ , vector perturbations are described by a transverse vector  $E_i$  ( $\partial_i E^i = 0$ ) and  $E_{ij}$  represents the traceless and transverse tensor perturbation ( $E_i^i = 0 = \partial_i E^{ij}$ ) describing gravitational waves. More information on perturbed FLRW spacetimes can be found in ref. [57], however, the essential formulae for evaluating the drifts can be found in Appendix C. We shall be evaluating the drifts for scalar and tensor perturbations, but the vector perturbation results can be found by making the identification  $E_{ij} \rightarrow \partial_{(i}E_{j)}$  between the tensor and vector modes.

The gravitational potentials have two effects on the direction drift. The first is a direct effect on the drift, i.e., the direction drift due to these potentials, which we will evaluate further. The second is an effect on the motion of the observer. More precisely, it will affect the geodesic motion of the Local Group with respect to the CMB rest frame. To that end let us evaluate the geodesic equation for a point particle with 4-velocity  $\tilde{u}^{\mu}$ . The Christoffel symbols of the metric (7.3.1) can be also found in ref. [57]. To first order

in perturbations and in spatial velocity, the i-component of the timelike geodesic equation reads

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v^i}{\mathrm{d}\tau} + 2Hv^i + \frac{1}{a^2}\partial^i\Phi = 0, \qquad (7.3.3)$$

where  $\tau$  is the observer's proper time. In tetrad components<sup>4</sup>, the above turns into

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v_{\rm o}^{(i)}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = -H_{\rm o}v_{\rm o}^{(i)} - \partial^{(i)}\Phi_{\rm o}.$$
(7.3.4)

Ref. [80] describes how measurements of the cosmological aberration drift could be used to evaluate the contribution from  $\partial^{(i)}\Phi_0$ . In fact, one can show that the contribution from the gravitational potential is proportional to  $H_0 v_0^{(i)}$ , with the proportionality factor being given by a model-dependent parameter (authors of ref. [80] allow for departure from standard GR). In standard GR, this parameter is of order one, and the contribution of  $\partial^{(i)}\Phi_0$  is then of the same order of magnitude as the cosmological aberration drift [80].

#### 7.3.1 Null geodesics

The study of the null geodesics is simpler once one uses the standard trick that they are conformally invariant. The metric (7.3.1) can be rescaled as  $ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = a^2\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu}$ , where from now on the overhat denotes quantities evaluated in the conformal space. If  $k^{\mu}$  is the tangent vector to a null geodesic of  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , and if  $\hat{k}^{\mu}$  is the tangent vector to a null geodesic of  $\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}$ , then  $k^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}k^{\nu} = 0 = \hat{k}^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\hat{k}^{\nu}$ . It is easy to check that for this to be satisfied we must have  $\hat{k}_{\mu} = k_{\mu}$  and  $\hat{k}^{\mu} = a^2k^{\mu}$ .

The conformal null geodesic vector  $\hat{k}^{\mu}$  can be decomposed as

$$\hat{k}^{\mu} = \hat{\omega} \left( 1, n^i \right). \tag{7.3.5}$$

We define  $\hat{\omega}_{o}$  and  $\bar{n}^{i}$  as the (constant) background values of  $\hat{\omega}$  and and  $n^{i}$ , respectively. To first order in perturbations, the 0-component of the geodesic equation can be found using the Christoffel symbols from Appendix C, and it is given by

$$\frac{1}{\hat{\omega}}\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\omega}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = \Phi' - 2\frac{\mathrm{d}\Phi}{\mathrm{d}\eta} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{n}^i\bar{n}^j h'_{ij}.$$
(7.3.6)

where the prime denotes the partial derivative with respect to  $\eta$  and we used that  $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} \equiv \frac{1}{\hat{\omega}}\hat{k}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} = \frac{\partial}{\partial\eta} + n^{i}\partial_{i}$ . Note that in homogeneous spaces  $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = \frac{\partial}{\partial\eta}$ , but since perturbed FLRW has no symmetries, one must take into account the spatial variations along the geodesic path. The above can be integrated from the source (s) to the observer (o) to give

$$\hat{\omega}_s - \hat{\omega}_o = \hat{\bar{\omega}}_o \left[ -2\left(\Phi_s - \Phi_o\right) + \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \left(\Phi' - \frac{1}{2}\bar{n}^i \bar{n}^j h'_{ij}\right) \mathrm{d}\eta \right].$$
(7.3.7)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The tetrad basis for perturbed FLRW is given below, but to first order the usual FLRW tetrad used before is enough here.

Note that the above is not an usual integration on a parameter  $\eta$ , rather, it is an integral along the null geodesic curve.

Now, to evaluate the energy of the photon, it is required that the 4-velocity of a comoving observer in perturbed FLRW universe to be computed. Let us write  $u^{\mu} = \bar{u}^{\mu} + \delta u^{\mu}$ , where  $\bar{u}^{\mu} = a^{-1}(1, \mathbf{0})$  is the background 4-velocity. Then, by requiring that  $g_{\mu\nu}u^{\mu}u^{\nu} = -1$  one arrives at

$$2\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\bar{u}^{\mu}\delta u^{\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu}\bar{u}^{\mu}\bar{u}^{\nu} = 0.$$
(7.3.8)

From the above it is easy to find  $\delta u^0 = -a^{-1}\Phi$ , from which we can find  $\delta u_0 = \bar{g}_{00}\delta u^0 + \delta g_{00}\bar{u}^0 = -a\Phi$ . We then write  $\delta u_i = av_i$  such that, the 4-velocity for an observer in perturbed FLRW is

$$u_{\mu} = a(-1 - \Phi, v_i). \tag{7.3.9}$$

However, as long as we are in first order in perturbations, the quantity  $v^i$  can be seen as a field on the top of an unperturbed FLRW background, for which the results of our previous section applies. Thus, since linear perturbations evolve independently, we can ignore  $v^i$  here and, at the end of our computations, add the results of the previous section. Thus, we have that

$$u_{\mu} = a(-1 - \Phi, \mathbf{0}). \tag{7.3.10}$$

Now, since in conformal space we must also have  $\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}\hat{u}^{\mu}\hat{u}^{\nu} = -1$ , one can deduce that  $\hat{u}_{\mu} = a^{-1}u_{\mu}$ , such that  $\hat{u}_{\mu} = (-1 - \Phi, \mathbf{0})$ . Then, together with  $\hat{k}^{\mu} = a^{2}k^{\mu}$ , the energy of the photon as measured by an observer with 4-velocity  $u^{\mu}$  is

$$\omega = -k^{\mu}u_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{a}\hat{k}^{\mu}\hat{u}_{\mu} = \frac{\hat{\omega}}{a}\left(1+\Phi\right).$$
(7.3.11)

From the above it is straightforward to deduce the redshift

$$1 + z = \frac{\omega_s}{\omega_o} = \frac{a_o}{a_s} \frac{\hat{\omega}_s}{\hat{\omega}_o} \left[ 1 + (\Phi_s - \Phi_o) \right].$$
(7.3.12)

Now,  $\hat{\omega}_s/\hat{\omega}_o$  can be obtained from eq. (7.3.7) so that

$$1 + z = \frac{a_{\rm o}}{a_s} \left[ 1 - (\Phi_s - \Phi_{\rm o}) + \int_{\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta_s} \left( \Phi' - \frac{1}{2} \bar{n}^i \bar{n}^j h'_{ij} \right) \mathrm{d}\eta \right].$$
(7.3.13)

It decomposes into irreducible scalar and tensor contributions as  $1 + \bar{z} + \delta z^{(S)} + \delta z^{(T)}$ , with

$$\delta z^{(S)} = \frac{a_{\rm o}}{a_s} \left[ -(\Phi_s - \Phi_{\rm o}) + \int_{\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta_s} \Theta' \mathrm{d}\eta \right] , \qquad (7.3.14a)$$

$$\delta z^{(T)} = -\frac{a_{\rm o}}{a_s} \int_{\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta_s} E'_{ij} \bar{n}^i \bar{n}^j \,\mathrm{d}\eta \,, \tag{7.3.14b}$$

where we have defined

$$\Theta = \Phi + \Psi. \tag{7.3.15}$$

Note that the scalar contributions are simply the Sachs-Wolfe and integrated Sachs-Wolfe effects.

#### 7.3.2 Redshift drift

Evaluating the redshift drift is more involved in a perturbed FLRW universe since the constant time hypersurfaces are no longer homogeneous. Considering a second geodesic corresponding to an observation at  $t_0 + \delta t_0$ , the change in redshift  $\delta_{12}z$  is obtained from eq. (7.3.13) to be

$$\frac{\delta_{12}z}{1+z} = (H_o\delta t_o - H_s\delta t_s) + \delta_{12}\Upsilon$$
(7.3.16)

where

$$\Upsilon = -\left(\Phi_s - \Phi_o\right) + \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \left(\Phi' - \frac{1}{2}\bar{n}^i\bar{n}^jh'_{ij}\right)\mathrm{d}\eta \tag{7.3.17}$$

and  $\delta_{12} \Upsilon$  stands for the difference of  $\Upsilon$  between its value on the second and first geodesics.

Looking at the above, the drift of the terms on fixed endpoints is trivially done following the same steps as before. However, to evaluate the drift of the integrated terms in  $\Upsilon$ , one has to take into account how they vary spatially from one geodesic to the next as space is no longer homogeneous. For this purpose, let us evaluate  $\delta_{12}\Xi$  where  $\Xi$  is a general term of the form  $\Xi = \int_{\eta_0}^{\eta_s} \xi[\eta, x^i] d\eta$ , and  $\xi$  is a perturbation. One has to take into account how  $\xi[\eta, x^i]$  changes from one geodesic to the other. Thus, there will be a contribution due to the fixed endpoints of the integral but also a contribution from the spatial change of the integrand. More explicitly,

$$\delta_{12}\Xi = \int_{\eta_o + \delta\eta_o}^{\eta_s + \delta\eta_s} \xi[\eta, x_2^i] \mathrm{d}\eta - \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \xi[\eta, x_1^i] \mathrm{d}\eta.$$
(7.3.18)

The second line of sight  $x_2^i(\eta)$  is given by

$$x_{2}^{i}(\eta) = x_{1}^{i}(\eta) + \delta x^{i}(\eta) = x_{1}^{i}(\eta) - \bar{n}^{i} \delta \eta.$$
(7.3.19)

This allows us to compute the contribution from the endpoints, which, to first order in  $\delta\eta$ , is simply

$$\int_{\eta_{\rm o}+\delta\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta_{\rm s}+\delta\eta_{\rm s}} \xi[\eta, x_2^i] \mathrm{d}\eta = \int_{\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta_{\rm s}} \xi[\eta, x_2^i] \mathrm{d}\eta + \delta\eta_{\rm s}\xi_s[x_1^i] - \delta\eta_{\rm o}\xi_{\rm o}[x_1^i].$$
(7.3.20)

Now, we use eq. (7.3.19) to write

$$\xi[\eta, x_2^i] = \xi[\eta, x_1^i] - \bar{n}^i \partial_i \xi[\eta, x_1^i] \delta\eta.$$
(7.3.21)

Let us recall that  $\bar{n}^i \partial_i = \frac{d}{d\eta} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta}$ . Also, since  $\xi$  is a perturbation, any term multiplying it is evaluated at the background, and at this level  $\delta \eta_s = \delta \eta_o$ . We conclude that

$$\delta_{12}\Xi = \delta\eta_o \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \xi'[\eta, x_1^i] \mathrm{d}\eta \,. \tag{7.3.22}$$

Therefore, our final result is

$$\delta_{12}\Upsilon = -\left(\dot{\Phi}_s\delta t_s - \dot{\Phi}_o\delta t_o\right) + \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \left(\Phi'' - \frac{1}{2}\bar{n}^i\bar{n}^jh_{ij}''\right)\,\mathrm{d}\eta\,\delta\eta_o.$$

Plugging this back into eq. (7.3.16), we get

$$\frac{\delta_{12}z}{1+z} = (H_{\rm o}\delta t_{\rm o} - H_s\delta t_s) - \left(\dot{\Phi}_s\delta t_s - \dot{\Phi}_{\rm o}\delta t_{\rm o}\right) + \int_{\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta_s} \left(\Phi'' - \frac{1}{2}\bar{n}^i\bar{n}^jh_{ij}''\right)\mathrm{d}\eta\,\delta\eta_{\rm o}.$$
 (7.3.23)

To obtain the redshift drift, we must also take into account the difference between the observer's proper time  $\tau$  and conformal time  $\eta$ , which is  $\delta \tau = \sqrt{-g_{00}} \delta \eta = a (1 + \Phi) \delta \eta$ (or equivalently  $\delta \tau = (1 + \Phi) \delta t$ ), and then use eq. (B.0.9) to conclude that

$$\frac{\delta_{12}z}{\delta\tau_{\rm o}} = (1+z) \left[ H_{\rm o}(1-\Phi_{\rm o}) + \dot{\Phi}_{\rm o} \right] - \left[ H_s(1-\Phi_s) + \dot{\Phi}_s \right] + \frac{(1+z)}{a_{\rm o}} \int_{\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta_s} \left( \Phi'' - \frac{1}{2} \bar{n}^i \bar{n}^j h_{ij}'' \right) \mathrm{d}\eta.$$
(7.3.24)

#### 7.3.3 Direction drift

To evaluate the direction drift, we start with the *i*-component of the geodesic equation in conformal space. Using the Christoffel symbols from Appendix C and the photon 4-vector given by eq. (7.3.5) it is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n^{i}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} - \bar{n}^{i}\frac{\mathrm{d}\Phi}{\mathrm{d}\eta} + \underline{\perp}^{i}_{j}\partial^{j}\Phi - \frac{1}{2}\underline{\perp}^{i}_{j}\partial^{j}(\bar{n}^{k}\bar{n}^{l}h_{kl}) + \bar{n}^{j}\frac{\mathrm{d}h^{i}_{j}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{n}^{i}\bar{n}^{j}\bar{n}^{k}\frac{\mathrm{d}h_{jk}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = 0, \qquad (7.3.25)$$

where  $\underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} = \delta_{j}^{i} - \bar{n}^{i} \bar{n}_{j}$ . Now, we must change to tetrad components. The tetrad basis for the conformal space is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{(0)} = (1 - \Phi) \,\partial_{\eta}, \quad \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{(i)} = \left(\delta_i^j - \frac{1}{2}h_i^j\right) \partial_j. \tag{7.3.26}$$

Thus, the direction vector is decomposed in tetrad components as

$$n^{(i)} = \frac{\hat{k}^{(i)}}{\hat{k}^{(0)}},\tag{7.3.27}$$

so that

$$n^{i} = n^{(i)} + \Phi n^{(i)} - \frac{1}{2} h^{i}_{j} n^{(j)}.$$
(7.3.28)

Plugging this decomposition into eq. (7.3.25) gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n^{(i)}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = -\underline{\perp}^{i}_{j}\partial^{j}\Phi + \frac{1}{2}\underline{\perp}^{i}_{j}\partial^{j}\left[\bar{n}^{(k)}\bar{n}^{(l)}h_{kl}\right] - \frac{1}{2}\underline{\perp}^{i}_{j}\bar{n}^{(k)}\frac{\mathrm{d}h^{j}_{k}}{\mathrm{d}\eta}.$$
(7.3.29)

Integrating this equation and then using  $n^{(i)} = n^i - \Phi n^{(i)} + \frac{1}{2}h_j^i n^{(j)}$  and  $n^i = \frac{dx^i}{d\eta}$ , one gets the null geodesic equation,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x^{i}}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = n_{\mathrm{o}}^{(i)} + \bar{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(i)}\Phi - \frac{1}{2}\bar{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(j)}h_{j}^{i} - \frac{1}{2}\underline{\perp}_{j}^{i}\bar{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(k)}(h_{k}^{j} - h_{\mathrm{o}k}^{j}) - \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i}\partial^{j}\int_{\eta_{\mathrm{o}}}^{\eta} \left\{\Phi - \frac{1}{2}\left[\bar{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(k)}\bar{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(l)}h_{kl}\right]\right\}\mathrm{d}\eta.$$
(7.3.30)

After integration from  $\eta_o$  to  $\eta_s$ , its scalar and tensor parts are

$$x_{s}^{i} - x_{o}^{i} = (\eta_{s} - \eta_{o})n_{o}^{(i)} + \bar{n}_{o}^{(i)} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} \Theta \,\mathrm{d}\eta - \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} (\eta_{s} - \eta)\partial^{j}\Theta \,\mathrm{d}\eta + (\eta_{s} - \eta_{o})\underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \bar{n}_{o}^{(k)} E_{ok}^{j} - \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \bar{n}_{o}^{(k)} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} E_{k}^{j} \,\mathrm{d}\eta - \bar{n}_{o}^{(j)} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} E_{j}^{i} \,\mathrm{d}\eta + \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} (\eta_{s} - \eta) \bar{n}_{o}^{(k)} \bar{n}_{o}^{(l)} \partial^{j} E_{kl} \,\mathrm{d}\eta, \quad (7.3.31)$$

where we have performed an integration by parts to express double integrals as single  $integrals^5$ .

To find the direction drift, what is left is to compare the equation of a second nearby geodesic with eq. (7.3.31). The calculation is tedious but straightforward (see Appendix D for details). On the second geodesic, the terms evaluated at fixed endpoints are simple to compute, while the integrated terms follow the same calculations done before for the redshift drift, yielding results of the form (7.3.22). Also, it is needed to take into account the difference between proper time of the observer and conformal (or cosmic) time, and also make use of eq. (B.0.9). Splitting in scalar and tensor modes, the direction drift is then finally given by

$$\frac{\delta_{12}n_{o}^{(i)}}{\delta\tau_{o}}^{(S)} = -\frac{\pm_{j}^{i}}{a_{o}}\int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}\frac{(\eta_{s}-\eta)}{\chi_{so}}\partial^{j}\Theta'd\eta, \qquad (7.3.32a)$$

$$\frac{\delta_{12}n_{o}^{(i)}}{\delta\tau_{o}}^{(T)} = -\frac{1}{a_{o}}\pm_{j}^{i}\bar{n}_{o}^{(k)}E_{ok}^{\prime j} - \frac{2\pm_{j}^{i}\bar{n}_{o}^{(k)}}{a_{o}\chi_{so}}\int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}E_{k}^{\prime j}d\eta + \frac{\pm_{j}^{i}}{a_{o}}\int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}\frac{(\eta_{s}-\eta)}{\chi_{so}}\bar{n}_{o}^{(k)}\bar{n}_{o}^{(l)}\partial^{j}E_{kl}^{\prime}d\eta. \qquad (7.3.32b)$$

Readers familiarized with CMB lensing literature can, in the above, recognize the standard CMB lensing potentials, apart from time derivatives.

#### 7.3.4 Summary

This section provides the first derivation of the direction drift and redshift drift in a perturbed FLRW universe. As such each has two contributions arising from scalar and tensor modes. Recall that the contribution to vector modes can be found simply by making the identification  $E_{ij} \rightarrow \partial_{(i}E_{j)}$  in the tensor modes' results. The scalar part of our expression (7.3.24) corrects a mistake in the only expression proposed in the literature so far and first published in ref. [89]. Such an expression plays an important role in estimating the expected cosmological variance of the redshift drift. Note that the scalar mode contribution has to be combined with eq. (7.2.25) to include the effect of the motions of the observer and the sources.

Concerning gravity waves, several results [111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116] have been used, in particular by Pulsar Timing Array experiments. The result of ref. [113] gives the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This trick is given by  $\int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \left( \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta'} f(\eta) d\eta \right) d\eta' = \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} (\eta_s - \eta') f(\eta') d\eta'$ , which results from an integration by parts with  $u = F(\eta') = \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta'} f(\eta) d\eta$  and  $dv = d\eta'$ .

perturbed values of z and  $n^{(i)}$  with respect to the background  $\bar{z}$  and  $\bar{n}^{(i)}$  values. Their equation (28) is directly comparable to eq. (7.3.14b), and the results match considering the relationship between the parameters  $\lambda$  and  $\eta$  and that eq. (28) is for a pure Minkowski spacetime. To compute the perturbation of  $n^{(i)}$  in our framework, we start from eq. (7.3.31) and split it into its background and perturbed values. Noticing that the positions of the source and observer are fixed in the "straight geodesic" approximation, we take the perpendicular projection of eq. (7.3.31) to find

$$\delta n^{(i)} = -\underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \bar{n}^{(k)} E_{\mathrm{o}k}^{j} - \frac{2\underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \bar{n}^{(k)}}{\chi_{\mathrm{so}}} \int_{\eta_{\mathrm{o}}}^{\eta_{s}} E_{k}^{j} \,\mathrm{d}\eta + \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \int_{\eta_{\mathrm{o}}}^{\eta_{s}} \frac{(\eta_{s} - \eta)}{\chi_{\mathrm{so}}} \bar{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(k)} \bar{n}_{\mathrm{o}}^{(l)} \partial^{j} E_{kl} \,\mathrm{d}\eta. \quad (7.3.33)$$

This matches with the eq. (56) of ref. [113] if we take into account our opposite sign in defining the direction vector and again, the relationship between the parameters  $\zeta$  and  $\eta$ . Thus, the plane wave expansion used in refs. [111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116] is compatible with our analysis. Indeed, their results only provide the deviation of z and  $n^{(i)}$  from their background values and do not provide their drifts computed here.

# 7.4 Spatially homogeneous and anisotropic spacetimes: Bianchi I case

The Bianchi spacetimes are a class of solutions to the Einstein's equation with strong cosmological appeal. Letting go of the assumption of isotropy one arrives at this class of spatially anisotropic spacetimes, which are classified according to the Lie algebra of their Killing vectors. In the first part of this thesis, we evaluated the 2pcf for two types of Bianchi models and showed how one can use our results to assess primordial anisotropies. As we shall see, the drifts of the redshift and direction vector will give means to test late time anisotropies. Here, we evaluate these drifts for the Bianchi I model, the simplest solution which arises when requiring space to be anisotropic, but still homogeneous.

Being homogeneous, these spaces still enjoy three Killing vectors associated with the three spatial translations. The spatial sections are also Euclidean, and its spacetime metric can be written as

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -\mathrm{d}t^2 + a^2(t)\gamma_{ij}\mathrm{d}x^i\mathrm{d}x^j,\tag{7.4.1}$$

with

$$\gamma_{ij} = e^{2\beta_i(t)} \delta_{ij} \tag{7.4.2}$$

where the  $\beta_i(t)$  are three directional scale factors which satisfy  $\sum_i \beta_i = 0$ , and a(t) is the average scale factor defined by the volume expansion. The directional scale factors  $\beta_i$  are not components of a vector, and thus, in the above the index *i* is not summed.

#### 7.4.1 Null geodesics

Thanks to the three translational Killing vectors, we still have

$$k_i = \text{const} \tag{7.4.3}$$

along any null geodesic for a photon with 4-momentum  $k^{\mu} = \omega(u^{\mu} - n^{\mu})$ , as long as we use the Cartesian coordinates introduced in eq. (7.4.1). Raising the index of the above equation leads to

$$a^2 e^{2\beta_i} k^i = \operatorname{const}, \qquad (7.4.4)$$

again, with no summation over i (this notation is explained below). The worldline of a photon is again given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}x^i}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} = k^i,\tag{7.4.5}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the parameter along the geodesic. The orthonormal tetrads for Bianchi I are explicitly given by

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{(0)} = \partial_t, \quad \boldsymbol{e}_{(i)} = a^{-1} e^{-\beta_i} \partial_i. \tag{7.4.6}$$

Once more, the right side of eq. (7.4.4) is fixed at the point of observation. Then, in terms of tetrad components and conformal time it becomes

$$a\omega e^{2\beta_i} \frac{\mathrm{d}x^i}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = -a_\mathrm{o}\omega_\mathrm{o}e^{\beta_i^0} n_\mathrm{o}^{(i)} \tag{7.4.7}$$

where  $n_{\rm o}^{(i)}$  are the tetrad basis components of  $n_{\rm o}^i$ . We also define the standard shear tensor by

$$\sigma_{ij} = \gamma'_{ij} = \beta'_i \mathrm{e}^{2\beta_i} \delta_{ij}, \qquad (7.4.8)$$

which is a symmetric trace-free tensor. Again, there is no sum in the above, and a prime denotes derivative with respect to conformal time  $\eta$  (defined through  $dt = ad\eta$ ).

#### 7.4.2 Direction and redshift drifts to first order in shear

We shall treat only static observers in Bianchi I since, as a perturbation, we already know the contribution from a moving observer. To start, we must find how  $\omega$  evolves along the geodesic, i.e., it is needed to solve the 0-component of the geodesic equation. The nonzero relevant Christoffel symbols for this case are

$$\Gamma^0_{ij} = a^2 \left( H\gamma_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}\dot{\gamma}_{ij} \right), \qquad (7.4.9)$$

where H is defined as before, i.e.,  $H = \frac{\dot{a}}{a}$ . Then, the 0-component of the geodesic equation reads

$$\frac{1}{a\omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}(a\omega)}{\mathrm{d}t} + \frac{\beta_i a^2 \gamma_{ij} k^i k^j}{\omega^2} = 0.$$
(7.4.10)

In conformal time and in terms of tetrad components it is then given by

$$\frac{1}{a\omega}\frac{\mathrm{d}(a\omega)}{\mathrm{d}\eta} + \beta'_i n^{(i)} n_{(i)} = 0, \qquad (7.4.11)$$

a solution of which is

$$a\omega = a_{\rm o}\omega_{\rm o}\exp\left(-\int_{\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta}\beta_i' n^{(i)}n_{(i)}\mathrm{d}\eta\right).$$
(7.4.12)

Now, in the above equations there is summation in *i*, i.e.,  $\beta'_i n^{(i)} n_{(i)} = (\beta'_x n^{(x)} n_{(x)} + ...)$ . For simplicity, we shall not explicitly denote these sums. To avoid confusion, however, one should keep in mind that an expression like  $\beta_i n^{(i)}$  is not summed, while  $\beta_i n^{(i)} n_{(i)}$  is.

Observational data shows that our universe is very close to isotropic. Thus, we shall now perform a small shear approximation and consider only the lowest order terms in  $\sigma_{ij}$  or, equivalently, in  $\beta'_i$  (and in  $\beta_i$ ). In this limit, eq. (7.4.12) becomes

$$\frac{\omega}{\omega_{\rm o}} \simeq \frac{\bar{\omega}}{\bar{\omega}_{\rm o}} \left[ 1 - \left(\beta_i - \beta_i^{\rm o}\right) \bar{n}^{(i)} \bar{n}_{(i)} \right], \qquad (7.4.13)$$

where an overbar denotes the FLRW value since Bianchi I spacetime can be thought as a homogeneous perturbation of FLRW spacetime. To find the above we used that, for the background quantities,  $a\bar{\omega} = a_0\bar{\omega}_0$ . Since  $\bar{n}^{(i)}$  is constant along the geodesic, the small shear approximation is related to a "straight geodesic" approximation.

In possession of eq. (7.4.13), we plug it into eq. (7.4.7) to find, after some simple algebra,

$$x_s^i - x_o^i \simeq -\int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \left(1 - \beta_i\right) \, n_o^{(i)} \mathrm{d}\eta + \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \underline{\perp}_j^i \left(\beta_j - \beta_j^o\right) \bar{n}^{(j)} \mathrm{d}\eta \tag{7.4.14}$$

where  $\perp_{j}^{i} = \delta_{j}^{i} - \bar{n}^{(i)}\bar{n}_{(j)}$  is the perpendicular projector with respect to  $\bar{n}^{(i)}$  (both of which are constant along the geodesic). The above is the solution of the geodesic equation to first order in shear for Bianchi I. To find the direction drift, we now just have to follow the same procedure as before, i.e., write (7.4.14) for a second nearby geodesic and determine the relation between  $\delta \eta_s$  and  $\delta \eta_o$ . To find the latter according to eq. (B.0.9), we need the redshift z which can be easily read from eq. (7.4.13) to be

$$1 + z = \frac{\omega_s}{\omega_o} = \frac{a_o}{a_s} \left[ 1 - (\beta_i^s - \beta_i^o) \,\bar{n}^{(i)} \bar{n}_{(i)} \right].$$
(7.4.15)

Then, the relation between the lapses is given by

$$\frac{\delta\eta_s}{\delta\eta_o} = \left[1 + \left(\beta_i - \beta_i^o\right)\bar{n}^{(i)}\bar{n}_{(i)}\right].$$
(7.4.16)

The second geodesic is written as

$$x_{s}^{i} - x_{o}^{i} \simeq -\int_{\eta_{o}+\delta\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}+\delta\eta_{o}} (1-\beta_{i}) \left(n_{o}^{(i)}+\delta_{12}n_{o}^{(i)}\right) \mathrm{d}\eta + \int_{\eta_{o}+\delta\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}+\delta\eta_{s}} \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \left(\beta_{j}-\beta_{j}^{o}\right) \bar{n}^{(j)} \mathrm{d}\eta + (\eta_{o}-\eta_{s}) \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} (\beta_{j}^{o})' \bar{n}^{(j)} \delta\eta_{o}.$$

$$(7.4.17)$$

Now, it is just a matter of algebra to expand eq. (7.4.17) to first order in  $\delta\eta_{s,o}$  and subtract it from eq. (7.4.14). Then, using the relation (7.4.16), one can arrive at the direction drift, which is

$$\frac{\delta_{12}n^{(i)}}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = -\frac{2}{a_{\rm o}\chi_{so}} \underline{\perp}_j^i \left(\beta_j^s - \beta_j^{\rm o}\right) \bar{n}^{(j)} - \underline{\perp}_j^i \dot{\beta}_j^{\rm o} \bar{n}^{(j)}, \qquad (7.4.18)$$

where  $\chi_{so} = \eta_o - \eta_s$  is the observer-source radial distance in the FLRW background space. Notice that this expression is similar to the one for a general observers in a FLRW spacetime, containing a parallax type (the first term above) and an aberration type (the second term) contribution. Although these terms have a similar behavior to the moving observer case, they are related to anisotropies of the universe, not any type of peculiar motion. Note also that the first term is a redshift-dependent one, whereas the second is redshift-independent.

To evaluate the redshift drift, we start from eq. (7.4.15) to write

$$1 + z + \delta_{12}z = \frac{a_{o}}{a_{s}} \left( H_{o}\delta t_{o} - H_{s}\delta t_{s} \right) \left[ 1 - \left( \beta_{i}^{s} - \beta_{i}^{o} \right) \bar{n}^{(i)} \bar{n}_{(i)} - \left( \dot{\beta}_{i}^{s} \delta t_{s} - \dot{\beta}_{i}^{o} \delta t_{o} \right) \bar{n}^{(i)} \bar{n}_{(i)} \right].$$
(7.4.19)

After some simple algebraic manipulations one is able to arrive at the redshift drift

$$\frac{\delta_{12}z}{\delta t_{\rm o}} = (1+z) \left( H_{\rm o} + \dot{\beta}_i^{\rm o} \bar{n}^{(i)} \bar{n}_{(i)} \right) - \left( H_s + \dot{\beta}_i^{\rm s} \bar{n}^{(i)} \bar{n}_{(i)} \right), \tag{7.4.20}$$

which is in agreement with the analysis of ref. [90]. Again, one can note the similarity between this result and the one for general observers in FLRW. One manner to distinguish between them, say, as an observer measures them, is through their multipolar decomposition, as explained below.

#### 7.4.3 Decomposition in multipoles

As done previously, we can decompose the redshift and direction drifts in terms of multipoles, the decomposition being made with respect to  $\bar{n}^{(i)}$ . Defining

$$\mathcal{B}_{ij} \equiv \delta_{ij}\beta_i \qquad \dot{\mathcal{B}}_{ij} \equiv \delta_{ij}\dot{\beta}_i \tag{7.4.21}$$

we read from eq. (7.4.20) that the Bianchi I spacetime brings a quadrupolar structure to the redshift drift,

$$\mathcal{W}_{ij} = (1+z)\dot{\mathcal{B}}_{ij}^{o} - \dot{\mathcal{B}}_{ij}^{s} \,. \tag{7.4.22}$$

Note however that it adds no dipolar contribution. It is thus in principle distinguishable from the peculiar velocity of the observer in a FLRW spacetime.

The direction drift in Bianchi I structure also inherits a quadrupolar contribution in  $\mathcal{E}(\bar{n}^{(i)})$ , but not in  $\mathcal{H}(\bar{n}^{(i)})$ . From eq. (7.4.18), it is

$$\mathcal{E}_{ij} = -\frac{1}{a_o \chi_{so}} (\mathcal{B}_{ij}^s - \mathcal{B}_{ij}^o) - \frac{1}{2} \dot{\mathcal{B}}_{ij}^o.$$
(7.4.23)

#### 7.4.4 Discussion

Equations (7.4.18) and (7.4.20) provide the expressions of the direction and redshift drifts in a Bianchi I spacetime, in small shear approximation. Indeed when  $\beta_i = 0$  for all *i*, we recover the FLRW expressions for a comoving observer.

Moreover, since the infinite wavelength limit of a gravitational wave is equivalent to a homogeneous shear (i.e.,  $E_{ij} \rightarrow \beta_i(t)\delta_{ij}$ ), it can be checked that the tensor part of eq. (7.3.24) is equivalent to eq. (7.4.20) for the redshift drift and that eq. (7.3.32b) is equivalent to eq. (7.4.18) for the aberration drift.

Let us now compare to existing results, and in particular refs. [26, 78] that assume a "straight geodesic approximation" and in which the results are obtained through a time derivative of the angular separation. In these works, the Bianchi I metric is parametrized as

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + \tilde{a}^{2}(t)dx^{2} + \tilde{b}^{2}(t)dy^{2} + \tilde{c}^{2}(t)dz^{2}, \qquad (7.4.24)$$

where we have put tildes over the directional scale factors not to confuse them with the average scale factor a(t). From this metric, the authors define directional expansion rates  $H_x = \dot{\tilde{a}}/\tilde{a}$  and so on, the average scale factor  $a = (\tilde{a}\tilde{b}\tilde{c})^{1/3}$ , and shear components,  $\Sigma_i = H_i/H - 1$ , where  $H = \dot{a}/a$ . On comparison with the parametrization in the present work, we find the identification  $(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}, \tilde{c}) = (ae^{\beta_x}, ae^{\beta_y}, ae^{\beta_z})$ . This allows us to also identify  $\Sigma_i = \dot{\beta}_i/H$ . Then, we decompose the direction of observation as  $n_o^{(i)} = (\sin\theta\cos\phi, \sin\theta\sin\phi, \cos\theta)$ . With these considerations in mind, we can show that the z-component of the aberration-like drift term  $\perp_i^i \dot{\beta}_j^{\circ} \bar{n}^{(j)}$  gives

$$\sin\theta \frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{\mathrm{d}t} = \dot{\beta}_z^{\mathrm{o}} \cos\theta - \dot{\beta}_i^{\mathrm{o}} \bar{n}^{(i)} \bar{n}_{(i)}. \qquad (7.4.25)$$

After some algebraic manipulations, and recalling that  $\sum_i \beta_i = 0$ , one is able to rewrite this as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\sin 2\theta}{4} \left[ 3 \left( \dot{\beta}_x^{\mathrm{o}} + \dot{\beta}_y^{\mathrm{o}} \right) + \cos 2\phi \left( \dot{\beta}_x^{\mathrm{o}} - \dot{\beta}_y^{\mathrm{o}} \right) \right], \tag{7.4.26}$$

which is exactly the result in eq. (34) of ref. [26] (or eq. (7) of ref. [78]) given that  $\dot{\beta}_i^{\rm o} = H_{\rm o} \Sigma_{\rm oi}$ . Thus, their results are equivalent to  $\pm_j^i \dot{\beta}_j^{\rm o} \bar{n}^{(j)}$ , which is only the aberrationlike effect of eq. (7.4.18). They do not contain the parallax-like term included in our results. Indeed, it cannot be obtained by deriving the expression of separation of angles with respect to time since it arises from the fact that the end points of the two geodesics are different.

Lastly, we can give some crude estimates of the level to which measurements of the direction drift can constrain the spatial anisotropy of Bianchi I spacetimes (i.e., the shear). For simplicity let us write  $\dot{\beta}_{o}$  as a fraction of  $H_{o}$ , i.e.,  $\dot{\beta}_{o} = \epsilon H_{o}$ . Then, we can separate the constraints in two types: early and late anisotropies. For the first type, CMB data severely constraints the value of the shear today to no larger than the observed CMB quadrupole, i.e.,  $\epsilon < 10^{-5}$ . This would lead to an aberration drift of the order of  $10^{-4} \,\mu$ as/yr or smaller. As has been pointed out, this is three order of magnitudes smaller than the expected peculiar velocities in the standard (FLRW) model, so very unlikely to be detected with future experiments [79]. Late type anisotropies are however more promising. Future surveys of weak-lensing shear such as Euclid could constrain the late anisotropy of the cosmic flow to order  $\dot{\beta}_{\rm o}/H_{\rm o} = 1\%$  [12]. This would imply a signal in the aberration drift of the order  $0.1 \,\mu$ as/yr per source, or  $1.0 \,\mu$ as over ten years. This is compatible with the figure of  $0.4 \,\mu$ as in ten years coming from the Local Group proper motion with respect to the CMB frame found in ref. [80]. Indeed, as we found previously, assuming  $v_{\rm LG} \sim 620 \,\rm km/s$  leads to a drift of the order of  $0.3 \,\mu$ as in ten years for the Local Group's proper motion contribution. Moreover, since the shear contribution to the drift is coming from a quadrupole, it can in principle be distinguished from the velocity contribution.
#### 8 Conclusions and perspectives

Our analysis proposes a general method to compute the direction and redshift drifts, making clear the importance of considering two nearby geodesics connecting the observer and the source. Two effects have to be considered, the first related to the integral along the line of sight and the second related to the end points of the geodesics. In a non-static spacetime or for non-inertial observer and sources the lapses connecting the geodesics at the source and at the observer differ.

This general method allowed us to first recover the standard formula for the direction and redshift drifts for a general observer in a FLRW spacetime. The multipolar decomposition shows that for both the redshift and the direction drifts, the observer's velocity only induces a dipole. We were able to separate the contribution of the velocity to the direction drift into two effects, the parallax drift (which is z-dependent) and aberration drift. Comparing the two for various combined motions, we showed that the two do contribute significantly to the total drift. However, the parallax drift is usually considered as a noise to be removed, which can be accomplished using the z-dependence. The drift caused by the motion of the Sun around the galactic center must also be removed if one is interested in the cosmological aberration drift.

We also provided an expression for the direction and redshift drifts in a perturbed FLRW universe for scalar, vector and tensor perturbations. Concerning the scalar part of the redshift drift, we corrected a mistake in the literature. The tensor contribution to both the redshift and direction vector were compared to existing results for a plane (gravitational) wave.

To finish, we provided an expression for the direction and redshift drifts in Bianchi I universes in the "straight geodesic approximation". A multipolar decomposition shows that the shear contributes as a quadrupole, which makes it distinguishable from the effects of the velocity. We also showed that the results published in the literature were actually missing a parallax-like drift contribution. We then estimated how well the shear can be constrained using our results. Future experiments with Gaia satellite could, in principle, detect late time anisotropies according to our results.

One extension of this work is to use the connection between perturbed FLRW in the long wavelenght limit and Bianchi spacetimes. This connection was explored in ref. [23], where Bianchi models with FLRW limit are expressed as linear perturbations over an FLRW background. This allowed the authors to connect the Bianchi models to the usual cosmological perturbation theory in the limit of long wavelenghts. For example, the Bianchi IX model is equivalent to a positively curved FLRW plus a gravitational wave of longest wavelenght [117]. However, it is not yet known precisely how to directly express the homogeneous perturbations in terms of the usual scalar, vector and tensor modes. Given that this relationship is found, one can in principle compare the drifts of the other Bianchi models with FLRW limit (namely, Bianchi VII<sub>0</sub>, V, VII<sub>h</sub> and IX) to our results for perturbed FLRW.

Another possibility is to use the results on perturbed FLRW to evaluate the power spectrum of the drifts. Possible measurements of the drifts with Gaia satellite would include the time variation of the position of more than 1 billion stars and celestial objects [95], thus requiring these results to be treated statistically. Correlation functions (and hence, the power spectrum) are fundamental tools for doing so. One would need then to use our results to find the correlation function and power spectrum of the drifts. This would allow for a full multipolar and statistical analysis of the scalar, vector and tensor contribution to the drifts.

## APPENDIX A - Power spectrum from 2pcf

We would like to show it is possible to obtain the power spectrum from both 2pcf we found for Bianchi I and VII<sub>0</sub>, eqs. (3.4.25) and (3.4.35). This can be used, e.g., to build temperature fluctuation maps and further analyze the impact of the anisotropic corrections found here on CMB temperature maps. Let us illustrate this for the case of Bianchi I. If we use the results from Table 2, the 2pcf expanded in terms of spherical harmonics is

$$\xi_{I} = \xi_{FL}(r_{-}) + r_{-} \frac{d\xi_{FL}}{dr_{-}} \left( C_{1} Y_{20}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{r}}_{-}\right) + C_{2} \left[ Y_{2-2}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{r}}_{-}\right) + Y_{22}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{r}}_{-}\right) \right] \right), \tag{A.0.1}$$

where

$$C_1 = \beta_{33} \sqrt{\frac{4\pi}{5}}, \qquad C_2 = (\beta_{11} - \beta_{22}) \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{15}}.$$
 (A.0.2)

Using the definition of the power spectrum, eq. (3.4.45), we can write  $P_I(\mathbf{k})$  (the invariant Bianchi I power spectrum) as

$$P_{I}(\boldsymbol{k}) = P_{FL}(\boldsymbol{k}) + \int d^{3}\boldsymbol{r}_{-}e^{-i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_{-}} \left(C_{1}Y_{20}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{r}}_{-}\right) + C_{2}\left[Y_{2-2}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{r}}_{-}\right) + Y_{22}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{r}}_{-}\right)\right]\right)r_{-}\frac{d\xi_{FL}}{dr_{-}},$$
(A.0.3)

where clearly  $P_{FL}(k) = \int d^3 \mathbf{r}_{-} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{-}} \xi_{FL}(r_{-})$ . We can invert the above to write the 2pcf of flat FLRW as

$$\xi_{FL}(r_{-}) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int q^2 dq P_{FL}(q) j_0(qr_{-}) \Rightarrow \frac{d\xi_{FL}(r_{-})}{dr_{-}} = -\frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int q^3 dq P_{FL}(q) j_1(qr_{-}).$$
(A.0.4)

Using eq. (A.0.4) and the Rayleigh expansion

$$e^{-i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{r}_{-}} = 4\pi \sum_{\ell m} i^{-\ell} j_{\ell} \left(kr_{-}\right) Y_{\ell m} \left(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}\right) Y_{\ell m}^{*} \left(\hat{\boldsymbol{r}}_{-}\right)$$
(A.0.5)

in eq. (A.0.3) and performing the angular integrals allows us to write the integral in (A.0.3) as

$$\int d^{3}\boldsymbol{r}_{-}(\cdots) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int q^{3} dq P_{FL}(q) \int r_{-}^{3} j_{2}(kr_{-}) j_{1}(qr_{-}) dr_{-} \times$$

$$\times \left( C_{1}Y_{20}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}\right) + C_{2}\left[Y_{22}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}\right) + Y_{2-2}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}\right)\right] \right)$$
(A.0.6)

The integration over  $dr_{-}$  can be solved using the following relations for spherical Bessel functions:

$$r_{-j_{2}}(kr_{-}) = \frac{3}{k} j_{1}(kr_{-}) - r_{-j_{0}}(kr_{-}), \qquad -r_{-j_{1}}(qr_{-}) = \frac{dj_{0}(qr_{-})}{dq}.$$
(A.0.7)

Recalling that  $\int r^2 j_\ell(kr_-) j_\ell(qr_-) dr_- = \frac{\pi}{2kq} \delta(k-q)$ , we have that the integration over  $dr_-$  is given by

$$\int r_{-}^{3} j_{2} \left(kr_{-}\right) j_{1} \left(qr_{-}\right) dr_{-} = \frac{3}{k} \int r_{-}^{2} j_{1} \left(kr_{-}\right) j_{1} \left(qr_{-}\right) dr_{-} + \frac{d}{dq} \int r_{-}^{2} j_{0} \left(kr_{-}\right) j_{0} \left(qr_{-}\right) dr_{-}$$
(A.0.8)

$$= \frac{\pi}{2} \left[ \frac{3\delta(k-q)}{k^2 q} - \frac{\delta(k-q)}{kq^2} + \frac{\delta'(k-q)}{kq} \right]$$
(A.0.9)

Plugging this result back in the integral (A.0.6) gives

$$\int (\cdots) d^3 \boldsymbol{r}_{-} = -k \frac{dP_{FL}}{dk} \left( C_1 Y_{20} \left( \hat{\boldsymbol{k}} \right) + C_2 \left[ Y_{22} \left( \hat{\boldsymbol{k}} \right) + Y_{2-2} \left( \hat{\boldsymbol{k}} \right) \right] \right).$$
(A.0.10)

Therefore, the invariant power spectrum for Bianchi I is

$$P_{I}(\boldsymbol{k}) = P_{FL}(k) - k \frac{dP_{FL}}{dk} \left( C_{1} Y_{20} \left( \hat{\boldsymbol{k}} \right) + C_{2} \left[ Y_{22} \left( \hat{\boldsymbol{k}} \right) + Y_{2-2} \left( \hat{\boldsymbol{k}} \right) \right] \right).$$
(A.0.11)

The same can easily be made for Bianchi  $\mathrm{VII}_0$  following the same steps, which yields the result

$$P_{VII_0}(\boldsymbol{k}) = P_{FL}(k) - C_1' Y_{00}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}\right) \left(3P_{FL}\left(k\right) + k\frac{dP_{FL}}{dk}\right) - C_2' Y_{20}\left(\hat{\boldsymbol{k}}\right) k\frac{dP_{FL}}{dk}, \quad (A.0.12)$$

where here  $C'_1 = -\frac{\sqrt{4\pi}}{3}\beta_{33}$  and  $C'_2 = \frac{4}{3}\sqrt{\frac{4\pi}{5}}\beta_{33}$ .

## APPENDIX B – Relationship between time lapses and redshift

Here we show the validity of the relation

$$\frac{\delta \tau_s}{\delta \tau_o} = \frac{\omega_o}{\omega_s} = \frac{1}{1+z} \tag{B.0.1}$$

where  $\tau_{s,o}$  are the proper times of the source and the observer, respectively. In the geometrical optics approximation (also known as eikonal approximation), the electromagnetic vector potential satisfies (in vacuum) [17]

$$\nabla^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}A_{\nu} = 0. \tag{B.0.2}$$

Let us consider a solution of the form

$$A_{\mu} = C_{\mu} e^{i\varphi} \tag{B.0.3}$$

with approximately constant amplitude. Then, by neglecting derivatives of  $C_{\mu}$ , eq. (B.0.3) can be rewritten as

$$\nabla^{\mu}\varphi\nabla_{\mu}\varphi = 0 \tag{B.0.4}$$

$$\nabla^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\varphi = 0. \tag{B.0.5}$$

The vector  $k^{\mu} = \nabla^{\mu} \varphi$  is normal to the surfaces of constant  $\varphi$ . Differentiating (B.0.4) gives the geodesic equation

$$k^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}k_{\nu} = 0. \tag{B.0.6}$$

Hence  $k^{\mu}$  is also tangent to a null geodesic. Thus, in the eikonal approximation, null geodesics are curves of constant phase  $\varphi$ , since  $k^{\mu}$ , being a null vector, is both tangent and normal to the null geodesic it generates.

The frequency of the wave as measured by an observer with 4-velocity  $u^{\mu}$  is precisely (minus) the rate of change of the phase of the wave with respect to his proper time. That is,

$$\omega = -\frac{\delta\varphi}{\delta\tau} = -u^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\varphi = -u^{\mu}k_{\mu}.$$
 (B.0.7)

Thus, for a source and observer connected by a null geodesic, we have that

$$\frac{\omega_s}{\omega_o} = \frac{\delta\varphi/\delta\tau_s}{\delta\varphi/\delta\tau_o}.$$
(B.0.8)

Since null geodesics are curves of constant phase, we thus have that

$$\frac{\delta \tau_s}{\delta \tau_o} = \frac{\omega_o}{\omega_s} = \frac{1}{1+z}.$$
(B.0.9)

For the cases of inertial FLRW and Bianchi I, the observer and source are both comoving, so we had that  $\delta \tau_{s,o} = \delta t_{s,o}$ . For moving observers and source, the proper time and coordinate time coincide to first order in velocity; however, as explained in the text, they differ from the static case, and thus we write  $\delta \tau_{s,o} = \delta \tilde{t}_{s,o}$ . Note that eq. (B.0.9) can be easily converted to conformal time in these cases, giving

$$\frac{\delta\eta_s}{\delta\eta_o} = \frac{a_s}{a_o} \frac{1}{1+z},\tag{B.0.10}$$

which can ease calculations, since in most cases above the redshift is of the form

$$1 + z = \frac{a_s}{a_o}(\cdots),$$
 (B.0.11)

thus elimination the scale factors. In perturbed FLRW, the proper time and cosmic time differ, as explained in the text, and this must be taken into account when using eq. (B.0.9). After doing so, one can then write it in terms of conformal time using  $dt = ad\eta$ .

### APPENDIX C – Perturbed FLRW formulae

We gather here the basic necessary formulae for perturbed FLRW spacetimes. The metric of a perturbed FLRW spacetime satisfies

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (C.0.1)$$

where  $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$  is the background (FLRW) metric and  $\delta g_{\mu\nu}$  is a perturbation. To first order in perturbations, the inverse of the perturbed metric is given by  $g^{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}^{\mu\nu} + \delta g^{\mu\nu}$ , where

$$\delta g^{\mu\nu} = -\bar{g}^{\mu\rho}\bar{g}^{\nu\sigma}\delta g_{\rho\sigma},\tag{C.0.2}$$

so that  $g_{\mu\rho}g^{\rho\nu} = \delta^{\nu}_{\mu}$ . A general decomposition of the metric to linear order is given by

$$ds^{2} = a^{2}(\eta) [-(1+2A)d\eta^{2} + 2B_{i}dx^{i}d\eta + (\delta_{ij} + h_{ij})dx^{i}dx^{j}].$$
(C.0.3)

Both  $B_i$  and  $h_{ij}$  can be decomposed irreducibly as

$$B^i = \partial^i B + \bar{B}^i, \tag{C.0.4}$$

where  $\partial^i \bar{B}_i = 0$ , and

$$h_{ij} = 2C\delta_{ij} + 2\partial_i\partial_j E + 2\partial_{(i}E_{j)} + 2E_{ij}, \qquad (C.0.5)$$

with  $\partial^i E_i = 0$ ,  $\partial_i E^{ij} = 0$  and  $E_i^i = 0$ . This decomposes the metric in 10 degrees of freedom, 4 of which can be removed through a properly chosen gauge. In the Newtonian gauge, which is the one we adopt, one has that B = 0 = E and  $\bar{B}^i = 0$ . We then rename the scalar perturbations as  $A = \Phi$  and  $C = -\Psi$  to arrive at

$$ds^{2} = a^{2} \left[ -(1+2\Phi) d\eta^{2} + (\delta_{ij} + h_{ij}) dx^{i} dx^{j} \right], \qquad (C.0.6)$$

with

$$h_{ij} = -2\Psi \delta_{ij} + 2\partial_{(i}E_{j)} + 2E_{ij}. \qquad (C.0.7)$$

In the text, we make use of the conformal metric  $\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}$  defined through  $g_{\mu\nu} = a^2 \hat{g}_{\mu\nu}$ , i.e.,

$$d\hat{s}^{2} = \left[ -(1+2\Phi) d\eta^{2} + (\delta_{ij} + h_{ij}) dx^{i} dx^{j} \right], \qquad (C.0.8)$$

where  $d\hat{s}^2$  represents the metric of  $\hat{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . To first order, the Christoffel symbols for the conformal metric are

$$\Gamma_{00}^0 = \Phi',\tag{C.0.9}$$

$$\Gamma_{00}^{i} = \partial^{i} \Phi, \qquad (C.0.10)$$

$$\Gamma^0_{0i} = \partial_i \Phi, \tag{C.0.11}$$

$$\Gamma_{ij}^{0} = -2\Phi\delta_{ij} + h_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}h'_{ij}, \qquad (C.0.12)$$

$$\Gamma^{i}_{0j} = \frac{1}{2} h^{i\prime}_{j}, \tag{C.0.13}$$

$$\Gamma^i_{jk} = \partial_{(j}h^i_{k)} - \frac{1}{2}\partial^i h_{jk}.$$
(C.0.14)

For more information on perturbed FLRW spacetimes, see ref. [57].

# APPENDIX D – Direction drift calculations in perturbed FLRW

We provide here the steps for the calculation of the direction drift in perturbed FLRW. We start from the geodesic path, eq. (7.3.31):

$$x_{s}^{i} - x_{o}^{i} = (\eta_{s} - \eta_{o})n_{o}^{(i)} + \bar{n}_{o}^{(i)} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} \Theta \,\mathrm{d}\eta - \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} (\eta_{s} - \eta)\partial^{j}\Theta \,\mathrm{d}\eta + (\eta_{s} - \eta_{o})\underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \bar{n}_{o}^{(k)} E_{ok}^{j} - \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \bar{n}_{o}^{(k)} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} E_{k}^{j} \,\mathrm{d}\eta - \bar{n}_{o}^{(j)} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} E_{j}^{i} \,\mathrm{d}\eta + \underline{\perp}_{j}^{i} \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} (\eta_{s} - \eta) \bar{n}_{o}^{(k)} \bar{n}_{o}^{(l)} \partial^{j} E_{kl} \,\mathrm{d}\eta, \quad (D.0.1)$$

Let us illustrate by calculating for scalar modes; the calculation for tensor modes follows the same steps. For this case, the second geodesic is given by

$$\begin{aligned} x_s^i - x_o^i = &(\eta_s + \delta\eta_s - \eta_o - \delta\eta_o)(n_o^{(i)} + \delta_{12}n_o^{(i)}) + \bar{n}_o^i \int_{\eta_o + \delta\eta_o}^{\eta_s + \delta\eta_s} \Theta[\eta, x_2^i(\eta)] \mathrm{d}\eta \\ &- \underline{\perp}_j^i \int_{\eta_o + \delta\eta_o}^{\eta_s + \delta\eta_s} (\eta_s + \delta\eta_s - \eta) \partial^j \Theta[\eta, x_2^i(\eta)] \mathrm{d}\eta. \end{aligned} \tag{D.0.2}$$

The first integral in the above can be solved using the result from eq. (7.3.22), which gives

$$\int_{\eta_{o}+\delta\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}+\delta\eta_{s}}\Theta[\eta, x_{2}^{i}(\eta)]\mathrm{d}\eta = \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}\Theta[\eta, x_{1}^{i}(\eta)]\mathrm{d}\eta + \delta\eta_{o}\int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}\Theta'[\eta, x_{1}^{i}]\mathrm{d}\eta.$$
(D.0.3)

For the second integral, after some algebra and also using the result from eq. (7.3.22), we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\eta_{o}+\delta\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}+\delta\eta_{s}}(\eta_{s}+\delta\eta_{s}-\eta)\partial^{j}\Theta[\eta,x_{2}^{i}(\eta)]\mathrm{d}\eta = \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}(\eta_{s}-\eta)\partial^{j}\Theta[\eta,x_{1}^{i}(\eta)]\mathrm{d}\eta \\ &+\delta\eta_{s}\int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}\partial^{j}\Theta[\eta,x_{1}^{i}(\eta)]\mathrm{d}\eta + \delta\eta_{o}\int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}(-1)\partial^{j}\Theta[\eta,x_{1}^{i}(\eta)]\mathrm{d}\eta + \delta\eta_{o}\int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}}(\eta_{s}-\eta)\partial^{j}\Theta'[\eta,x_{1}^{i}(\eta)]\mathrm{d}\eta, \end{split}$$

$$(D.0.4)$$

which, when recalling that at zeroth order  $\delta \eta_s = \delta \eta_o$ , reduces simply to

$$\int_{\eta_{o}+\delta\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}+\delta\eta_{s}} (\eta_{s}+\delta\eta_{s}-\eta)\partial^{j}\Theta[\eta, x_{2}^{i}(\eta)]d\eta = \int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} (\eta_{s}-\eta)\partial^{j}\Theta[\eta, x_{1}^{i}(\eta)]d\eta + \delta\eta_{o}\int_{\eta_{o}}^{\eta_{s}} (\eta_{s}-\eta)\partial^{j}\Theta'[\eta, x_{1}^{i}(\eta)]d\eta,$$
(D.0.5)

Plugging this back in the second geodesic and subtracting the first gives

$$0 = (\eta_s - \eta_o)\delta_{12}n_o^{(i)} + (\delta\eta_s - \delta\eta_o)\bar{n}_o^{(i)} + \delta\eta_o\bar{n}_o^{(i)}\int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s}\Theta'\mathrm{d}\eta + \delta\eta_o\underline{\perp}_j^i\int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s}(\eta_s - \eta)\partial^j\Theta'\mathrm{d}\eta.$$
(D.0.6)

Now, one must find the relationship between  $\eta_s$  and  $\eta_o$  to first order on perturbations. From eq. (B.0.9), and recalling that  $\delta \tau = a(1 + \Phi)\delta \eta$ , we have

$$\frac{(1+\Phi_s)a_s\delta\eta_s}{(1+\Phi_o)a_o\delta\eta_o} = \frac{1}{1+z}.$$
(D.0.7)

Now, using eq. (7.3.14a), expanding to first order gives

$$\frac{\delta\eta_s}{\delta\eta_o} = 1 - \int_{\eta_o}^{\eta_s} \Theta' \mathrm{d}\eta. \tag{D.0.8}$$

Plugging this back into (D.0.6), after some simple algebra, gives the final result

$$\frac{\delta_{12}n_{\rm o}^{(i)}}{\delta\tau_{\rm o}}^{(S)} = -\frac{\underline{\perp}_{j}^{i}}{a_{\rm o}}\int_{\eta_{\rm o}}^{\eta_{s}}\frac{(\eta_{s}-\eta)}{\chi_{so}}\partial^{j}\Theta'\mathrm{d}\eta \tag{D.0.9}$$

where  $\chi_{so} = \eta_o - \eta_s$ . For the tensor modes, the steps to evaluate each term are similar. The only difference is in the relationship between the conformal and proper times, which does not get a tensor contribution to first order in perturbation, giving, in this case, simply

$$\frac{a_s \delta \eta_s}{a_0 \delta \eta_0} = \frac{1}{1+z}.\tag{D.0.10}$$

With this in mind, following the same steps as above will then lead to the result of eq. (7.3.32b).

### Bibliography

- Scrimgeour, M. I. et al. The WiggleZ Dark Energy Survey: the transition to largescale cosmic homogeneity. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, v. 425, p. 116–134, Sep 2012.
- [2] Sarkar, P. et al. The scale of homogeneity of the galaxy distribution in SDSS DR6. Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, v. 399, p. L128–L131, Oct 2009.
- [3] Mukhanov, V. F.; Feldman, H. A.; Brandenberger, R. H. Theory of cosmological perturbations. *Physics Reports*, v. 215, p. 203–333, jun. 1992.
- [4] ADE, P. A. R. et al. Planck 2013 results. XXIII. Isotropy and statistics of the CMB. Astron. Astrophys., v. 571, p. A23, 2014.
- [5] ADE, P. A. R. et al. Planck 2015 results. XVI. Isotropy and statistics of the CMB. Astron. Astrophys., v. 594, p. A16, 2016.
- [6] CALDWELL, R. R.; STEBBINS, A. A Test of the Copernican Principle. Phys. Rev. Lett., v. 100, p. 191302, 2008.
- [7] Zhang, P.; Stebbins, A. Confirmation of the Copernican Principle at Gpc Radial Scale and above from the Kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich Effect Power Spectrum. *Physical Review Letters*, v. 107, n. 4, p. 041301, jul. 2011.
- [8] SAADEH, D. et al. A framework for testing isotropy with the cosmic microwave background. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., v. 462, n. 2, p. 1802–1811, 2016.
- [9] SAADEH, D. et al. How isotropic is the Universe? Phys. Rev. Lett., v. 117, n. 13, p. 131302, 2016.
- [10] KOIVISTO, T.; MOTA, D. F. Dark energy anisotropic stress and large scale structure formation. *Phys. Rev.*, D73, p. 083502, 2006.
- [11] PITROU, C.; PEREIRA, T. S.; UZAN, J.-P. Weak-lensing by the large scale structure in a spatially anisotropic universe: theory and predictions. *Phys. Rev. D*, v. 92, n. 2, p. 023501, 2015.
- [12] PEREIRA, T. S.; PITROU, C.; UZAN, J.-P. Weak-lensing B-modes as a probe of the isotropy of the universe. Astron. Astrophys., v. 585, p. L3, 2016.
- [13] MIMOSO, J. P.; CRAWFORD, P. Shear-free anisotropic cosmological models. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, v. 10, n. 2, p. 315, 1993. Disponível em: <a href="http://stacks.iop.org/0264-9381/10/i=2/a=013">http://stacks.iop.org/0264-9381/10/i=2/a=013</a>.

- [14] PEREIRA, T. S.; CARNEIRO, S.; MARUGAN, G. A. M. Inflationary Perturbations in Anisotropic, Shear-Free Universes. JCAP, v. 1205, p. 040, 2012.
- [15] PEREIRA, T. S.; MARUGÁN, G. A. M.; CARNEIRO, S. Cosmological Signatures of Anisotropic Spatial Curvature. JCAP, v. 1507, p. 029, 2015.
- [16] WEINBERG, S. Cosmology. [S.I.]: Oxford Press University, 2008.
- [17] WALD, R. M. General Relativity. [S.l.]: University of Chicago Press, 1984.
- [18] Plebanski, J.; Krasinski, A. An Introduction to General Relativity and Cosmology.[S.l.]: UK: Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- [19] Ellis, G. F. R.; MacCallum, M. A. H. A class of homogeneous cosmological models. Communications in Mathematical Physics, v. 12, p. 108–141, jun. 1969.
- [20] BARROW, J. D.; JUSZKIEWICZ, R.; SONODA, D. H. Universal rotation How large can it be? Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., v. 213, p. 917–943, 1985.
- [21] BARROW, J. D.; LEVIN, J. J. Geodesics in open universes. *Phys. Lett.*, A233, p. 169, 1997.
- [22] PONTZEN, A.; CHALLINOR, A. Bianchi Model CMB Polarization and its Implications for CMB Anomalies. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., v. 380, p. 1387–1398, 2007.
- [23] PONTZEN, A.; CHALLINOR, A. Linearization of homogeneous, nearly-isotropic cosmological models. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, v. 28, p. 185007, 2011.
- [24] PEREIRA, T. S.; PITROU, C.; UZAN, J.-P. Theory of cosmological perturbations in an anisotropic universe. JCAP, v. 0709, p. 006, 2007.
- [25] GUMRUKCUOGLU, A. E.; CONTALDI, C. R.; PELOSO, M. Inflationary perturbations in anisotropic backgrounds and their imprint on the CMB. *JCAP*, v. 0711, p. 005, 2007.
- [26] QUERCELLINI, C. et al. Real-time Cosmology. Phys. Rept., v. 521, p. 95–134, 2012.
- [27] ALLEN, B.; JACOBSON, T. Vector Two Point Functions in Maximally Symmetric Spaces. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, v. 103, p. 669, 1986.
- [28] POISSON, E.; POUND, A.; VEGA, I. The Motion of point particles in curved spacetime. *Living Rev. Rel.*, v. 14, p. 7, 2011.
- [29] SYNGE, J. L. Relativity: The general theory. Amsterdam: North-Holland Publication Co., 1960. Series in Physics.

- [30] LINDE, A. D. Particle physics and inflationary cosmology. Contemp. Concepts Phys., v. 5, p. 1–362, 1990.
- [31] LIDDLE, A. R.; LYTH, D. H. Cosmological inflation and large scale structure. [S.l.: s.n.], 2000. ISBN 0521575982, 9780521575980, 9780521828499.
- [32] MUKHANOV, V. Physical Foundations of Cosmology. Oxford: Cambridge University Press, 2005. ISBN 0521563984, 9780521563987. Disponível em: <a href="http://www-spires.fnal.gov/spires/find/books/www?cl=QB981.M89::2005">http://www-spires.fnal.gov/spires/find/books/www?cl=QB981.M89::2005</a>.
- [33] UZAN, J.-P. Inflation in the standard cosmological model. *Comptes Rendus Physique*, v. 16, p. 875–890, 2015.
- [34] ABRAMO, L. R.; PEREIRA, T. S. Testing gaussianity, homogeneity and isotropy with the cosmic microwave background. Adv. Astron., v. 2010, p. 378203, 2010.
- [35] BULL, P. et al. Beyond ACDM: Problems, solutions, and the road ahead. *Phys. Dark Univ.*, v. 12, p. 56–99, 2016.
- [36] HAJIAN, A.; SOURADEEP, T. Measuring statistical isotropy of the CMB anisotropy. Astrophys. J., v. 597, p. L5–L8, 2003.
- [37] PULLEN, A. R.; KAMIONKOWSKI, M. Cosmic Microwave Background Statistics for a Direction-Dependent Primordial Power Spectrum. *Phys. Rev.*, D76, p. 103529, 2007.
- [38] CARROLL, S. M.; TSENG, C.-Y.; WISE, M. B. Translational Invariance and the Anisotropy of the Cosmic Microwave Background. *Phys. Rev.*, D81, p. 083501, 2010.
- [39] PEREIRA, T. S.; ABRAMO, L. R. Angular-planar CMB power spectrum. *Phys. Rev.*, D80, p. 063525, 2009.
- [40] ABRAMO, L. R.; BERNUI, A.; PEREIRA, T. S. Searching for planar signatures in WMAP. JCAP, v. 0912, p. 013, 2009.
- [41] FROES, A. L. et al. New geometric representations of the CMB two-point correlation function. *Phys. Rev.*, D92, n. 4, p. 043508, 2015.
- [42] CLARKSON, C.; CLIFTON, T.; FEBRUARY, S. Perturbation Theory in Lemaitre-Tolman-Bondi Cosmology. JCAP, v. 0906, p. 025, 2009.
- [43] ANTONIADIS, I.; MAZUR, P. O.; MOTTOLA, E. Conformal invariance and cosmic background radiation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, v. 79, p. 14–17, 1997.
- [44] ANTONIADIS, I.; MAZUR, P. O.; MOTTOLA, E. Conformal Invariance, Dark Energy, and CMB Non-Gaussianity. JCAP, v. 1209, p. 024, 2012.

- [45] COURANT, R.; HILBERT, D. Methods of Mathematical Physics. [S.l.: s.n.], 1966.
   v. 2.
- [46] CARROLL, S. Spacetime and Geometry : An Introduction to General Relativity. [S.1.]: Pearson, 2004.
- [47] GRøN, O.; HERVIK, S. Einstein's general theory of relativity: with modern applications in cosmology. [S.l.]: New York Springer, 2007.
- [48] WEINBERG, S. Gravitation and Cosmology: Principles and Applications of the General Theory of Relativity. New York, NY: Wiley, 1972. Disponível em: <a href="https://cds.cern.ch/record/100595">https://cds.cern.ch/record/100595</a>>.
- [49] Ellis, G. F. R.; Maartens, R.; MacCallum, M. A. H. *Relativistic Cosmology*. [S.I.: s.n.], 2012.
- [50] STEPHANI, H. et al. Exact solutions of Einstein's field equations. [S.l.]: Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [51] KOWALSKI, O.; VANHECKE, L. Two-point functions on riemannian manifolds. Annals Glob Anal. Geom, v. 3, p. 95–119, 1985.
- [52] HAWKING, S. W. On the Rotation of the universe. Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc., v. 142, p. 129–141, 1969.
- [53] CUSIN, G.; PITROU, C.; UZAN, J.-P. Are we living near the center of a local void? JCAP, v. 1703, n. 03, p. 038, 2017.
- [54] UZAN, J.-P. Dark energy, gravitation and the Copernican principle. 2009.
- [55] MASINA, I.; NOTARI, A. Detecting the Cold Spot as a Void with the Non-Diagonal Two-Point Function. JCAP, v. 1009, p. 028, 2010.
- [56] BARROW, D. H. S. J. D.; JUSZKIEWICZ, R. Structure of the cosmic microwave background. *Nature*, v. 305, p. 397–402, Sept 1983.
- [57] PETER, P.; UZAN, J.-P. Primordial Cosmology. [S.l.]: Oxford University Press, 2005. ISBN 9780199665150.
- [58] ABRAMO, L. R.; REIMBERG, P. H.; XAVIER, H. S. CMB in a box: causal structure and the Fourier-Bessel expansion. *Phys. Rev.*, D82, p. 043510, 2010.
- [59] WATSON, G. N. A Treatise on the Theory of Bessel Functions. [S.I.]: Cambridge University Press, 1995. Cambridge Mathematical Library.

- [60] MEHREM, J. T. L. R.; MACFARLANE., M. H. Analytic expressions for integrals of products of spherical bessel functions. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General*, v. 24, 1991.
- [61] PEREIRA, T.; PITROU, C. Isotropization of the universe during inflation. Comptes Rendus Physique, v. 16, p. 1027–1037, 2015.
- [62] PITROU, C.; PEREIRA, T. S.; UZAN, J.-P. Predictions from an anisotropic inflationary era. JCAP, v. 0804, p. 004, 2008.
- [63] GUMRUKCUOGLU, A. E.; HIMMETOGLU, B.; PELOSO, M. Scalar-Scalar, Scalar-Tensor, and Tensor-Tensor Correlators from Anisotropic Inflation. *Phys. Rev.*, D81, p. 063528, 2010.
- [64] PETTINARI, G. W. The intrinsic bispectrum of the Cosmic Microwave Background. Tese (Doutorado) — Portsmouth U., ICG, 2013–09. Disponível em: <a href="http://inspirehep.net/record/1295471/files/arXiv:1405.2280.pdf">http://inspirehep.net/record/1295471/files/arXiv:1405.2280.pdf</a>>.
- [65] SCHMIDT, F.; HUI, L. Cosmic Microwave Background Power Asymmetry from Non-Gaussian Modulation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, v. 110, p. 011301, 2013. [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett.110,059902(2013)].
- [66] UZAN, J.-P. The big-bang theory: construction, evolution and status. In: [S.l.: s.n.], 2016.
- [67] DUNSBY, P. et al. How close can an Inhomogeneous Universe mimic the Concordance Model? JCAP, v. 1006, p. 017, 2010.
- [68] SANDAGE, A. The change of redshift and apparent luminosity of galaxies due to the deceleration of selected expanding universes. Astrophys. J., v. 136, p. 319, set. 1962.
- [69] MCVITTIE, G. Astrophys. J., v. 136, p. 334, set. 1962.
- [70] LOEB, A. Direct Measurement of Cosmological Parameters from the Cosmic Deceleration of Extragalactic Objects. Astrophys. J., v. 499, p. L111–L114, 1998.
- [71] Liske, J. et al. Cosmic dynamics in the era of Extremely Large Telescopes. Month. Not. R. Astron. Soc., v. 386, p. 1192–1218, maio 2008.
- [72] Ding, F.; Croft, R. A. C. Future dark energy constraints from measurements of quasar parallax: Gaia, SIM and beyond. *Month. Not. R. Astron. Soc.*, v. 397, p. 1739–1747, ago. 2009.
- [73] Rosquist, K. Trigonometric parallaxes of distant objects What they could tell about the universe. Astrophys. J., v. 331, p. 648–652, ago. 1988.

- [74] KASAI, M. The triangulation in a perturbed friedmann universe. Progress of Theoretical Physics, v. 79, n. 4, p. 777–789, 1988.
- [75] UZAN, J.-P.; CLARKSON, C.; ELLIS, G. F. R. Time drift of cosmological redshifts as a test of the Copernican principle. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, v. 100, p. 191303, 2008.
- [76] Yoo, C.-M.; Kai, T.; Nakao, K.-I. Redshift drift in Lemaître-Tolman-Bondi void universes. *Phys. Rev. D*, v. 83, n. 4, p. 043527, fev. 2011.
- [77] Quartin, M.; Amendola, L. Distinguishing between void models and dark energy with cosmic parallax and redshift drift. *Phys. Rev. D*, v. 81, n. 4, p. 043522, fev. 2010.
- [78] Quercellini, C. et al. Cosmic parallax as a probe of late time anisotropic expansion. *Phys. Rev. D*, v. 80, n. 6, p. 063527, set. 2009.
- [79] Fontanini, M.; West, E. J.; Trodden, M. Can cosmic parallax distinguish between anisotropic cosmologies? *Phys. Rev. D*, v. 80, n. 12, p. 123515, dez. 2009.
- [80] BEL, J.; MARINONI, C. Proposal for a Real-Time Detection of our Acceleration through Space. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, v. 121, n. 2, p. 021101, 2018.
- [81] LOW, R. Celestial spheres, light cones, and cuts. Journal of mathematical physics, AIP, v. 34, n. 1, p. 315–319, 1993.
- [82] PERLICK, V. On redshift and parallaxes in general relativistic kinematical world models. *Journal of mathematical physics*, AIP, v. 31, n. 8, p. 1962–1971, 1990.
- [83] HASSE, W.; PERLICK, V. Geometrical and kinematical characterization of parallaxfree world models. *Journal of mathematical physics*, AIP, v. 29, n. 9, p. 2064–2068, 1988.
- [84] RASANEN, S. A covariant treatment of cosmic parallax. JCAP, v. 1403, p. 035, 2014.
- [85] KORZYńSKI, M.; KOPIńSKI, J. Optical drift effects in general relativity. JCAP, v. 1803, p. 012, 2018.
- [86] Jordi, C. et al. The design and performance of the Gaia photometric system. Month. Not. R. Astron. Soc., v. 367, p. 290–314, mar. 2006.
- [87] Luri, X. et al. Gaia Data Release 2: using Gaia parallaxes. abr. 2018.
- [88] PASQUINI, L. et al. Codex: Measuring the expansion of the universe (and beyond). *The Messenger*, v. 122, n. 10, 2005.
- [89] UZAN, J.-P.; BERNARDEAU, F.; MELLIER, Y. Time drift of cosmological redshifts and its variance. *Phys. Rev.*, D77, p. 021301, 2008.

- [90] FLEURY, P.; PITROU, C.; UZAN, J.-P. Light propagation in a homogeneous and anisotropic universe. *Phys. Rev. D*, v. 91, n. 4, p. 043511, 2015.
- [91] APPLEBY, S. A.; LINDER, E. V. Probing dark energy anisotropy. *Phys. Rev.*, D87, n. 2, p. 023532, 2013.
- [92] BENGALY, C. A. P.; BERNUI, A.; ALCANIZ, J. S. Probing Cosmological Isotropy With Type IA Supernovae. Astrophys. J., v. 808, p. 39, 2015.
- [93] BOLT, M. Parallax: The Race to Measure the Cosmos. [S.1.]: Isis, 2002. v. 93. 671-672 p.
- [94] Perryman, M. The history of astrometry. European Physical Journal H, v. 37, p. 745–792, Oct 2012.
- [95] ESA. A history of astrometry parts I, II and III. http://sci.esa.int/gaia/. Accessed: feb. 19, 2019.
- [96] Gaia Collaboration et al. The Gaia mission. Astronomy and Astrophysics, v. 595, p. A1, Nov 2016.
- [97] QUERCELLINI, C.; QUARTIN, M.; AMENDOLA, L. Possibility of Detecting Anisotropic Expansion of the Universe by Very Accurate Astrometry Measurements. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, v. 102, p. 151302, 2009.
- [98] AMENDOLA, L. et al. How real-time cosmology can distinguish between different anisotropic models. JCAP, v. 1312, p. 042, 2013.
- [99] QUERCELLINI, C.; AMENDOLA, L.; BALBI, A. Mapping the galactic gravitational potential with peculiar acceleration. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.*, v. 391, p. 1308–1314, 2008.
- [100] AMENDOLA, L.; BALBI, A.; QUERCELLINI, C. Peculiar acceleration. Phys. Lett., B660, p. 81–86, 2008.
- [101] LANGE, S.; PAGE, L. Measuring the Expansion of the Universe Through Changes in the CMB Photosphere. Astrophys. J., v. 671, p. 1075, 2007.
- [102] ZIBIN, J. P.; MOSS, A.; SCOTT, D. The Evolution of the Cosmic Microwave Background. *Phys. Rev.*, D76, p. 123010, 2007.
- [103] DERUELLE, N.; UZAN, J.-P. Théories de la relativité. [S.l.]: Belin, 2014. ISBN 2701158486.
- [104] Thorne, K. S. Multipole expansions of gravitational radiation. Reviews of Modern Physics, v. 52, p. 299–340, abr. 1980.

- [105] DURRER, R. The Cosmic Microwave Background. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2008. ISBN 9780511817205.
- [106] GOLDBERG, J. N. et al. Spin s spherical harmonics and edth. J. Math. Phys., v. 8, p. 2155, 1967.
- [107] ADE, P. A. R. et al. Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters. Astron. Astrophys., v. 594, p. A13, 2016.
- [108] TULLY, R. B. et al. Our Peculiar Motion Away from the Local Void. Astrophys. J., v. 676, p. 184–205, 2008.
- [109] CORBELLI, E. et al. A wide-field HI mosaic of Messier 31. II. The disk warp, rotation and the dark matter halo. Astron. Astrophys., v. 511, p. A89, 2010.
- [110] Robin, A. C. et al. Gaia Universe model snapshot. A statistical analysis of the expected contents of the Gaia catalogue. Astronomy & Astrophysics, v. 543, p. A100, jul. 2012.
- [111] Estabrook, F. B.; Wahlquist, H. D. Response of Doppler spacecraft tracking to gravitational radiation. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, v. 6, p. 439–447, out. 1975.
- [112] Kaufmann, W. J. Redshift fluctuations arising from gravitational waves. Nature, v. 11, p. 157–8, jul. 1970.
- [113] BOOK, L. G.; FLANAGAN, E. E. Astrometric Effects of a Stochastic Gravitational Wave Background. *Phys. Rev.*, D83, p. 024024, 2011.
- [114] PYNE, T. et al. Gravitational radiation and very long baseline interferometry. Astrophys. J., v. 465, p. 566–577, 1996.
- [115] GWINN, C. R. et al. Quasar proper motions and low frequency gravitational waves. Astrophys. J., v. 485, p. 87–91, 1997.
- [116] MOORE, C. J. et al. Astrometric Search Method for Individually Resolvable Gravitational Wave Sources with Gaia. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, v. 119, n. 26, p. 261102, 2017.
- [117] KING, D. H. Gravity-wave insights to bianchi type-ix universes. *Physical review D: Particles and fields*, v. 44, p. 2356–2368, 11 1991.